ผลของลิโพพอลิแซ็กคาไรค์ต่อการเพิ่มจำนวนและการแปรสภาพไปเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูกของ เซลล์ต้นกำเนิดจากปุ่มเนื้อปลายรากฟันที่มีปริมาณการแสดงออกของซีดี 24 ที่แตกต่างกัน



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรคุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีววิทยาช่องปาก คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2559 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

## EFFECT OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE ON PROLIFERATION AND OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA WITH DIFFERENT AMOUNT OF CD24 EXPRESSING CELLS

Mr. Panuroot Aguilar

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Oral Biology Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2016 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	EFFECT OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE ON PROLIFERATION AND OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA WITH DIFFERENT AMOUNT OF CD24 EXPRESSING CELLS
Ву	Mr. Panuroot Aguilar
Field of Study	Oral Biology
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Veera Lertchirakarn, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctoral Degree

\_\_\_\_\_Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry (Assistant Professor Suchit Poolthong, Ph.D.)

### THESIS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE	
C	Chairman
(Associate Professor Thanaphum Osathano	oon, Ph.D.)
T	hesis Advisor
(Associate Professor Veera Lertchirakarn,	Ph.D.)
E	xaminer
(Assistant Professor Chalida Limjeerajarus	s, Ph.D.)
E	xaminer
(Assistant Professor Chootima Ratisoontor	rn, Ph.D.)
E	External Examiner
(Phumisak Lowakul, Ph.D.)	

ภาณุรุจ อากิลาร์ : ผลของลิโพพอลิแซ็กกาไรด์ต่อการเพิ่มจำนวนและการแปรสภาพไปเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูก ของเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดจากปุ่มเนื้อปลายรากฟันที่มีปริมาณการแสดงออกของซีดี 24 ที่แตกต่างกัน (EFFECT OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE ON PROLIFERATION AND OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA WITH DIFFERENT AMOUNT OF CD24 EXPRESSING CELLS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: รศ. ทพ. ดร.วีระ เลิศจิราการ, 159 หน้า.

้มีความเชื่อว่าเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดป่มเนื้อปลายรากฟันเป็นเซลล์หลักที่ทำหน้าที่ในการรักษาด้วยวิธีการคืนสภาพ ทางวิทยาเอ็น โคคอนต์ อย่างไรก็ตามพบว่าเนื้อเยื่อแข็งที่สร้างใหม่ในการรักษาดังกล่าวมีลักษณะคล้ายกระดูกหรือเคลือบ ้รากพื้น ดังนั้นจึงเป็นไปได้ว่าการติดเชื้อภายในกลองรากพื้นอาจมีผลต่อการเปลี่ยนสภาพของเซลล์ดังกล่าวไปเป็นเซลล์ที ้สร้างเนื้อเยื่อคล้ายกระดูกหรือเคลือบรากฟันแทน ลิโพพอลิแซ็กคาไรด์เป็นสารที่ออกมาจากจุลชีพภายในคลองรากฟันที่ ้ติดเชื้อและสามารถแพร่ออกมาสู่เนื้อเยื่อรอบปลายรากได้ ดังนั้นลิโพพอลิแซ็กคาไรด์อาจมีผลในการปลี่ยนสภาพของเซลล์ ้ดังกล่าว อนึ่ง ซีดี24 ซึ่งพบการแสดงออกบนเซลล์ดังกล่าวอาจมีความเกี่ยวข้องกับการกวบกมพฤติกรรมในทางชีววิทยา ้งองเซลล์ต้นกำเนิด เช่น การเพิ่มจำนวนเซลล์ การจำลองตนเอง และการเปลี่ยนสภาพ เนื่องจากปริมาณร้อยละของซีดี24ที่ ้แสดงออกมีช่วงห่างระหว่างการศึกษามาก ดังนั้น ซีดี24ก็อาจมีบทบาทในวิธีการคืนสภาพทางวิทยาเอ็น โดดอนต์ด้วยได้ ้นอกเหนือไปจากลิโพพอลิแซ็กคาไรค์ การศึกษานี้ได้ยืนยันความแปรผันของจำนวนร้อยละของซีดี 24 ในเซลล์ต้นกำเนิด ปุ่มปลายรากฟัน โดยได้แบ่งกลุ่มเซลล์ที่คัดแยกได้จากตัวอย่างออกเป็นกลุ่มที่มีการแสดงออกซีดี24สูงและต่ำ พบว่าทั้ง กลุ่มที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดี24สูงและต่ำนั้นมีการแสดงออกของตัวบ่งชี้ความเป็นเซลล์ต้นกำเนิคมีเซนไคม์และ ้ความสามารถในการเพิ่มจำนวนไม่แตกต่างกัน แต่กลุ่มที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดี24สูงมีคุณสมบัติการเปลี่ยนสภาพของ เซลล์ได้ดีกว่า ในทางตรงข้ามกลุ่มที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดี24ต่ำ กลับมีกุณสมบัติในการจำลองตนเองดีกว่า นอกจากนี้ยัง พบว่าระดับการพัฒนาของรากฟื้นในช่วงต้นนั้นเซลล์มีการแสดงออกร้อยละของซีดี24สูงกว่าเซลล์ที่ได้มาจากตัวอย่างที่มี การพัฒนารากในช่วงปลาย คุณสมบัติของเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดในการเพิ่มจำนวนเซลล์และการเปลี่ยนสภาพไปเป็นเซลล์สร้าง เนื้อเยื่อแข็งมีความสำคัญในกระบวนการคืนสภาพทางวิทยาเอ็น โคคอนต์ ซึ่งเซลล์เหล่านี้ภายหลังการเผยลิโพพอลิแซ็กคา ใรค์ความเข้มข้น 0.001 ถึง 5 ไมโครกรัม/มิลลิลิตร พบว่าไม่มีการเปลี่ยนแปลงต่อการเพิ่มจำนวนเซลล์ทั้งในกล่มที่มีการ ้แสดงออกของซีดี24สูงและต่ำ แต่มีผลในการตกตะกอนของเนื้อเยื่อแขึงของกลุ่มที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดี24สูง โดยลิโพ พอลิแซ็กคาไรด์ 1 และ 5 ไมโครกรัม/มิลลิลิตร มีการตกตะกอนได้มากกว่ากลุ่มควบคุม นอกจากนี้ในกลุ่มของเซลล์ที่มี การแสดงออกของซีดี24สูงมีการแสดงออกของขึ้นโบนไซอะโลโปรตีนที่พบมากในกระดูกและเคลือบรากพื้น มีการ ้แสดงออกมากกว่าอย่างมีนัยสำคัญที่ความเข้มข้น 1 และ 5 ไมโครกรัม/มิลลิลิตร เมื่อเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุม ในขณะเดียวกัน ้ลิโพพอลิแซ็กกาไรค์ไม่มีผลต่อการตกตะกอนของกล่มที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดี24ต่ำเมื่อเทียบกับกล่มควบคม แต่พบว่าลิ ้โพพอลิแซ็กกาไรค์ความเข้มข้น 5 ไมโกรกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สามารถเพิ่มการแสดงออกของยืนโบนไซอะโลโปรตีนได้ ้มากกว่ากลุ่มควบคม การแสดงออกของเดนทีนไซอะ โลฟอสโฟโปรตีนซึ่งเป็นตัวบ่งชี้สำหรับเนื้อฟันหรือเซลล์สร้างเนื้อ ้ ฟันนั้นไม่มีความแตกต่างกันระหว่างกลุ่มควบคุมและกลุ่มที่เผยต่อลิโพพอลิแซ็กกาไรด์ทั้งเซลล์ที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดี ้24สูงและต่ำ ดังนั้นการศึกษานี้จึงใช้อธิบายผลการศึกษาทั้งในสัตว์ทดลองและผู้ป่วยจริงที่พบว่าการสร้างเนื้อเยื่อใหม่ด้วย ้วิธีการคืนสภาพทางวิทยาเอ็น โคคอนต์ได้เนื้อเยื่อแข็งที่มีลักษณะคล้ายกระดกหรือเคลือบรากพื้น

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต		 	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่บ	โร๊กษาหลัก	 	

สาขาวิชา ชีววิทยาช่องปาก ปีการศึกษา 2559

#### # # 5476054232 : MAJOR ORAL BIOLOGY

KEYWORDS: SCAPS / CD24 / LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE / CELL PROLIFERATION / OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION

PANUROOT AGUILAR: EFFECT OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE ON PROLIFERATION AND OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA WITH DIFFERENT AMOUNT OF CD24 EXPRESSING CELLS. ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. VEERA LERTCHIRAKARN, Ph.D., 159 pp.

Stem cells from apical papilla (SCAPs) were believed the source of regenerative endodontic procedure (REP) that is performed in infected immature tooth. However, the new hard tissues were reported to be bone or cementum-like structure. It was possible that root canal infection might alter SCAPs to generate bone or cementum-like structure rather than dentin. This might due to the effects of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in infected root canal. In addition, the percentages of CD24 expressing SCAPs varied among the studies. CD24 involved many cellular activities such as cell proliferation, differentiation and self-renewal of stem cells. Therefore, CD24 might affect to REP, as well. In this thesis, the variation of CD24 expression was confirmed. To facilitate the investigation of amount of CD24, SCAPs were classified into two groups, High and Low-CD24. The mesenchymal stem cell markers and cell proliferation were not different between two groups. However, High-CD24 demonstrated lower self-renewal than Low-CD24 but higher multi-differentiation capacity than Low-CD24. High-CD24 associated with early root formation while Low-CD24 related to later stage of root formation. After exposure with 0.001-5µg/ml of LPS, cell proliferation and migration of all experimental groups were not different from their control groups of both High and Low-CD24. However, High-CD24 significantly increased mineralization activity when exposed to 1 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of LPS. Moreover, bone sialopreotein (BSP) gene expression that extensively expressed in bone and cementum, significantly increased when exposed to 1 and 5 µg/ml of LPS. Low-CD24 did not alter mineralization activity when compared with non-exposure LPS group. However, the BSP gene expression increased only when compared with 5 µg/ml exposure. Dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP) gene expression was not different between LPS pre-exposure and control group of both High and Low-CD24. The results from this study may explain why the bone or cementum-like structure was formed by SCAPs after performing REP.

Field of Study: Oral Biology Academic Year: 2016

Student's Signature	
Advisor's Signature	

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to express my sincerely thankful and appreciation to my advisor, Associate Professor Dr. Veera Lertchirakarn, for his guidance, suggestion, support and kindness throughout the course of Doctoral Program in Oral biology program. I also extremely indebted to my committee members; Associate Professor Dr. Thanaphum Osathanon; Assistance Professor Dr. Chalida Limjeerusjarus, Assistance Professor Dr. Chootima Ratisoontorn and Dr. Phumisak Laowakul for their suggestions and kindness to being the committee members.

My sincere appreciation is express to Mr.Noppadol Sa-Ard-Iam for his laboratory support and his guidance and Miss Pimprapa Rerkyen for her technical support. I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Dr. Rangsini Mahanonda for her generosity to use Immunology Laboratory for my experiments.

This study was supported by the Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund of Chulalongkorn University (RES560530197-HR).

I would like to express my thankful to my friends of Oral biology program for their kindness and supports during the program.

To my family, I would like to thanks for their loves and support me during in the program.

### CONTENTS

Page
THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
CONTENTSvii
LIST OF TABLESi
LIST OF FIGURESii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSiii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER 2 REVIEW LITERATURE
2.1 Root dentinogenesis
2.2 The treatment of necrotic immature teeth
2.3 The histologic outcome of REP14
2.4 Role of lipopolysaccharide to apical periodontitis
2.5 SCAPs markers for mesenchymal stem cell
2.6 CD24 as a marker to SCAPs
2.7 Gap in knowledge and research question
2.8 Objectives of the study
CHAPTER 3 COMPARISON OF STEM CELL BEHAVIORS BETWEEN INDIGENOUS HIGH AND LOW-CD24 PERCENTAGE EXPRESSING CELLS OF STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Materials and methods
3.4. Results
3.5 Discussion
CHAPTER 4 THE EFFECTS OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE ON STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA PROLIFERATION, MIGRATION AND OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION WITH DIFFERENT INDEGENOUS CD24 EXPRESSING CELLS

## Page

4.1 Abstract	65
4.2 Introduction	67
4.3 Materials and Methods	69
4.4 Results	73
4.5 Discussion	
CHAPTER 5 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
5.1 General discussion	
5.2 Conclusion	94
5.3 Further study suggestion	95
REFERENCES	96
APPENDIX	139
RAW DATA OF THE STUDY	140
VITA	159



## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Effect of LPS on mesenchymal stem cell proliferation.	21
Table 2.2 Effect of LPS on mesenchymal stem cell osteogenic differentiation.	24
Table 3.1 Primer sequences for real-time PCR.	45
Table 4.1 Primer sequences for real-time PCR.	72



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Percentage variation of CD24 expressing cells at passage 249
Figure 3.2 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells and Survivin expression between         High-CD24 and Low-CD24
Figure 3.3 Surface mesenchymal stem cell markers between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 of SCAPs at passage 2
Figure 3.4 Comparison of self-renewal and cell proliferation between High-CD24         and Low-CD24 of SCAPs         53
Figure 3.5 Multi-differentiation capacity between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs
Figure 3.6 Stage of root development and percentage of CD24 expressing cells. 58
Figure 4.1 Cell viability during LPS exposure of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs73
Figure 4.2 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells after LPS exposure
Figure 4.3 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs
Figure 4.4 Cell migration after LPS exposure of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs79
Figure 4.5 Effects of LPS pre-exposure to mineralization of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs
Figure 4.6 Effects of LPS pre-exposure to osteogenic gene markers of High and Low- CD24 SCAPs

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALP	alkaline phosphatase
Alpha-MEM	alpha minimum essential medium
AP	apical papilla
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
BMSCs	bone marrow stem cells
BSP	bone sialoprotein
CAP	cementum attachment protein
CD	cluster of differentiation
CFU	colony forming unit
CO <sub>2</sub>	carbon dioxide
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor 4
DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzinidine
DFSCs	dental follicle stem cells
DMP1	CHULALONGKORN UN dentin matrix protein 1
DPP	dentin phosphoprotein
DSP	dentin sialoprotein
DSPP	dentin sialophosphoprotein
E.coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
ESCs	embryonic stem cells
FA	fluocinolone acetonide
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase

GLA-protein	gamma-carboxyglutamic protein
GPI	glycosylphosphatidylinositol
HERS	Hertwig's epithelial root sheath
HLA-DR	human leukocyte antigen D related
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
IBMX	isobutylmethylxanthine
IgG	immunoglobulin
IL	interleukin
LAL	limulus ameobocyte lysate
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MTA	mineral trioxide aggregate
MSCs	mesenchymal stem cells
NANOG	nanog homeobox
NFIC	nuclear factor I C
OCN	osteocalcin
OCT4	octamer-binding transcription factor 4
OPN	osteopontin
p38	protein 38
PBS	phosphate buffer saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PDLSCs	periodontal ligament stem cells
PG	Porphyromonas gingivalis

RNA	ribonucleic acid
REP	regenerative endodontic procedure
RUNX2	runt-related transcription factor 2
SCAPs	stem cells from apical papilla
SDF-1	stromal cell-derived factor 1
SHEDs	shedding human exfoliated deciduous
	teeth
SOX2	sex determine region Y-box 2
TGF-β	transforming growth factor $\beta$
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor α
Wnt	wingless-type MMTV integration site

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Regenerative endodontic procedure or REP is the biological based procedure that can re-establish the continuing tooth development both increasing root dentin wall thickness and root length of necrotic immature tooth (Hargreaves *et al.*, 2013; Murray *et al.*, 2007). Stem cells from apical papilla or SCAPs were believed as a source of stem cells for this treatment (Ding *et al.*, 2009; Huang *et al.*, 2008; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). After homing SCAPs into the root canal spaces, cells must proliferate into proper numbers before undergoing to differentiation (Smith *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, dentin is expected to re-establish and continue the root development process until reaching its full length. However, human teeth (Lei *et al.*, 2015; Shimizu *et al.*, 2013) and animal studies (Thibodeau *et al.*, 2007; Yamauchi *et al.*, 2011) demonstrated bone or cementum-liked tissue in the root canal space instead of dentin. Although these structures occurred, the clinical outcome was claimed as a successful treatment if periapical periodontitis had been resolved (Bose *et al.*, 2009; Jeeruphan *et al.*, 2012; Kahler *et al.*, 2014; Nagata *et al.*, 2014).

The occurrence of these regenerative structures was suggested as the results of the stem cells recruitment from the other sources of stem cells such as dental follicle, periodontal ligament and osteoblasts into the root canal (Huang and Garcia-Godoy, 2014). The other possibility is SCAPs may alter their phenotype from dentin to bone or cementum after challenging with the infection. The recently animal studies demonstrated viability of SCAPs after experimental pulpal space infection (Tobias Duarte *et al.*, 2014; Yoo *et al.*, 2016). Interestingly, these cells enhanced mineralization

capacity and cell proliferation when compared to unaffected teeth (Yoo *et al.*, 2016). The *DSPP*, the dentin specific marker, was increased but the other gene or protein expressions that specific to cementum or bone were not investigated. Thus, the consequence of long-term root canal infection on SCAPs's differentiation phenotype is still unknown.

Gram-negative bacteria species were the most common microorganisms in necrotic pulp (Siqueira *et al.*, 2002). The continuous influx of the cell wall component of this bacteria, lipopolysaccharide or LPS, can cause the apical periodontitis. LPS has been demonstrated its effects on biological responses of SCAPs by releasing various cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  (Zhang *et al.*, 2013). The alteration of mineralization due to LPS exposure in other dental stem cells such as dental pulp, periodontal ligament and dental follicle were reported (Kato *et al.*, 2014; Morsczeck *et al.*, 2012; Yamagishi *et al.*, 2011). In addition, some of these studies also showed the effect of LPS to cell proliferation (He *et al.*, 2015; Kato *et al.*, 2014). However, the effects of LPS to SCAPs proliferation and osteogenic differentiation have never been investigated.

Cluster of differentiation 24 or CD24 was demonstrated to express in SCAPs while stem cells from other origin such as dental pulp stem cells did not express (Osathanon *et al.*, 2014; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, CD24 was suggested to use as a specific marker for SCAPs more than a decade (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). CD24 involves in many cellular activities such as cell migration/invasion, cell apoptosis, cell proliferation and differentiation (Baumann *et al.*, 2005; Fang *et al.*, 2010; Kim *et al.*, 2008). The function of CD24 in SCAPs is still unclear. It might involve in the

osteogenic differentiation process (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). However, CD24 has been demonstrated lower number of positive cell and shown the wide range percentage of positive cells among the studies (3% - 20%). In contrast, the other surface mesenchymal stem cell markers such as CD90, CD44, CD105 and CD73 extensively expressed constantly between 60%-99% of positive cells (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Schneider *et al.*, 2014; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Recent studies suggested that CD24 might indicate the committed progenitor cells or advance stage of differentiation (Chang *et al.*, 2015; Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, the different amount of CD24 expressing cells may influence to SCAPs behavior especially, cell differentiation, self-renewal and proliferation. Moreover, the cause of different percentages of CD24 expressing cells among the studies is still unknown.

Both CD24 and LPS may have the interaction effects on SCAPs behaviors especially, cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation that are crucial for REP. Thus, the objective of this study was to investigate the effects of LPS and amount of indigenous CD24 expressing SCAPs on SCAPs proliferation and osteogenic differentiation. This knowledge might explain the repairing or results of REP.

# CHAPTER 2 REVIEW LITERATURE

#### 2.1 Root dentinogenesis

Root dentin formation begins when inner and outer epithelial cells fuse together (Bosshardt *et al.*, 2015; Sakano *et al.*, 2013). This double layer of epithelium structure calls Hertwig's epithelial root sheath (HERS). Generally, the root dentin formation uses the same interaction between epithelial cells and mesenchymal cells underneath HERS (Huang and Chai, 2012; Thesleff, 2003; Tummers and Thesleff, 2009). HERS releases growth factors to mesenchymal cells. Then, the signals between HERS and mesenchymal cells are reciprocately released (Huang and Chai, 2012). The growth factors and their receptors strictly function in concentration and time dependent (Thesleff, 2003) otherwise malformation of root will be occurred (Luder, 2015; Wright, 2007). HERS will detach after odontoblasts differentiate. Some dental follicles cells are recruited to outer root dentin and differentiate to be cementoblasts to generate cementum and periodontal ligament cell (Nanci, 2008).

#### 2.1.1 Odontoblast differentiation and markers

Mesenchymal cells, underlying the inner enamel epithelium and HERS, develop to be odontoblasts and dental pulp cells. These mature odontoblasts response to generate dentin (Thomas, 1995). Recent studies showed the mesenchymal cells that became to odontoblasts were heterogeneous origins which derived from different cell sources (Kaukua *et al.*, 2014; Ono *et al.*, 2016). Regardless to their origins, odontoblast differentiation process is the same. The odontoblast progenitors will reorganize the intracellular organelles and nucleus for extracellular matrix secretion after receiving the proper signals between HERS and mesenchymal cells interaction. The cell morphology also changes into cuboidal shape (Lesot, 2000; Ruch *et al.*, 1995). The most abandon dentin matrix is collagen type I which serves as the template for dentin mineralization. Then, the other dentin matrix proteins such as phosphoproteins, glycoproteins and other type of collagens are synthesized for regulation of proper root dentin mineralization (Boskey *et al.*, 2000; Butler *et al.*, 2002; Kawashima and Okiji, 2016).

Dentin shows unique structure that the tubular calcified structure covers only the process of odontoblast while bone and cementum contains the whole cell's body inside calcified matrix (Nanci, 2008). Even though the extracellular matrixes from calcified tissues are the same among dentin, bone and cementum, the level or amount of expression and matrix orientation are different (Butler *et al.*, 2003). Extracellular matrix proteins are different between dentin and bone or cementum. Dentin phosprotein (DSP) and dentin phosphorin (DPP) widely express in dentin more than in bone or cementum (Baba *et al.*, 2004; Qin *et al.*, 2003). Thus, they are used as the dentin specific markers for several decades. These two proteins are translated from dentin sialophosphoprotein or *DSPP* gene (Prasad *et al.*, 2010). To identify odontoblast differentiation, the *DSPP* gene expression is also used as the dentin specific marker. However, DSPP gene expression was demonstrated in bone, as well, but it presented only one in 400 folds of dentin (Qin *et al.*, 2002).

DSP and DPP are the members of phosphorylated protein. They are negative charge molecules because there are numerous phosphate groups in their molecules. The role of DSP and DPP are believed to involve in regulation of the volume of dentin mineralization (Suzuki *et al.*, 2009). Dentin matrix protein1 or DMP1, another phosphoprotein, also is proposed as a specific marker for dentin (Ching *et al.*, 2017). However, DMP1 is also highly expressed in bone and cementum. *DMP1* is required for *DSPP* expression, then the *DMP1* expression decreases in mature odontoblast (Balic and Mina, 2011; Hao *et al.*, 2004). Thus, DMP1 may not strong enough to be a specific marker for dentin like DSP/DPP or *DSPP*. The other non-collagenous dentin matrix proteins, such as osteocalcin (OCN), osteopontin (OPN) and bone sialoprotein (BSP) also were investigated both *in vivo* and *in vitro* to determine along the odontoblastic differentiation. (Boskey *et al.*, 2000; Butler *et al.*, 2003; Ruch *et al.*, 1995). However, OPN and BSP, which are phosphoprotein like DSP and DPP, also express in bone. Both OPN and BSP highly express in bone and cementum than dentin (Bosshardt *et al.*, 1998; Foster, 2012)

Interestingly, tertiary dentin, the pathologic response of dentin, expressed both OPN and BSP higher than primary dentin while DSP was lower when compared to the adjacent unaffected (Aguiar and Arana-Chavez, 2007; Xie *et al.*, 2014; Yuan *et al.*, 2012). The role of OPN is to regulate the size of hydroxyapatite by attaching to the apatite crystal and inhibiting phosphate ion to form hydroxyapatite (Huang *et al.*, 2004; Rittling *et al.*, 1998). The function of BSP is believed to be the nucleator for mineralization (Harris *et al.*, 2000; Qin *et al.*, 2004; Sinha and Zhou, 2013). The other dentin matrix protein which is frequently used as marker is osteocalcin (OCN). OCN is one of the gamma-carboxyglutamic-containing protein or GLA-protein unlike to most non-collagenous proteins which is phosphoprotein. In osteoblast differentiation, OCN expresses in the late stage of differentiation and mineralization (Lian and Stein, 1995). The function of OCN may relate to bone remodeling and regulation of the

mineralization process. The function of OCN in odontoblast is still unknown although it expresses in dentin matrix (Gorter de Vries *et al.*, 1987). OCN expression can be detected only in the early stage of odontoblast differentiation, the polarizing stage in dentin (Gorter de Vries *et al.*, 1987). This detection suggests the role of OCN may involve in the early phase of odontoblast differentiation that is different from osteoblasts. The other protein that is widely used for odontogenic/osteogenic differentiation is alkaline phosphatase or ALP, the cell surface enzyme. The function of ALP in calcified tissue is breaking the pyrophosphate into free phosphate group that can bind to calcium ion.

#### 2.1.2 Root dentin formation

Root dentin formation is the reciprocation signaling between epithelial cells and mesenchymes as the same principle of crown dentin. However, there are some details are different between root and crown dentin formation. The nuclear factor I-C (NFIC) demonstrated as the first essential protein for root dentin formation (Steele-Perkins *et al.*, 2003). NFIC knockout mice showed rootless phenotype, whereas, this deletion did not affect to crown dentin structure (Steele-Perkins *et al.*, 2003). The later studies revealed that NFIC of peripheral mesencymes, that was adjacent to HERS, was induced by HERS to regulate odontoblast differentiation (Huang *et al.*, 2010; Liu *et al.*, 2015b). However, *NFIC* gene and protein expression locate only at odontoblast layer and fully developed dental pulp cells while the apical papilla did not express NFIC (Gao *et al.*, 2014). NFIC regulates *osterix*, *DSPP* and DMP1 in the differentiation process during root formation (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Interestingly, osterix knockout mice demonstrated rootless phenotype like NFIC knockout mice that crown dentin was unaffected (Kim *et* 

al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015). The target gene of osterix, DSPP and DMP1, were decreased and root odontoblasts were impaired to differentiation (Zhang et al., 2015). Osterix expressing cells could be observed throughout the apical papilla tissue (Ono et al., 2016). These osterix expressing cells could differentiate to root odontoblasts and generated root dentin (Ono et al., 2016). This evidences suggested that were not only mesenchymes which adjacent to HERS gave rise to odontoblast differentiation but also the inner mesechymes. Hence, osterix expressing cells in apical papilla may suitable for indication of odontoblast progenitor cells. The mechanism of osterix expression in these osterix expressing cells is unclear. TGF- $\beta$  signaling played as significant role for osterix expressing cells in apical papilla (Wang et al., 2013b). TGF- $\beta$  receptor 2 or Tgfbr2 knockout mice that under controlled with osterix gene expression (Tgfbr2<sup>CKO</sup>; Cre-Osterix) showed the rootless phenotype while tooth crown development was unaffected. Moreover, these knockout mice showed decreasing DSPP gene expression but NFIC expression did not change in developing root (Wang et al., 2013b). The other osterix deletion by using OCN or collagen type I promoter also showed the similar results that was shorten root without any effects to a crown dentin (Kim et al., 2015). The osterix expressing cells may be the suitable candidate for odontoblast progenitor cells. However, the further study is needed to elucidate the role and association between TGF- $\beta$  or other signal pathways to regulate odontoblast progenitors for root dentin formation.

The root formation should be accomplished with normal development process. In some situations, the root formation is disturbed by root canal infection. Root canal infection which frequently occur by dental caries, trauma or crown development defect can arrest root formation process. The REP becomes the treatment of choice for these cases.

The knowledge of tooth development process is important for dental tissue regeneration. The newly regenerated tissue should be imitated or adapted from natural process of root development, especially dentin.



**Chulalongkorn University** 

#### 2.2 The treatment of necrotic immature teeth

The objectives of necrotic immature tooth treatment are the same as fully root development cases which are prevention and/or treatment of apical periodontitis (Orstavik and Pitt Ford, 2007). Due to a wide apical foramen and the short root with thin dentinal wall, the root canal procedures, especially mechanical instrumentation and obturation, are difficult to control within ideal treatment. Moreover, thin dentin root canal wall is easy to crack or fracture. The treatment procedure that provides the apical barrier and increases dentin wall thickness is the ideal treatment for this case.

#### 2.2.1 Apexification

Apexification is an endodontic treatment procedure that can induce apical hard tissue barrier formation to limit the level of root canal filling material and contribute to the quality of root canal obturation. This apical hard tissue barrier can be established by long-term root canal medication with calcium hydroxide (Frank, 1966). The irritation of high pH from calcium hydroxide is believed to be the key mechanism to induce hard tissue formation (Javelet *et al.*, 1985). Apexification can preserve the tooth and give a favorable outcome. (Cvek, 1992; Kerekes *et al.*, 1980; Mackie *et al.*, 1988). However, the main disadvantage of this treatment is a thin root dentin wall that is prone to a root fracture (Cvek, 1992; Hecova *et al.*, 2010). Multiple appointments for replacement of medication every 3 or 6 months until hard tissue barrier existing were also claimed as the disadvantage (Caliskan and Sen, 1996; Finucane and Kinirons, 1999). In addition, the porous structure of hard tissue barrier may compromise the apical seal (Steiner and Van Hassel, 1971; Walia *et al.*, 2000). Recently, MTA is suggested as a material to use in the apexification procedure. MTA apexification

showed the favorable outcome. Some studies demonstrated new cementum deposition on the material surface (Mente *et al.*, 2009; Simon *et al.*, 2007). However, the weak root structure is still the main problem.

#### 2.2.2 Regenerative endodontic procedure or REP

In the past two decades, the knowledge of regenerative medicine has been extensively studied in many fields of health research including endodontics. The first evidence of regenerative medicine in endodontics was reported 40 years ago (Ostby, 1961). The pulp tissue could regenerate into pulpal space by initiating blood clot into the root canal. The regenerated pulp contained fibroblastic cells, blood vessels and nerve fibers (Ostby, 1961). The result from this study implied that blood from peripaical tissue might contain the potential cells for pulp regeneration. This hypothesis was supported later. The stem cells that obtain by blood clot from inflamed periapical tissue of immature teeth express mesenchymal stem cell markers (Lovelace *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, in some cases of conventional apexification showed continuing root development (Cvek, 1972; Torneck and Smith, 1970; Torneck *et al.*, 1973a, b, c). These evidences suggested that these stem cells survived in chronic inflamed periapical area during root canal infection and responded for a root development. However, the outcome of continuing root development by conventional apexification is unpredictable.

The regenerative endodontics has been interested again when Banchs and Trope (2004) implemented the new treatment protocol that could continue the root and pulp development in necrotic immature tooth with chronic apical abscess. The treatment was called revascularization. The blood clot is initiated into the root canal by extruding

endodontic file beyond the root apex without instrumentation after the proper disinfection of root canal systems (Banchs and Trope, 2004). The following clinical studies showed the favorable successful outcomes of this protocol (Bose *et al.*, 2009; Jeeruphan *et al.*, 2012; Kahler *et al.*, 2014; Nagata *et al.*, 2014). The radiographic findings showed increasing root length and dentin wall thickness with the resolution of periapical lesion. Then, the term "regenerative endodontics procedure or REP" is widely used for such the treatment procedures due to regain and continue pulpodentinal complex development that previously disturbed by infection.

#### 2.2.3 Treatment protocol for current REP

The current protocol for REP comprises of two main steps of treatment (Bansal *et al.*, 2014; Kontakiotis *et al.*, 2015). The objective of the first appointment is to disinfect the root canal. After tooth isolation, the access opening is established. Vigorous irrigation is performed by 1.5% of sodium hypochlorite without any instrumentation. Then, root canal is flushed with normal saline or EDTA. All chemical irrigants are gently flushed to avoid periapical tissue damage. The root length is estimated and confirmed by a radiograph. Then, the proper medication is introduced into the root canal at least for one to four weeks. Temporary filling is placed into the access opening. The objective of the second appointment is homing stem cells into the root canal space. Any clinical signs and symptoms should diminish. The anesthesia without vasoconstrictor is administration. Temporary filling is removed under tooth isolation with rubber dam. The medicament is removed by irrigation with 17% EDTA.

mm. After blood is completely clotted, the suitable matrix is placed at cemento-enamel junction. Then, the coronal pulp space is filled with proper materials.

The important key to achieve the success of REP is the stem cells recruitment into the root canal space (Hargreaves *et al.*, 2013). The proper disinfection of the root canal environment allows these stem cells to attach (Trevino *et al.*, 2011), proliferate, differentiate, and develop the pulpo-dentinal structure. In addition, blood clot acts as a scaffold that enriches with various growth factors (Nagy *et al.*, 2014).

Stem cells are the actual key factor for the successful in REP. SCAPs were the most potential candidate due to their roles in root dentin development process (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, dentin and dental pulp tissue are expected from regenerative endodontic outcome.

จุพาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### 2.3 The histologic outcome of REP

### **Repair by REP**

After the successful treatment outcome of REP case report by Banch and Trope in 2004 (Banchs and Trope, 2004), the first animal study was performed and demonstrated the bone liked-structure instead of dentin in the root canal space (Thibodeau *et al.*, 2007). The later animal study showed the same results (Yamauchi *et al.*, 2011). The cementum-liked hard tissue was also observed. Another animal study found that periodontal tissue extended into the root canal (Wang et al., 2010). The human fractured teeth after this treatment also showed bone-liked structure (Lei *et al.*, 2015; Shimizu *et al.*, 2013). The newly form hard tissue both animal studies and human samples were calcified matrix embedded with round or spindle shaped cells without a tubular structure (Thibodeau *et al.*, 2007; Wang *et al.*, 2010).

Interestingly, the progenitor cells that differentiated and expressed bone sialoprotein (BSP) (Shimizu *et al.*, 2013). This BSP extensively expressed in bone and cementum but lesser expression in dentin (Foster, 2012). The regenerative calcified structure appeared outside root canal at the apex (Shimizu *et al.*, 2013). Although, the generated hard tissue was not dentin-liked structure, the outcome was acceptable because apical periodontitis was resolved.

The histological appearance of the bone or cementum-liked structure embarks on the question what the exact source of the stem cells are recruited. Due to the repaired tissue was generated, cementoblast, periodontal ligament cells or bone progenitors are suggested to survive during infection and recruited inside the root canal after creating the blood clot (Huang and Garcia-Godoy, 2014). SCAPs were also suggested that they could not survive under root canal infection (Huang and Garcia-Godoy, 2014). Recent study of human extracted incomplete tooth root development with apical periodontitis failed to demonstrated SCAPs or apical papilla structure (Ricucci *et al.*, 2017). On the other hand, some researchers believed that SCAPs were survived and were the main source for REP (Hargreaves *et al.*, 2013; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2008). There are animal studies demonstrated the availability of SCAPs after the experimental pulp necrosis in immature teeth (Tobias Duarte *et al.*, 2014; Yoo *et al.*, 2016). SCAPs from experimental necrotic teeth still proliferated and could be induced to osteogenic differentiation ability than uninfected teeth (Yoo *et al.*, 2016). However, this study did not observe which type of calcified tissue was generated. Thus, SCAPs could survive under root canal infection. Infection from root canal might change or alter the SCAPs behaviors especially osteogenic differentiation.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### 2.4 Role of lipopolysaccharide to apical periodontitis

More than 400 species of bacteria reside in necrotic pulp space (Siqueira and Rocas, 2009). Due to low or absent of oxygen tension of infected necrotic pulp microenverionment, the polymicrobial infection mostly comprises of strictly anaerobe or facultative anaerobe bacteria such as *Fusobacterium, Porphyromonas, Prevotella* which are gram-negative bacteria and other microorganisms (Narayanan and Vaishnavi, 2010). To prevent apical bone marrow infection, body defense mechanism creates the space around the apical foramen to accumulate the immune cells for bacteria invasion prevention (Lopez-Marcos, 2004).

Even bacterial infection from root canal cause apical periodontitis (Kakehashi *et al.*, 1965; Moller *et al.*, 1981), inflamed periapical tissue is claimed as the bacteriafree zone (Ricucci *et al.*, 2006). Only the bacteria by product can release from infected root canal to periapical tissue and initiate periapical periodontitis (Siqueira and Rocas, 2007). One of the most important of bacteria byproducts that plays a major role to cause the pulp and periapical pathology is lipopolysaccharide or LPS (Hong *et al.*, 2004; Siqueira and Rocas, 2007).

LPS is the component of gram-negative bacteria cell wall. LPS is released from dividing bacteria or dead bacteria (Rietschel and Cavaillon, 2003). LPS could induce apical periodontitis in animal studies (da Silva *et al.*, 2008; Nelson-Filho *et al.*, 2002; Ricucci *et al.*, 2011). The amount of LPS has been demonstrated to relate with the clinical symptoms severity (Jacinto *et al.*, 2005). The high concentration of LPS was found from the root canal that associated with painful on biting or abscess formation and vis versa (Jacinto *et al.*, 2005). However, the exact concentration that could produce

clinical signs and symptoms was inconsistent among the studies although they used the same methods of sampling and laboratory measurement that were used (Martinho *et al.*, 2011; Sousa *et al.*, 2014). Regardless to clinical symptoms, the concentrations of LPS were in the range of  $0.001\mu g/ml$  to  $0.1\mu g/ml$  by using of limulus amoebocyte lysate assay or LAL assay (Jacinto *et al.*, 2005; Marinho *et al.*, 2012; Marinho *et al.*, 2015; Martinho *et al.*, 2011). Because of the disadvantage of this method that all LPS molecules are not obtained from root canal, so the concentration of LPS in the root canal may be higher than reports. Unfortunately, the amount of LPS in periapical lesion has not been investigated. However, the existence of LPS in human periapical lesion (Dahlen and Hofstad, 1977) and animal study (Yamasaki *et al.*, 1992) were demonstrated.

The effects of LPS to SCAPs were reported only on immune response of SCAPs, such as cytokines releasing or related signaling pathway of immunological responses (Wang *et al.*, 2013a; Zhang *et al.*, 2013). However, the exposure time of LPS in these studies was not more than 48 hours (Wang *et al.*, 2013a; Zhang *et al.*, 2013) which did not reflect the chronic or long-term infection in clinical situation. The effects of LPS that relate to regenerative endodontic treatment of SCAPs such as proliferation and osteogenic differentiation have not been examined. These effects were studied on the other types of mesenchymal stem cells including dental tissue origin stem cells.

#### 2.4.1 Effect of LPS on mesenchymal cell proliferation

Proliferation of stem cells is an important biological activity for development and differentiation. The proliferation is also crucial for maintaining tissue homeostasis and replacing the dead cells by the local stem cells that reside in each organ.

Cell proliferation in apical papilla is required for root development process. The evidence showed that cell proliferation was active at the root forming region but not at furcation area (Sohn *et al.*, 2014). Inhibition of cell proliferation by chemical administration, cytocalasin-D, could impair root development and dentin structure (Sohn *et al.*, 2014). Cell proliferation for regenerative medicine is more important in cell free-based approach, such as REP, by using only blood clot for homing stem cells into the root canal space. The recruited stem cells have to proliferate to proper cell numbers before differentiation.

The effects of LPS on stem cells proliferation were studied in various cell types (Chatzivasileiou *et al.*, 2013; He *et al.*, 2015; Kato *et al.*, 2014; Mo *et al.*, 2008). Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), the prototype of mesenchymal stem cell, showed the exposure to LPS could increase their proliferation (Giuliani *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, the other studies showed LPS had no effect on cell proliferation of BMSCs (Chatzivasileiou *et al.*, 2013; Mo *et al.*, 2008). The possibility of this difference would be discussed later.

The influence of LPS on cell proliferation was also investigated in dental origin stem cells. Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) showed increase in cell proliferation when exposing to LPS (Liu *et al.*, 2014b). However, the other studies showed decreasing cell

proliferation in DPSCs (He *et al.*, 2015; Liu *et al.*, 2014b). Periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) increased cell proliferation when exposed to LPS (Kato *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, the other study of PDLSCs demonstrated LPS exposure had no effect to cell proliferation (Albiero *et al.*, 2015). On the other hand, dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs) demonstrated that LPS had no effect to cell proliferation (Chatzivasileiou *et al.*, 2013; Morsczeck *et al.*, 2012).

The current evidences of the effect of LPS on mesenchymal stem cell proliferation are controversial among the cell types and even in the same cell type. The different cell types showed different response to LPS. LPS increased cell proliferation in BMSCs (Giuliani *et al.*, 2014) but decreased in DPSCs (He *et al.*, 2015) and showed no effect on DFSCs (Chatzivasileiou *et al.*, 2013) at the same concentration of 1 µg/ml. Concentration of LPS also affected the proliferation of the same cell type. DPSCs showed cell proliferation increased at 0.1 µg/ml of LPS, but no effect to cell proliferation at 1 µg/ml. In addition, LPS at 10 µg/ml decreased cell proliferation in the same study (He *et al.*, 2015). However, there are some studies showed the opposite results in the same cells with the same concentration of LPS. DPSCs with 0.1 µg/ml of LPS increased cell proliferation in He and his colleague's study (He *et al.*, 2015) but decreased DPSCs cell proliferation in Liu and co-worker's study (Liu *et al.*, 2014b). The different results may be possibility of different starting cell numbers, medium culture system and the time points of data collection.

LPS from the different bacteria also affects to cell proliferation. LPS from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* showed increasing cell proliferation with concentration dependent manner in PDLSCs (Kato *et al.*, 2014) while LPS from *E.coli* showed

decreasing cell proliferation (Albiero *et al.*, 2015). The effect of source of LPS to cell proliferation may explain by the different structure of LPS that has different bioactivity to LPS receptor, Toll-like receptor (TLR) (Ogawa and Yagi, 2010). These controversial results may also cause by the different culture system between the studies (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). The summary of these studies is presented in Table 2.1. Unfortunately, the effects of LPS, especially from endodontic pathogen, to SCAPs on either cell's survival or proliferation after exposure to different concentrations of LPS have not been investigated.



Chulalongkorn University

BMSCs Mo et al., 2008 $E.coli$ $0.01 \mug/ml$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ no effect7Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 $E.coli$ $1 \mug/ml$ 10 $\mug/ml$ no effect3Giuliani et al., 2014 $E.coli$ $1 \mug/ml$ 10 $\mug/ml$ no effect3Giuliani et al., 2015 $PG$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $\mug/ml$ increase3DPSCs Liu et al., 2014 $E.coli$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $\mug/ml$ increase7He et al., 2015 $E.coli$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $\mug/ml$ decrease7He et al., 2014 $E.coli$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $\mug/ml$ increase14PSCs Liu et al., 2014 $E.coli$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $\mug/ml$ no effect10He et al., 2014 $E.coli$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $0 \mug/ml$ no effect10PSCS Chatzivasileiou et al., 2014 $E.coli$ $0.1 \mug/ml$ 1 $0 \mug/ml$ no effect10Moreczes $I \mug/ml$ 1 $0 \mug/ml$ no effect1010FSCs Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 $PG$ $1 \mug/ml$ $0 \mug/ml$ no effect3Moreczeck et al., 2012 $E.coli$ $1 \mug/ml$ $0 \mug/ml$ no effect3	Authors	LPS	concentration	result	Time (day)
Display Mo et al., 2008E.coli $0.01 \mu g/ml$ $0.1 \mu g/ml$ no effect7Mo et al., 2013E.coli1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013E.coli1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3Tang et al., 2015PG0.1 $\mu g/ml$ increase3DPSCs10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect7Liu et al., 2014E.coli0.1 $\mu g/ml$ decreaseHe et al., 2015E.coli0.1 $\mu g/ml$ increase14DPSCs10 $\mu g/ml$ decrease14Liu et al., 2014E.coli0.1 $\mu g/ml$ increase14Re et al., 2015E.coli0.1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect10He et al., 2014PG1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect10DFSCsImportant0.1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect10DFSCSImportant0.1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect10DFSCsImportant0.1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3DFSCsImportant0.1 $\mu g/ml$ increase7DFSCsImportant0.1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3DFSCsImportantImportant0 important3OFSCsImportantImportant10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3	BMSCe				
$\begin{array}{ccccccc} & \text{Locus} & Locus$	Mo et al 2008	E coli	0.01µg/ml	no effect	7
IntegralIn offectImage: Image: Imag		Licon	$0.1 \mu g/ml$	no effect	
Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013E.coli1 µg/ml mlno effect no effect3Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli1 µg/mlincrease2Tang et al., 2015PG0.1 µg/mlincrease3DPSCsLiu et al., 2014E.coli0.1µg/mldecrease7Liu et al., 2014E.coli0.1µg/mldecrease7He et al., 2015E.coli0.1µg/mlincrease14PDLSCsNoNoNo1He et al., 2015E.coli0.1µg/mlincrease14NoPfect110µg/mldecrease7He et al., 2014PG1µg/mlno effect10NoPfect1µg/mlno effect10PDLSCsNoPG1µg/mlno effect3Albieno et al., 2014PG1µg/mlno effect3PFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1µg/mlno effect3OFSCsLingtrinino effect33OFSCsLingtrinino effect33OFSCsLingtrinino effect33OFSCsLingtrinino effect33OrderLingtrinino effect33OFSCsLingtrinino effect33OFSCsLingtrinino effect33OFSCsLingtrinino effect3 <td></td> <td></td> <td>lug/ml</td> <td>no effect</td> <td></td>			lug/ml	no effect	
Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013E.coli1 µg/mlno effect310 µg/mlno effect50 µg/mlno effect2Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli1 µg/mlincrease2Tang et al., 2015PG0.1 µg/mlincrease3DPSCsIµg/mlno effect1Liu et al., 2014E.coli0.1µg/mldecrease7I µg/mldecrease10 µg/mldecrease14He et al., 2015E.coli0.1 µg/mlincrease14PDLSCsIµg/mlno effect10Kato et al., 2014E.coli0.1 µg/mlno effect10I µg/mlno effect10µg/mlno effect10I µg/mlno effect10µg/mlno effect10I µg/mlno effect10 µg/mlincrease710I µg/mlno effect10µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease710 µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease710 µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease710 µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease710 µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease710 µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease710 µg/mlincrease7I µg/mlincrease10 µg/mlincrease73I µg/mlincrease10 µg/mlincrease <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>10</td><td></td><td></td></t<>			10		
Image: Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli10 µg/ml 50 µg/mlno effect no effect2Tang et al., 2015PG0.1 µg/ml 1 µg/mlincrease3DPSCSImage: Display for the second	Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013	E.coli	l μg/ml	no effect	3
Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli $50 \mug/ml$ no effect2Tang et al., 2015PG $0.1 \mug/ml$ increase3DFSCsLiu et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mug/ml$ decrease7He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \mug/ml$ decrease14Me et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \mug/ml$ decrease14He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \mug/ml$ increase14Mission et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mug/ml$ no effect10Mission et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mug/ml$ no effect10Mission et al., 2014PG $1 \mug/ml$ no effect10DFSCs $0.1 \mug/ml$ no effect10Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG $1 \mug/ml$ no effect3DFSCs3Chatzivasileiou et al., 2012E.coli $1 \mug/ml$ no effect3			10 µg/ml	no effect	
Giuliani et al., 2014E.coli1 µg/mlincrease2Tang et al., 2015 $PG$ $0.1 µg/ml$ increase3DPSCs $1 µg/ml$ no effectdecrease7Liu et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 µg/ml$ decrease7He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 µg/ml$ decrease14PDLSCs $1 µg/ml$ decrease14In et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 µg/ml$ increase14PDLSCs $1 µg/ml$ no effect10Albieno et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 µg/ml$ no effect10I µg/mlno effect10 $µg/ml$ ecrease7DFSCs $PG$ $1 µg/ml$ no effect10Kato et al., 2014PG $1 µg/ml$ increase7DFSCs $DFSCs$ $DFSCs$ $DFSCs$ $DFSCs$ $DFSCs$ $DFSCs$ Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG $1 µg/ml$ no effect3Morsezeck et al., 2012 $E.coli$ $1 µg/ml$ no effect3			50 µg/ml	no effect	
Tang et al., 2015PG $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase3DPSCs $1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effectdecrease7Liu et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ decrease7He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ decrease14He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase14PDLSCsNoNo0.1 \ \mu g/mlno effect10Kato et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect10Kato et al., 2014PG $1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase7DFSCsNoNo10 \ \mu g/mlincrease7Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG $1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect3DFSCsNorsczeck et al., 2012E.coli $1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect3	Giuliani et al., 2014	E.coli	1 μg/ml	increase	2
Tang et al., 2015PG $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase3DPSCsLiu et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ decrease71 \ \mu g/mldecrease1010He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase141 \ \mu g/mlincrease14He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase14PDLSCsAlbieno et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect101 \ \ \mu g/mlno effect1010I \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \					
DFSCsI µg/mlno effectLiu et al., 2014E.coli0.1µg/mldecrease10 µg/mldecrease71µg/mldecrease71µg/mldecrease1410 µg/mlno effect1410 µg/mlno effect1010 µg/mlincrease7Kato et al., 2014PG1 µg/mlincreaseDFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/mlno effect10 µg/mlno effect31010Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3	Tang et al., 2015	PG	$0.1 \mu\text{g/ml}$	increase	3
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ \hline 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ \hline DPSCs \\ Liu et al., 2014 & E.coli & 0.1 \mu g/ml & decrease \\ 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ 10 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ \hline He et al., 2015 & E.coli & 0.1 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ \hline PDLSCs \\ Albieno et al., 2014 & E.coli & 0.1 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ \hline Kato et al., 2014 & PG & 1 \ \mu g/ml & increase \\ \hline DFSCs \\ Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 & PG & 1 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 3 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 3 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 3 \ \mu g/ml & no effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/m$	5,		$1 \mu g/ml$	no effect	
DPSCsLiu et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ decrease7 $1\mu g/ml$ decrease10 $\mu g/ml$ decrease14I e et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ increase14I $\mu g/ml$ no effect10 $\mu g/ml$ decrease14PDLSCsI $\mu g/ml$ no effect1010Albieno et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ no effect10Kato et al., 2014PG1 $\mu g/ml$ increase7DFSCsI $\mu g/ml$ increase7Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect3			$10 \mu g/ml$	decrease	
DPSCsE.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ decrease7Liu et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ decrease7 $1 \mu g/ml$ decrease $10 \mu g/ml$ decrease14He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ increase14 $1 \mu g/ml$ no effect $10 \mu g/ml$ decrease14He et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ no effect10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect $10 \mu g/ml$ no effect10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect $10 \mu g/ml$ no effect10Kato et al., 2014PG $1 \mu g/ml$ increase7DFSCs $V = 10 \mu g/ml$ increase710 $\mu g/ml$ increaseMorsczeck et al., 2012E.coli $1 \mu g/ml$ no effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli $1 \mu g/ml$ no effect3					
Liu et al., 2014 E. coli 0.1 µg/ml decrease 7 1 µg/ml decrease 10 10 µg/ml decrease 14 10 µg/ml no effect 14 1 µg/ml no effect 10 PDLSCS Albieno et al., 2014 E. coli 0.1 µg/ml no effect 10 10 µg/ml decrease 7 Albieno et al., 2014 PG 1 µg/ml no effect 10 10 µg/ml decrease 7 10 µg/ml increase 7 10 µg/ml increase 7 10 µg/ml no effect 3 PFSCS Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 PG 1 µg/ml no effect 3 10 µg/ml	DPSCs				
He et al., 2015E.coli $1 \mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ decrease the decrease14He et al., 2015E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect the decrease14PDLSCs Albieno et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \mu g/ml$ 1 $\mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect the decrease10Kato et al., 2014PG $0.1 \mu g/ml$ 1 $\mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect the decrease10DFSCs Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG $1 \mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ 10 $\mu g/ml$ no effect the decrease3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli $1 \mu g/ml$ 1 $\mu g/ml$ no effect the decrease3	Liu et al., 2014	E.coli	0.1µg/ml	decrease	7
He et al., 2015E.coli10 µg/ml $0.1 µg/ml$ $1 µg/ml$ $10 µg/ml$ decrease14PDLSCs1110 µg/mldecrease14Albieno et al., 2014E.coli0.1 µg/ml $1 µg/ml$ no effect $10 µg/ml$ 10Kato et al., 2014PG1 µg/ml $10 µg/ml$ no effect $10 µg/ml$ 7DFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/ml $10 µg/ml$ no effect $10 µg/ml$ 3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/ml $1 µg/ml$ no effect $3 µg/ml$ 3			1µg/ml	decrease	
He et al., 2015E.coli0.1 µg/mlincrease141 µg/mlno effect1010 µg/mldecrease14PDLSCsAlbieno et al., 2014E.coli0.1 µg/mlno effect101 µg/mlno effect101 µg/mlno effect10Kato et al., 2014PG1 µg/mlincrease7DFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/mlno effect310 µg/mlno effect50 µg/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3			10 μg/ml	decrease	
$\begin{array}{c cccccc} & 1 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \end{array}$	He et al., 2015	E.coli	0.1 μg/ml	increase	14
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ \hline & & & \\ PDLSCs \\ Albieno \ et \ al., 2014 & E. coli & 0.1 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect & 10 \\ & 1 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ & 10 \ \mu g/ml & decrease \\ & & 10 \ \mu g/ml & increase \\ \hline & & \\ DFSCs \\ Chatzivasileiou \ et \ al., 2013 & PG & 1 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect & 3 \\ & & 10 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & & & 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ & & & & & & \\ \end{array}$			1 μg/ml	no effect	
PDLSCsE.coli0.1 µg/mlno effect10Albieno et al., 2014E.coli0.1 µg/mlno effect10I µg/mlno effect10 µg/mldecrease7Kato et al., 2014PG1 µg/mlincrease7DFSCsIIIIIChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/mlno effect3I µg/mlno effect50 µg/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3			10 μg/ml	decrease	
PDLSCsAlbieno et al., 2014E. coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect101 \ \mu g/mlno effect1010 \ \mu g/mldecrease710 \ \mu g/mlincrease710 \ \mu g/mlincrease7DFSCsPG1 \ \mu g/mlno effectChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 \ \mu g/mlno effect50 \ \mu g/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E. coli1 \ \mu g/mlno effect					
PDLSCsE.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect10Albieno et al., 2014E.coli $0.1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect10Kato et al., 2014PG $1 \ \mu g/ml$ increase7DFSCsChatzivasilciou et al., 2013PG $1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli $1 \ \mu g/ml$ no effect3					
FDLSCSE.coli0.1 µg/mlno effect10Albieno et al., 2014E.coli0.1 µg/mlno effect1010 µg/mldecrease10 µg/mlincrease7DFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/mlno effect310 µg/mlno effect310 µg/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3	DDI SCa				
Kato et al., 2014E.coli6.1 µg/mlno effect1 µg/mlno effect10 µg/mldecrease10 µg/mlincreaseDFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/mlno effect50 µg/mlno effect50 µg/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3	Albieno <i>et al.</i> 2014	F coli	0.1.ug/ml	no effect	10
Kato et al., 2014PG1 µg/ml µg/mlincrease increase7DFSCsImage: Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/ml µg/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3	Abieno er al., 2014	L.con	$1 \mu g/ml$	no effect	10
Kato et al., 2014PG1 µg/mlincrease7DFSCsChatzivasileiou et al., 2013PG1 µg/mlno effect310 µg/mlno effect310 µg/mlno effect3Morsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 µg/mlno effect3			10 μg/ml	decrease	
<b>DFSCs</b> Chatzivasileiou <i>et al.</i> , 2013 $PG$ 1 µg/ml no effect 3 10 µg/ml no effect 3 10 µg/ml no effect 3 Morsczeck <i>et al.</i> , 2012 <i>E.coli</i> 1 µg/ml no effect 3	Kato et al 2014	PG	$1 \mu g/ml$	increase	7
DFSCs Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 PG 1 μg/ml no effect 3 10 μg/ml no effect 50 μg/ml no effect Morsczeck et al., 2012 E.coli 1 μg/ml no effect 3	Kuto et u., 2011	10	10 μg/ml	increase	,
DFSCs Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 PG 1 µg/ml no effect 3 10 µg/ml no effect 50 µg/ml no effect Morsczeck et al., 2012 E.coli 1 µg/ml no effect 3			ro µg/iii	mereuse	
Chatzivasileiou et al., 2013 PG 1 µg/ml no effect 3 10 µg/ml no effect 3 50 µg/ml no effect 3 Morsczeck et al., 2012 E.coli 1 µg/ml no effect 3	DFSCs				
$\begin{array}{c c} 10 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ 50 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ Morsczeck \ et \ al., 2012 & E. coli & 1 \ \mu g/ml & no \ effect \\ 3 \end{array}$	Chatziyasileiou et al., 2013	PG	l ug/ml	no effect	3
S0 μg/mlno effect50 μg/mlno effectMorsczeck et al., 2012E.coli1 μg/mlno effect3			10 µg/ml	no effect	-
Morsczeck <i>et al.</i> , 2012 <i>E.coli</i> 1 µg/ml no effect 3			50 µg/ml	no effect	
	Morsczeck et al., 2012	E.coli	1 μg/ml	no effect	3
PG 1 µg/ml no effect		PG	1 μg/ml	no effect	

 Table 2.1 Effect of LPS on mesenchymal stem cell proliferation.

BMSCs=bone marrow stem cells; DPSCs=dental pulp stem cells; PDLSCs=periodontal ligament stem cells; DFSCs=dental follicle stem cells; PG=Porphyromonas gingivalis.

#### 2.4.2 Effect of LPS on osteogenic differentiation

The effects of LPS on osteogenic differentiation of various types of stem cells were demonstrated in many *in vitro* studies (Cho *et al.*, 2010; Fiedler *et al.*, 2013; He *et al.*, 2015; Kato *et al.*, 2014; Waterman *et al.*, 2010; Yamagishi *et al.*, 2011). BMSCs were extensively studied (Croes *et al.*, 2015; Liotta *et al.*, 2008; Mo *et al.*, 2008; Raicevic *et al.*, 2012; Tang *et al.*, 2015; Waterman *et al.*, 2010). Some studies showed LPS exposure decreased osteogenic differentiation on BMSCs (Croes *et al.*, 2015; Tang *et al.*, 2015). However several studies demonstrated LPS exposure increased BMSCs cell differentiation (Mo *et al.*, 2008; Waterman *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, some studies showed LPS had no effect on BMSCs osteogenic differentiation (Liotta *et al.*, 2008; Raicevic *et al.*, 2012). However, adipose tissue derived-stem cells (ADSCs), another type of mesenchymal stem cell, consistently increased osteogenic differentiation when exposed to LPS (Cho *et al.*, 2006; Cho *et al.*, 2010; Fiedler *et al.*, 2013).

The influence of LPS on osteogenic lineage differentiation also investigated in many dental origin stem cells like cell proliferation. LPS was reported to inhibit osteogenic differentiation of DPSCs (Yamagishi *et al.*, 2011). In contrast, LPS increased osteogenic differentiation of DPSCs in the other study (He *et al.*, 2015). This different result might be the effect of concentration of LPS. Higher concentration, 5-20  $\mu$ g/ml, demonstrated inhibitory effect (Yamagishi *et al.*, 2012) but lower concentration, 1  $\mu$ g/ml, showed increasing osteogenic differentiation (He *et al.*, 2015). PDLSCs also exhibited the similar results to DPSCs. LPS decreased osteogenic differentiation with higher concentration, 10  $\mu$ g/ml (Kato *et al.*, 2014; Li *et al.*, 2014a). However, the lower concentration, 1  $\mu$ g/ml, increased osteogenic differentiation (Albiero *et al.*, 2015). In

contrast, LPS decreased osteogenic differentiation of DFSCs even in lower concentration, 1 µg/ml (Morsczeck *et al.*, 2012). These results suggested that the high concentration of LPS could decrease osteogenic differentiation whereas lower concentration increased osteogenic differentiation. In addition, different cell types may response to LPS in different results during osteogenic differentiation. The source of LPS also could affect the osteogenic differentiation. LPS from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* decreased osteogenic differentiation at concentration of 1 µg/ml (Kato *et al.*, 2014) but LPS from *E.coli* increased osteogenic differentiation with the same concentration (Albiero *et al.*, 2015). However, the source of LPS had no effect to DFSCs (Morsczeck *et al.*, 2012). The different effects of LPS on osteogenic differentiation among studies were summarized in Table 2.2. The effects of LPS from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* on osteogenic lineage differentiation of SCAPs are still unknown.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University
| Authors                      | LPS    | concentration   | result    | Time (day) |
|------------------------------|--------|-----------------|-----------|------------|
| BMSCs                        |        |                 | ~         |            |
| Mo et al., 2008              | E.coli | $0.01 \mu g/ml$ | no effect | 14         |
|                              |        | 0.1µg/mi        | increase  |            |
|                              |        | τμg/mi          | increase  |            |
| Raicevic et al., 2012        | N/A    | 10 µg/ml        | no effect | 21         |
| Croes et al., 2015           | E.coli | 0.5 µg/ml       | decrease  | 22         |
| Li et al., 2014              | E.coli | 10 µg/ml        | no effect | 28         |
|                              |        |                 |           |            |
| Tang et al., 2015            | PG     | 0.1 μg/ml       | increase  | 14         |
|                              |        | 1 μg/ml         | decrease  |            |
|                              |        | 10 μg/ml        | decrease  |            |
| DBSC                         |        |                 |           |            |
| Yamagishi <i>et al.</i> 2012 | PG     | 5 ug/ml         | decrease  | 14         |
| . uningham er eni, 2012      | 10     | 10 µg/ml        | decrease  |            |
|                              |        | 20 μg/ml        | decrease  |            |
| He et al., 2015              | E.coli | 0.01µg/ml       | no effect | 14         |
|                              |        | 0.1µg/ml        | increase  |            |
|                              |        | 1 μg/ml         | increase  |            |
|                              |        | 10 μg/ml        | increase  |            |
| DDL GG                       |        |                 |           |            |
| PDLSCs                       | Essli  | 1               |           | 21         |
| Albieno el al., 2014         | E.coll | I μg/mi         | mcrease   | 21         |
| Kato et al., 2014            | PG     | 1 μg/ml         | decrease  | 21         |
|                              |        | 10 µg/ml        | decrease  |            |
|                              |        |                 |           |            |
| DFSCs                        |        |                 |           |            |
| Morsczeck et al., 2012       | E.coli | 1 μg/ml         | decrease  | 21         |
|                              | PG     | 1 μg/ml         | decrease  |            |

**Table 2.2** Effect of LPS on mesenchymal stem cell osteogenic differentiation.

BMSCs=bone marrow stem cells; DPSCs=dental pulp stem cells; PDLSCs=periodontal ligament stem cells; DFSCs=dental follicle stem cells; N/A=not available; PG=Porphyromonas gingivalis.

The most current studies regarding to the effects of LPS on SCAPs related to immediate cell responses such as cytokine releasing (Zhang et al., 2013) and the signaling pathway (Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin and p38 MAPK) that regulated the inflammatory response (Wang et al., 2013a). The exposure time of LPS to SCAPs in these studies were only 24 to 48 hours (Wang et al., 2013a; Zhang et al., 2013). The periapical tissue and cells always relate to long-term inflammation by root canal microorganisms in the most of the periapical periodontitis, so the effects of LPS should be investigated as the long-term exposure. To elucidate the effects of LPS on SCAPS that relate to REP, especially cell proliferation and osteogenic lineage differentiation, it is necessary to design the experiment that resemble to the clinical situation. In addition, the source of LPS should be awareness. Even LPS from E.coli is a gold standard for observing general endotoxin responses in many studies, this species is not found during root canal infection. The LPS from infected root canal flora such as LPS from Porphyromonas gingivalis is more suitable. After proper root canal disinfection, the long-term LPS exposed SCAPs are recruited into the clean root canal by blood clot initiation. Thus, cell proliferation and osteogenic lineage differentiation should be investigated after long-term treated with LPS.

#### 2.5 SCAPs markers for mesenchymal stem cell

#### 2.5.1 Mesenchymal stem cells markers

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) refer to stem cells that reside tissue organ stromal. In general, these cells function as repairing cells for the tissue organ damage. Thus, mesenchymal stem cells are limited the multi-differentiation to their lineages. Cells from apical papilla tissue of root developing tooth were firstly isolated by Sonoyama and co-workers in 2006 (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). To identify these cells whether they are mesenchymal stem cells, several laboratory methods are utilized. Like other discovered dental stem cells such as dental pulp stem cells, periodontal ligament stem cells and dental follicle stem cells, the mesenchymal stem cells characteristics have to be tested (Huang *et al.*, 2009). Bone marrow stem cells (BMSCs) were frequently used as a gold standard for mesenchymal stem cells identification because they were isolated and have been studied for several decades.

BMSCs were firstly isolated from mouse bone marrows. At the first glance of bone marrow MSCs from culture disc, they were fibroblastic shape that attached to culture disc surfaces (Friedenstein *et al.*, 1970). These cells revealed the colony forming unit capacity and could be induced to osteogenic, adpogenic and chondrogenic lineage of differentiation (Friedenstein *et al.*, 1987; Pittenger *et al.*, 1999). The other cells from bone marrow also demonstrated the heterogeneity population. Thus, the markers that could distinguish MSCs from others were used. According to the different protein expressions on cell surface of these two stem cell types, these cell surface markers were utilized by antigen-antibody reaction assay, flow cytometry. In addition, the hematopoietic stem cells might be isolated along with BMSCs. Thus, surface markers that abundantly expressed on the hematopoietic cell surface such as CD45, CD34 and HLA-DR were used as negative selection of MSCs from bone marrow (Boxall and Jones, 2012; Pittenger *et al.*, 1999; Rasini *et al.*, 2013). The other markers, STRO-1, CD105, CD90, CD73, CD44, CD29 and CD34 were used as a positive selection for BMSCs (Barry *et al.*, 2001; Barry *et al.*, 1999; Pittenger *et al.*, 1999; Simmons and Torok-Storb, 1991a, b). The other positive markers such as CD271 (Jones *et al.*, 2002), CD146 (Delorme *et al.*, 2008), CD106 (Gronthos *et al.*, 2001) were also used. CD90 or Thy-1, a part of TGF- $\beta$  receptor and CD44, hyaluronan receptor that normally relate to stem cell signal especially for stem cell differentiation allow stem cells to interact with cell matrix and stimuli. All these proteins could send the specific signals into stem cells and regulate the stem cells behaviors (Boxall and Jones, 2012).

After discovery of BMSCs, other types of mesenchymal stem cells from other organs were discovered and investigated, including mesenchymal stem cells from oral tissue (Huang *et al.*, 2009). Thus, the international society for cellular therapy or ISCT has declared the minimum requirements for extracted mesenchymal stem cells characteristics as the following. Firstly, the cells can adhere to the culture disc. Secondly, mesenchymal stem cell candidcates should express CD105, CD73 and CD90 more than 95% of total population and express CD45, CD31, CD14, CD11b, CD19, CD79 $\alpha$  and HLA-DR less than 2%. Thirdly, cells could be derived at least into three lineages namely osteogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic differentiation (Dominici *et al.*, 2006). These criteria are set as a standard for mesenchymal stem cell studies regardless the source of cells. However, the specific marker of MSCs from each source is used in some MSCs to specify the origin of the obtained stem cells, for example, CD133 for renal and liver stem cells (Bruno *et al.*, 2006; Kordes *et al.*, 2007), CD24

for adipose and neural stem cells (Berry and Rodeheffer, 2013; Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008). Hence, some surface mesenchymal stem cell markers should appropriately selected regard to tissue origin, as well.

There are many MSCs from dental tissue origins such as dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs), shedding human exfoliated dental stem cells (SHEDs) and stem cells from apical papilla (SCAPs). These stem cells were proved as MSCs following the ISCT's criteria. However, the differentiation capacity of some lineages and the rate of proliferation or colony forming unit or CFU were not the same. The osteogenic differentiation capacity between dental stem cells has been reported. SCAPs showed better osteogenic differentiation than DPSCs (Gosau *et al.*, 2013). However, SCAPs demonstrated the same osteogenic differentiation capacity as SHEDs (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2011). Proliferation rate of SCAPs was faster than DPSCs even though they showed the same amount of surface MSCs markers (Huang *et al.*, 2008; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2008). Thus, the surface markers may be sufficient for MSCs identification and distinction from HSCs but they cannot reflect stem cell stage, self-renewal and the capacity of stem cell differentiation.

However, these ISCT's surface markers do not mean the stem cell property, self-renewal and differentiation capacity. CD73, CD105 and CD90 expressed the same percentage between early and late passage although the later passage showed decreasing colony forming capacity and differentiation (Digirolamo *et al.*, 1999). In addition, CD73 and CD90 still expressed after differentiation process (Wagner *et al.*, 2008). Each clone from MSCs demonstrated the different potency of differentiation

(Wagner *et al.*, 2008). This suggested that the explanted MSCs were heterogeneous population although the surface MSCs markers expressed beyond 95% (Pittenger *et al.*, 1999). In contrast, CD105 and CD73 can express in the other somatic cells that are not MSCs for example, skin fibroblast (Ishii *et al.*, 2005).

# 2.5.2 Using pluripotent marker of embryonic stem cells to identify stem cell characteristics of MSCs

Stem cells that obtained from inner cell mass of embryo can derive into all cell types of three germ layers. According to this ability, these stem cells are also called "embryonic" stem cells or ESCs. ESCs use various proteins such as growth factors and cytokines to maintain the stem cell characteristics and regulate lineage the differentiations by acting as cell-cell communication or regulation the cell development process (Goldberg *et al.*, 2011). These regulators transmit the signals through cytoplasm proteins into nucleus. There are regulatory networks that comprise of some proteins are essential for controlling the proper signals by regulating the essential gene expression to maintain stem cell characteristics and initiate the differentiation (Murry and Keller, 2008; Rodda *et al.*, 2005).

These proteins of ESCs are often used to determine mesenchymal stem cell characteristics and stage of differentiation. There are several pluripotent markers that are widely used such as Oct4, Nanog and Sox2. These three proteins are transcription factors that respond to gene transcription into messenger RNA. These transcription factors also regulate themselves by binding to the promoter sequences of their genes (Niwa, 2007). These transcription proteins control their functions by their interactions to each other. Knockdown the gene expression of these proteins demonstrated alteration of ESCs's behaviors for examples, the reduction of proliferation and self-renewal. In contrast, knockdown these proteins increased the related differentiation genes (Masui *et al.*, 2008; Torres and Watt, 2008). These studies confirmed the roles of these transcription factors for stemness and differentiation in ESCs. Thus, Oct4, Nanog and Sox2 are used as pluripotent marker that could identify stemness and differentiation stage of ESCs.

The "core" pluripotent markers also express in adult stem cell including various types of MSCs (Tsai and Hung, 2012). However, the level of gene and protein expression was less than ESCs (Esteves *et al.*, 2014). The current evidences suggested that pluripotent markers might function as shown in ESCs (Tsai and Hung, 2012). Overexpression of Oct4 or Nanog could increase cell proliferation by regulation the cell cycle proteins which was important to maintain stemness and related to self-renewal. In contrast, Knockdown Oct4 and Nanog could decrease cell proliferation (Tsai and Hung, 2012; Tsai *et al.*, 2012). However, there was a study demonstrated that Sox2 regulated the MSCs stem cell characteristics but Oct4 and Nanog did not (Pierantozzi *et al.*, 2011). The another pluripotent transcription factor that frequent used to determine the pluripotncy in ESCs is Rex1. Rex1 also played the significant roles in MSCs (Bhandari *et al.*, 2010). The gene expressions of four pluripotent markers, Oct4, Nanog, Sox2 and Rex1 were general used for stem cell characteristics identification of MSCs.

The pluripotent markers also express in various types of dental stem cells and are used along with the expression of surface stem cell markers and multi-lineage differentiation to examine stem cell characteristics. DPSCs, SHEDs and PDLSCs expressed these markers and some studies demonstrated the same function of these markers in the other sources of MSCs as to maintain stem cell characteristics (Huang *et al.*, 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2012). SCAPs also expressed these markers and genes (Wu et al., 2012). Oct4, Nanog, Sox2 and Rex1 could be increased by treating with basic fibroblast growth factors (bFGF) which was regulated the stemness, self-renewal and increased cell proliferation, as well (Wu *et al.*, 2012).

To confirm the mesenchymal stem cell characteristics of obtained SCAPs from apical papilla *in vitro*, surface mesenchymal stem cell markers, multi-lineage differentiation and expression of pluripotent markers are sufficient. Moreover, cell proliferation and CFU should be investigated. SCAPs are accepted as mesenchymal stem cell following the minimum criteria by ISCT and also express the core pluripotent markers. However, there were some studies found that SCAPs expressed CD24 marker (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Schneider *et al.*, 2014; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). The function of this marker in SCAPs has not been investigated

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### 2.6 CD24 as a marker to SCAPs

#### 2.6.1 The structure of CD24

CD24 was first discovered as a cell surface marker for leukocyte differentiation in mice 40 years ago (Springer *et al.*, 1978). The human and mouse precursor of CD24 composed of 76 and 80 amino acids, respectively (Ayre *et al.*, 2016). CD24 precursor was modified by cleaving the N-terminal region that was important for signal transduction. Then, CD24 was translocated to cell membrane by using glycophosphophatidylinositol or GPI part (Kay *et al.*, 1991). The mature of CD24 protein core is contain 32 residues in human and 27 residues in mouse (Kay *et al.*, 1991). Like other GPI-anchorage proteins, CD24 was modified by N or O-linked glycosylation to increase the molecular mass (Fang *et al.*, 2010). The different cell type showed the different glycosylation modification form. It was suggested that CD24 could interact more than one molecule with different functions.

The function of CD24 is diversity. The early studies of CD24's function found that it involved in B cell maturation. CD24 expressed at the early stage of B cell development in bone marrow but it did not express at the later stage of B cell in peripheral lymphoid organs or blood circulation (Hardy *et al.*, 1991; Wenger *et al.*, 1995). Recent study showed that CD24 was important to cell-cell communication between B cells via the vesicle releasing (Ayre *et al.*, 2015). CD24 also functioned in T cell and dendritic cell that related to cell proliferation and acted as co-stimulator, respectively (Crispe and Bevan, 1987; Hubbe and Altevogt, 1994). CD24 also expressed in myeloid cells such as granulocytes as an adhesion molecule (Aigner *et al.*, 1995). CD24 expressed in the other somatic cells or tissue such as brain and nervous system, fat tissue, skin, kidney, liver, hair follicle, intestine including tooth bud (Shirasawa et al., 1993). Similar to B cell, CD24 in most somatic cells transiently expresses and its function mostly relates to cell maturation. CD24, then, it decreases when these cells reach the fully maturation stage (Berry and Rodeheffer, 2013; Shirasawa et al., 1993). Some organs, such as kidney and liver, contained a few CD24 expressing cells for repairing the organ damages (Angelotti et al., 2012; Fomin et al., 2011). The relation between CD24 and cell differentiation during organ development are mostly unknown. It is expected that CD24 may interact with growth factors and appropriately modulate cell signals. In addition, CD24 has been extensively studied in cancer research. CD24 associated with poor prognosis or invasiveness in many cancer types for example, breast, pancreatic, liver, lung cancer and squamous cell carcinoma (Jaggupilli and Elkord, 2012). These cancer tissues or cells highly expressed CD24. The higher CD24 expression always correlates with the poor prognostic cancers (Jaggupilli and Elkord, 2012) that are more cell migration, proliferation rate and metastasis. Thus, CD24 is used for the poor prognostic marker of cancer. CD24 also involves in fibrosis lesion (Kim et al., 2009). High migration capacity usually relates to high CXCR4 expression that involves in cell chemoattractant and regulates cell cytoskeleton (Leelawat et al., 2013). Highly proliferation rate also related to increase of cell cycle protein regulation and involved in stem cell characteristics in some cancer stem cell types (Yang et al., 2014; Yeung et al., 2010). In spite of strong evidences about the role of CD24 in cancer cell behaviors, the insight mechanism of CD24 is not clear.

#### 2.6.2 Roles of CD24 and SCAPs

During adipogenic differentiation of adipocyte progenitors, CD24 expression was increased (Smith *et al.*, 2015), and then could not detect after adipogenic differentiation process (Berry and Rodeheffer, 2013; Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, CD24 expressing stem cells from adipose tissue demonstrated better adipogenic differentiation than non-expressing cells (Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008). CD24 was also examined in mouse BMSCs. CD24 expressing BMSCs demonstrated the osteoprogenitor cell phenotype. They expressed osterix, alkaline phosphatase gene expression more than non-CD24 expressing cells (Chang *et al.*, 2015).

CD24 was suggested that this marker might involve or associate with SCAPs behaviors. Sonoyama suggested that CD24 might involve in osteogenic differentiation process because the expression of CD24 was undetected after osteogenic differentiation (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006), like adipogenic differentiation of adipocyte progenitor cells (Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008; Smith *et al.*, 2015). Sonoyama and his colleagues (2006) suggested that CD24 might be used as a specific marker for SCAPs because it expressed in SCAPs but did not express in DPSCs. However, unlike other surface mesenchymal stem cell markers that expressed more than 90%, CD24 expressed only 7.56% from total of population (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). In addition, the percentage of CD24 positive SCAPs was demonstrated in a wide range among the studies between 3% and 20% (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Schneider *et al.*, 2014; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Their suggestion is still doubted. On the other hand, the cause of this variation is still unknown.

The relationship of CD24 and stem cells behaviors, especially SCAPs, has not been investigated. However, the variation of percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs may influence these behaviors.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### 2.7 Gap in knowledge and research question

The number of CD24 expressing SCAPs might be benefit for REP. Factors or biological pathways that participated or regulated CD24 of SCAPs should be also investigated for better understanding the insight mechanisms. This knowledge would be benefit for root dentin regeneration.

LPS has been shown that it affected to cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation in other mesenchymal stem cells. These cell behaviors are crucial for REP. The effects of LPS on SCAPs proliferation and osteogenic differentiation have not been investigated. In additions, the different CD24 expressing SCAPs might also influence to cell behaviors especially cell proliferation and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells after LPS exposure. The question of this study was LPS exposure whether affected to cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of different percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

## 2.8 Objectives of the study

- To determine the variation of percentage of CD24 expressing cells among the SCAPs cell lines.
- To characterize the mesenchymal stem cell characteristics of SCAPs between different percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs.
- To determine the effect of lipopolysaccharide to SCAPs survival of different percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs.
- 4. To determine the effects of lipopolysaccharide pre-exposure to cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of SCAPs with different percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs.



Objective 1 and 2 were performed in Chapter 3.

Objective 3 and 4 were performed in Chapter 4.



#### **CHAPTER 3**

# COMPARISON OF STEM CELL BEHAVIORS BETWEEN INDIGENOUS HIGH AND LOW-CD24 PERCENTAGE EXPRESSING CELLS OF STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA<sup>1</sup>

#### **3.1 Abstract**

CD24 was suggested as a marker to SCAPs and has been reported for a decade. CD24 has been shown to involve stem cell activities such as self-renewal, proliferation and differentiation. However, the percentage variations of CD24 positive cells were reported among the studies. It is possible that this variation may affect these SCAPs behaviors. In this study, the variation was confirmed. To elucidate the influence of CD24 positive cells quantity on SCAPs stem cell behaviors, the 3 cell lines with the most maximum and the least numbers of CD24 positive cells (High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group) were selected to study. Both groups expressed the same mesenchymal stem cell markers and negative to hematopoietic marker. High-CD24 group demonstrated less self-renewal capacity by lower colony-forming-unit count and pluripotency marker gene expressions. However, cell proliferation was not different. In contrast, osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation were better than Low-CD24 group. The early stage of root development demonstrated higher CD24 expressing cells

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Based on manuscript, submitted and published to Tissue and Cell; volume 8 issue5; page 397-406. Copyright with permission, © 2016 Elseveir Ltd, license number 4105211269849.

than later stage. In conclusion, quantity of CD24 expressing cellsself-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation but did not influence on cell proliferation. Stage of root development influenced to CD24 expressing cell numbers.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### **3.2 Introduction**

Stem cells from apical papilla or SCAPs are one of the interesting postnatal mesenchymal stem cells. SCAPs were shown multi-lineage differentiation capacity such as osteogenic, adipogenic, chondrogenic and neurogenic lineage like other dental stem cells origins (Dong *et al.*, 2013; Gervois *et al.*, 2015; Huang *et al.*, 2009; Prateeptongkum *et al.*, 2015; Vanacker *et al.*, 2014). Recently, SCAPs were used as a stem cells source to reconstruct the spinal cord injury in animal model (De Berdt *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, SCAPs are interesting in the regenerative medicine.

SCAPs were first isolated and studied by Sonoyama and co-workers in 2006 (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). SCAPs expressed many surface mesenchymal stem cell markers such as CD90, CD105, CD73, CD44, STRO-1 and negative to hematopoietic cell lineage marker, CD45 (Huang *et al.*, 2009; Prateeptongkum *et al.*, 2015; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2008). The other pluripotent stem markers such as Rex-1, Nanog, Sox2, and Oct4, that frequently were used to identify mesenchymal stem cell, were also expressed in SCAPs (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Wu *et al.*, 2012). These markers regulated self-renewal and proliferation in mesenchymal stem cells (Kashyap *et al.*, 2009; Niwa, 2007; Son *et al.*, 2013). However, these markers are not specific to SCAPs. They generally expressed in most types of postnatal mesenchymal stem cell (He *et al.*, 2009; Huang *et al.*, 2009). Sonoyama and his colleagues proposed CD24 and Survivin as the specific markers for SCAPs (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006).

CD24 is a short glycophosphatidylinositol membrane protein with heavily glycosylation (Lim, 2005; Pierres *et al.*, 1987). CD24 first used for B cell identification (Fischer *et al.*, 1990) and involved in B cell maturation (Wenger *et al.*, 1995). The

somatic cells such as neuroblasts, epithelial cells, keratinocytes and hair follicle cells expressed CD24 as well (Fang *et al.*, 2010). CD24 participated in various cellular activities such as, proliferation, migration, apoptosis (Fang *et al.*, 2010; Jaggupilli and Elkord, 2012; Kristiansen *et al.*, 2004) including stem cell self-renewal and differentiation (Lee *et al.*, 2011; Liu *et al.*, 2014a; Petkova *et al.*, 2013; Pruszak *et al.*, 2009). The role of CD24 in SCAPs was supposed to involve in osteogenic differentiation (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). Up to date, the exact function of CD24 remains unclear.

Interestingly, CD24 was shown wide range of the percentage expressing cells between 3% and more than 20% (Abuarqoub *et al.*, 2015; Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Schneider *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). This indigenous variation may influence to SCAPs behaviors especially mesenchymal stem cell characteristics. The objective of this study was to compare the influences of the indigenous high and low percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs on the mesenchymal stem cell characteristics, such as the surface stem cell markers, self-renewal, cell proliferation and multi-lineage differentiation.

#### **3.3 Materials and methods**

#### **3.3.1 Sample collection and cell culture**

SCAPs were obtained from human permanent immature third molar teeth from 17–20 year-old patients at Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University with approved protocol by the Ethics Committee (Study code: HREC-DCU-P 2015-001). The cells were collected using an outgrowth technique. Briefly, the apical papilla tissue was minced by using surgical blades and placed on culture dishes to allow for cell expansion in growth medium, and then incubated at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The growth medium was  $\alpha$ -MEM (GIBCO/Invitrogen, CA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Hyclone, TX, USA), 2 mmol/L glutamine (GIBCO), 100 U/ml penicillin with 100 µg/ml streptomycin (GIBCO). Ten donor cell lines were used to characterize the SCAPs.

The percentage of CD24 and other surface mesenchymal stem cell markers expressions were measured by flow cytometry at passage 2. Cell lines at passage 4 were used in further experiments. Experiments were performed in triplicate. The three cell lines with the most and the least of CD24 expressing cells percentage (High-CD24 and Low-CD24) were selected for further experiments. The surface mesenchymal stem cell markers and functional assay for self-renewal were measured by flow cytometry and CFU respectively. The pluripotent marker genes, *Rex-1*, *Nanog*, *Sox2* and *Oct4* and *Survivin*, another marker for SCAPs, were determined by PCR. Due to the major function of apical papilla was to develop root dentin (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006), the baseline differentiated odontoblast gene markers, *Runx2*, *Osterix* and *DSPP* (Chen *et al.*, 2009), were also examined by PCR.

# 3.3.2 Flow cytometry analysis of surface mesenchymal stem cell markers and CD24

Cells were grown in 10 cm culture dish until confluence. Cells were subcultured and counted for flow cytometry. Each experiment used SCAPs at passage 2 with 100,000 cells per test performed on a BD FACsCalibur (BD Biosciences Pharmingen, CA, USA), following previous protocol (Mahanonda *et al.*, 2008).

Mesenchymal stem cell surface markers were measured by using fluorescent tagged-antibodies, Alex Fluor<sup>®</sup>647 conjugated mouse IgM anti-human STRO-1 antibody (BioLegend, CA, USA), PE conjugated mouse IgG1 anti-human CD90 (BioLegend), FITC conjugated mouse IgG1 anti-human CD44 (BD Bioscience), FITC conjugated mouse IgG1 mouse anti-human CD105 (ImmunoTools, Friesoythe, Germany), PE conjugated mouse IgG2a anti-human CD24 (BioLegend). FITC conjugated mouse IgG1 anti-human CD45 (BioLegend) was used to confirm that the cells were not the hematopoietic lineage. Immunoglobulin isotypes were served as a negative control.

#### 3.3.3 Self-renewal assays

#### **3.3.3.1** Colony-forming unit assay

The SCAPs were seeded on 6 cm diameter culture dish at 100 cells and cultured for 10 days in growth medium. The cells were fixed with 10% formalin, washed with deionized water and stained with 10% (g/v) crystal violet in methanol. The cells were then washed and dried. Cell aggregations of more than 50 cells were counted as one colony. The colony counting was performed under a microscope.

#### 3.3.3.2 Pluripotent gene markers expression

Total RNA from 500,000 SCAPs was extracted using the RNEasy kit (QIAGEN, CA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. The 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA was converted to cDNA by using iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-rad, CA, USA). The quantitative real-time polymerase chain reactions were performed by using iTaq Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad) with 40 cycles in a LightCycler<sup>®</sup>480 machine (Roche diagnostic, IN, USA) with 95°C for 15 seconds, 60°C for 60 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds. The primer sequences of *Rex1*, *Nanog*, *Oct4* and *Sox2* were shown in Table 3.1.

Gene Name	Sequence ID	Primer Sequences (5'-3')	Product Size	
Rex-1	NM_174900.4	GCTGACCACCAGCACACTAGGC TTTCTGGTGTCTTGTCT	298	
Nanog	NM_024865.3	ATGCCTCACACGGAGACTGT AGGTGGGTTGTTTGCCTTTG	101	
Oct4	NM_002701.5	AGACCCAGCAGCCTCAAAATC GCAACCTGGAGAATTTGTTCCT	181	
Sox2	NM_003106.3	ACCAGCTCGCAGACCTACAT ATGTGTGAGAGGGGGCAGTGT	319	
Runx2	NM_001024630.2	CCCCACGACAACCGCACCAT CACTCCGGCCCACAAATC	289	
Survivin	NM_001012270.1	CATGCAAAGGAAACCAACAA GGTGGCACCAGGGAATAAAC	161	
Osterix	NM_001173467.1	GCCAGAAGCTGTGAAACCTC GCTGCAAGCTCTCCATAACC	161	
DSPP	NM_014208.3	ATATTGAGGGCTGGAATGGGG A TTTGTGGCTCCAGCATTGTCA	136	
GAPDH	NM_002046.4	GAAGGCTGGGGGCTCATTT CAGGAGGCATTGCTGATGAT	137	

 Table 3.1 Primer sequences for real-time PCR.

#### 3.3.4 Proliferation assay

SCAPs were seeded in 24-well plates (Thermo Scientific, MA, USA) at 5,000 cells per well. After incubation for 24, 72, 120, and 168 hours, the growth media was replaced with growth medium without phenol red with 1:10 AlarmarBlue<sup>®</sup> solution (GIBCO/Invitrogen) and incubated for 180 minutes. The absorbance was measured by spectrophotometry with an Anthos Zenyth rt200 microplate reader at 570 nm (Biochrom, Cambridge, UK).

#### 3.3.5 Multi-lineage differentiation

#### 3.3.5.1 Osteogenic differentiation

The SCAPs were seeded on 24 well-plates with 50,000 cells per well (Thermo Scientific). The confluent SCAPs were induced to osteogenic differentiation by replacing with induction medium. The osteogenic induction medium (Nowwarote *et al.*, 2015) was growth medium supplemented with 100 nmol/L dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich), 50 µg/ml ascorbic acid (Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 mmol/L  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate (Sigma-Aldrich). The duration of the osteogenic induction was 14 days. To determine the extent of osteogenic differentiation, cells were washed with PBS and fixed with cold methanol. The cells were washed with deionized water and stained with 1% (g/v) Alizarin Red S solution at pH 4.2 (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were then washed and dried. The stained precipitation was dissolved with 10% (g/v) cetylpyridinium chloride monohydrate (Sigma-Aldrich) and the spectrophotometry was measured at 570 nm by microplate reader (Biochrom).

The baseline odontogenic lineage differentiation markers, *Runx2*, *Osterix* and *DSPP* of both High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group were determined by PCR with the same protocol in 2.3.2. The primer sequences were shown in Table 3.1.

### 3.3.5.2 Adipogenic differentiation

The cell numbers and culture plates in this experiment were the same as in the osteogenic differentiation assay. The adipogenic induction medium (Nowwarote *et al.*, 2015) was growth medium supplemented with 1  $\mu$ mol/L dexamethasone (Millipore, MA, USA) and 0.5 mmol/L 3-isobutyl-1-methyl-xanthine (IBMX) (Millipore). The confluent cells were treated with adipogenic induction medium for 48 hours then replaced with maintenance medium to allow for lipid accumulation for 48 hours. Maintenance medium was growth medium with 10  $\mu$ g/ml insulin (Millipore). This induction process was repeated for 3 cycles. The cells were washed with PBS and stained with Oil Red O solution (Millipore), then washed with washing buffer (Millipore). The staining was quantified by dissolving the stain in eluting solution (Millipore) and the spectrophotometry was measured at 520 nm by microplate reader (Biochrom).

#### 3.3.6 Tissue preparation and immunohistochemistry observation

The stage of root development of samples were recorded and categorized by modification of Demirjian and co-workers's tooth development stage criteria (Demirjian *et al.*, 1973) into the root formation less than 1/2 group ( $\leq$ 1/2) and the root formation between 1/2 and 3/4 group (>1/2-3/4) (Figure. 3.6A). Tooth was cut along the long axis by diamond disc with running water both mesial and distal sites. Tooth

was split and soft tissue both dental pulp and apical papilla were removed. The specimens were fixed with 10% formalin solution at room temperature for 24 hours. Tissues were embedded in paraffin block and kept in room temperature. Serial section was performed by tissue microtome with 4 µm thickness then mounted on glass slides. Each section was de-paraffin in xylene and rehydrated with serial ethanol solution (100%, 95% and 80%) and washed with distilled water. CD24 positive cells were identified with Polymer/HRP and DAB chromogen technique. Primary mouse antihuman CD24 IgG2a antibody (BioLegend) was diluted with 1:200 and incubated overnight. Isotype antibody (IgG2a) (BioLegend) was used as negative control with the same concentration. Antigen retrieval was performed by using citrate buffer with pH 6.0 and then heated by microwave for 10 minutes with 700 watts. Secondary goat anti mouse antibody was further incubated for 60 minutes. DAB substrate for peroxidase enzymatic reaction (Dako EnVision<sup>TM</sup>, Glostrup, Denmark) was then performed. Counterstaining was done with haematoxylin. The sections were investigated under light microscope (Olympus CX41, Olympus America Inc, PA, USA) for observing CD24 positive cells.

#### 3.3.7 Statistical analysis

The data were shown as a mean and standard deviation. The Mann-Whitney U test was performed to compare the dependent variables between two groups. The statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

#### **3.4. Results**

#### 3.4.1 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs

The percentage of CD24 positive cells varied among the SCAPs lines, ranging from 2.21%–47.94% (n=10) with a mean of 15.82±16.37% and median of 7.55% (Figure 3.1). Three cell lines from the most (cell line 1-3) and the least (cell line 8-10) percentage of CD24 expressing cells were selected to examine the influence of CD24 expressing cells (High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group) in the next experiments. The mean percentages of selected 3 cell lines from High-CD24 and Low-CD24 were  $36.81\pm13.9\%$  (47.94%, 41.26% and 21.23%) and  $3.49\pm1.61\%$  (5.29%, 2.96% and 2.21%), respectively (Figure 3.2A). *Survivin*, another proposed SCAPs marker, was detected in both groups but it was not statistically different (p > 0.05) between groups (Figure 3.2B).



Figure 3.1 Percentage variation of CD24 expressing cells at passage 2.





Figure 3.2 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells and Survivin expression between High-CD24 and Low-CD24.

(A) The mean of percentages of the 3 highest and lowest CD24 expressing cell lines were  $36.81\pm13.9\%$  and  $3.49\pm1.61\%$ , respectively. (B) Baseline mRNA expression of Survivin at passage 4 between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 (not significant, p > 0.05).

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาล

### 3.4.2 Surface mesenchymal stem cell markers of High and Low-CD24 group

The results from flow cytometry showed more than 95% of the SCAPs in both groups were positive to CD44 and CD90, approximately 65% positive to CD105 and were negative to CD45, a hematopoietic cell surface marker (Figure 3.3A). Furthermore, the High-CD24 group showed a significant higher STRO-1 expression level than the Low-CD24 group at p < 0.05 (Figure 3.3A). However, these STRO-1 positive cells in High-CD24 group totally vanished at passage 4, while CD24 positive cells were not different between passage 2 and passage 4 (Figure 3.3B).

Markers\Types	High-CD24	Low-CD24	B	60 ¬		
STRO-1	8.35%±1.76*	0.62%±0.37	-	50 -	T	∎I ⊓I
CD90	98.61%±1.03	99.51%±0.37		40 -	<u> </u>	
CD44	97.8%±1.45	94.93%±5.58		30 -		<b>بد بد بد</b>
CD105	64.66%±3.72	64.56%±3.47		20 - 10 -		
CD45	1.07%±1.34	0.25%±0.2		0		
					CD24	STRO-1

Figure 3.3 Surface mesenchymal stem cell markers between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 of SCAPs at passage 2.

(A) The percentage surface mesenchymal stem cell markers (\*significant, p < 0.05). (B) The percentage of CD24 expressing cells in the High-CD24 group when compared between passage 2 and passage 4 in the same cell line. The STRO-1 expressing cells were significantly reduced at passage 4 (\*\*\*p < 0.001).

### 3.4.3 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs on self-renewal

Low-CD24 group exhibited a significant greater number of CFU when compared to High-CD24 group (Figure 3.4A-left). The mean colony counting numbers of Low-CD24 (each cell line was 46, 30 and 33) and High-CD24 (each cell line was 18, 23 and 16) were shown in bar graph (Figure 3.4A-right). The gene expression of pluripotent markers, *Rex-1*, *Nanog*, *Sox2* and *Oct4* were also significant higher in the Low-CD24 group than in High-CD24 group (Figure 3.4B). However, cell proliferation was not different between groups (Figure 3.4C).



Figure 3.4 Comparison of self-renewal and cell proliferation between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 of SCAPs.

(A) The colony formation from each cell line of High and Low-CD24 group were shown in the left. Colony counting analysis between High-CD24 group and Low-CD24 group were shown in the right as bar graphs (\*p < 0.05). (B) The baseline mRNA expression pluripotent gene markers between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group. All gene expressions were normalized to GAPDH and then mRNA expression of the High-CD24 normalized to the Low-CD24 (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01). (C) Cell proliferation between Low and High-CD24 group (not significant in each time point, p > 0.05).

# 3.4.4 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs on multi-lineage differentiation

#### HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

High-CD24 group showed significant higher osteogenic differentiation than Low-CD24 group by calcium deposition assay (Figure 3.5A). The High-CD24 group expressed the baseline *Osterix* and *DSPP* gene expressions more than the Low-CD24 group (Figure 3.5B). In contrast, *Runx2* expressed in the High-CD24 lower than in the Low-CD24 group. Adipogenic differentiation also demonstrated higher oil droplet accumulation in the High-CD24 group (Figure 3.5C).



(A) Osteogenic differentiation; upper figures showed osteogenic differentiation induction capacity in High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group at 1X magnification, - Complete growth medium, + Osteogenic induction medium. The lower figures presented the quantification of the mineral content using dye elution (\*p < 0.05). (B) The baseline gene expression of differentiated odontoblast markers, Runx2, Osterix and DSPP between High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01). All gene expressions were normalized to GAPDH and then mRNA expression of the High-CD24 normalized to the Low-CD24. (C) Adipogenic differentiation; upper figures showed the oil drop accumulation of High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group at 20X magnification, - Complete growth medium, + Adipogenic induction medium. The lower figures showed lipid droplet quantification by using dye elution (\*p < 0.05) and the image at 40X showed lipid drop accumulation in the High-CD24 group.

#### 3.4.5 Stage of root development and percentage of CD24 expressing cells

Ten immature third molar teeth with various stage of root development were collected and categorized into the group of root formation, less than 1/2 group and between 1/2 and 3/4 group as shown in figure 3. 6A ( $\leq$ 1/2 group-left, >1/2-3/4 group-right). The results from H&E staining section demonstrated the different architecture between root dental pulp (DP) and apical papilla (AP) in Figure 3.6B. Root dental pulp contained more cell density and number of blood vessels than in apical papilla (Figure 3.6B). Immunohistochemical observation revealed that  $\leq$ 1/2 group (Figure 3.6C-left) exhibited more CD24 positive cells than >1/2-3/4 group (Figure 3.6C-right). Either odontoblasts or root dental pulp cells were not positive to CD24 according to observation by the location of pulp tissue (data not shown). The  $\leq$ 1/2 group showed significant by higher percentage of CD24 expressing cells and MFI than >1/2-3/4 group (Figure 3.6D).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 3.6 Stage of root development and percentage of CD24 expressing cells.

(A) Extracted third molar tooth with the root formation less than 1/2 group ( $\leq 1/2$ , left) and the root formation between 1/2 to 3/4 group (>1/2-3/4, right). (B) The H&E staining showed histological architecture between root dental pulp (DP) and dental papilla (AP) at 10X. (C) Upper figures showed immunohistochemistry sections stained with antibody against to human CD24 of root dental pulp and apical papilla of  $\leq 1/2$  group, left, and >1/2-3/4 group, right, at 4X. Middle panel showed CD24 expressing cells (black arrow) from box area of upper figures at 40X. Lower panel showed isotype control at the same area of  $\leq 1/2$  group, left and >1/2-3/4 group, right, at 40X. (D) Showed flow cytometry analysis of SCAPs at passage 2, left, and mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) normalized with isotype antibody staining, right, between  $\leq 1/2$  group and >1/2-3/4 group (>1/2-3/4) (\*p < 0.05). Scale bars, 200 µm.

3.5 Discussion

# iulalongkorn University

CD24 was proposed to use as a specific marker for SCAPs (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). However, CD24 also expressed in many cells types. During embryogenesis, CD24 expressing cells were observed in various cell types such as cells from nervous system, salivary gland cells, kidney cells, hair follicular cells including differentiating odontoblasts (Shirasawa *et al.*, 1993). Some CD24 expressing cells were absent in some cell types such as dental pulp cells (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006), odontoblasts and adipocytes (Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008), when they reached the maturation stage. In contrast, differentiated neural cells constantly expressed CD24 (Pruszak *et al.*, 2009;

Yuan *et al.*, 2011). Nevertheless, CD24 positive cells were found in matured organ in very few numbers (Qiu *et al.*, 2011; Romagnani and Remuzzi, 2014). These positive cells were claimed to be progenitor cells for repairing the injured tissue (Qiu *et al.*, 2011; Romagnani and Remuzzi, 2014). These evidences suggest that temporary or permanent CD24 expression may depend on cell type or tissue organ. The wide range percentage of CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs was also reported in this study. Thus, CD24 may not be the suitable specific marker to SCAPs regarding to its inconsistent expression. However, CD24 may be used to distinguish SCAPs from dental pulp cells. The other purposed SCAPs marker, Survivin, was also investigated in our study.

Survivin was suggested to function as an anti-apoptotic protein and cell proliferation regulator which was necessary for developmental process (Fukuda and Pelus, 2006). In this study, *Survivin* expression was the same in both groups of SCAPs. This result suggested that *Survivin* expression did not depend on the percentage of CD24 expressing cell or stage of root development. The same *Survivin* expression level might explain the same cell proliferation rate between high and low CD24 expressing SCAPs because of its proliferation regulation.

The different percentage of CD24 expressing cells may affect the SCAPs behaviors especially the mesenchymal stem cell characteristics. However, High and Low-CD24 groups were not different in expression of surface mesenchymal stem cell markers (CD44, CD90 and CD105). Interestingly, High-CD24 group demonstrated higher STRO-1 expressing cells than Low-CD24 group. The STRO-1-sorted SCAPs were shown a higher potential to osteogenic differentiation than the non-sorted cells in previous study (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013). To exclude the effects of STRO-1 on
osteogenic differentiation of SCAPs in our study, the further subculture was continued until STRO-1 was not detected which was at passage 4. Therefore, the SCAPs at passage 4 were used to investigate the effects of CD24 on SCAPs behaviors. Although STRO-1 expressing SCAPs were not detected on the cell surface at passage 4, the effects of STRO-1 might still have an impact to High-CD24 SCAPs behavior especially osteogenic differentiation. CD146<sup>+</sup>/STRO-1<sup>+</sup> sorted SCAPs at passage 2 demonstrated more mineralization capacity than non-sorted SCAPs when induced to osteogenic differentiation at passage 4-6 (Bakopoulou et al., 2013). However, the number of STRO-1<sup>+</sup> SCAPs of CD146<sup>+</sup>/STRO-1<sup>+</sup> sorted cells did not measure before induction. Interestingly, the same study also showed that CD146<sup>+</sup>/STRO-1<sup>+</sup> sorted SCAPs contained CD24 expressing cells more than non-sorted SCAPs. It was possible that some cells of High-CD24 groups of this study also positive to both CD24 and STRO-1, only positive to CD24 and only positive to STRO-1. To confirm the effect of higher osteogenic differentiation of High-CD24 group was the result from CD24 or STRO-1, the cell sorting at passage 2 of each group, CD24<sup>+</sup>/STRO-1<sup>+</sup>, CD24<sup>+</sup>/STRO-1<sup>-</sup>, CD24<sup>-</sup> /STRO-1<sup>+</sup> and non-sorted cells of High-CD24 group, should be performed in the passage 4.

Self-renewal is an ability to give rise the two progenies from one mother cell that one daughter cell will undergo differentiation while the other still be the stem cell after mitosis. However, self-renewal is difficult to examine *in vitro* study by this definition. It was usually determined by CFU assay *in vitro* study (Becker *et al.*, 1963; Ogawa, 1993). Self-renewal assay also determined by the clonality of single cell that increased along pluripotent gene markers expression as in the previous studies (Nowwarote *et al.*, 2015; Sukarawan *et al.*, 2014). The High-CD24 group demonstrated

the lower numbers of CFU than the Low-CD24 group. The genes that regulated stem cell self-renewal, *Rex-1*, *Nanog*, *Sox2* and *Oct4*, were also lower than Low-CD24 group. These results indicated that Low-CD24 group showed more self-renewal capacity than High-CD24 group. The less self-renewal of higher CD24 expressing cells in this study was similar to previous reports that some cell types such as keratinocytes and luminal cells of prostate gland were demonstrated as a differentiated or committed progenitor cells with less self-renewal (Bergoglio *et al.*, 2007; Petkova *et al.*, 2013). However, cell proliferation was not different between both groups in our results. Cell proliferation could determine only the capacity of the whole cell population to grow but did not determine the self-renewal ability.

In the osteogenic differentiation assay, the High-CD24 group of SCAPs demonstrated a higher capacity of this differentiation than the Low-CD24 group by calcium deposition assay. The baseline gene expressions that related to odontoblast differentiation without osteogenic induction, *Dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP)*, *Osterix* and *Runx2* were also investigated. The late stage of odontogenic differentiation markers, *DSPP* and *Osterix* of High-CD24 were higher than Low-CD24 group. In contrast, the early stage marker, *Runx2*, was lower than Low-CD24 group. These results indicated that High-CD24 group exhibited more advance stage of differentiation and more susceptible to induce. These results were the same as the other cell type reports. The higher CD24 expressing cells demonstrated the features of committed progenitor cells or more advance stage of cell differentiation of keratinocytes (Bergoglio *et al.*, 2007), the luminal cells of prostate gland (Petkova *et al.*, 2013), progenitor cells of adipocyte (Berry and Rodeheffer, 2013; Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008), neural progenitor cells (Pruszak *et al.*, 2009). Recently, bone marrow stem cells that expressed CD24

were also demonstrated to committed progenitor cell to osteoblast (Chang *et al.*, 2015). Thus, higher CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs may contain more the higher committed progenitor cells as well.

Furthermore, High-CD24 group showed a higher differentiated capacity to adipogenic differentiation. SCAPs could be forced into adipogenic differentiation by the specific induction medium, although adipogenic differentiation of SCAPs did not participate in root development. Others dental mesenchymal stem cells, dental pulp stem cells (Gronthos *et al.*, 2002) and periodontal ligament stem cells (Seo *et al.*, 2004) could also induce to the adipogenic differentiation. The results from this study suggested that indigenous higher number of CD24 expressing cells in early stage of root development was more susceptible to adipogenic differentiation. The high CD24 expression was proposed as the committed or more advance stage of progenitor cells of adipocyte and osteoblast (Chang *et al.*, 2015; Rodeheffer *et al.*, 2008). Our study demonstrated that the multi-lineage differentiation, both osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation, was better in higher CD24 expressing cell numbers than lower CD24 expressing cell numbers. Thus, the proper induction of high CD24 expressing SCAPs can induce them to other cell lineages and may benefit to regenerative medicine in further study.

The factors that may affect the percentage of CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs have not been investigated. The previous studies reported that the density of dentinal tubules in cervical root dentin was more than in apical root dentin (Harran Ponce *et al.*, 2001; Mannocci *et al.*, 2004). Each dentinal tubule was normally occupied by only one odontoblast (Mjor *et al.*, 2001). This implies that the progenitor cell number for

odontoblast may decrease in later stage of root development. Thus, the stage of root development may influence the number of CD24 expressing cells of SCAPs. According to root development stage criteria in this study, the samples with root formation less than 1/2 group and the root formation between 1/2 and 3/4 were categorized in figure  $3.6A (\leq 1/2 \text{ group-left}, >1/2-3/4 \text{ group-right})$ . The first group represented the early root development stage and the latter represented the later stage of root development. The percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs and mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) were higher in early stage of root formation in this report. Moreover, apical papilla tissue from the early root formation contained more density of CD24 positive cells. These results suggested that SCAPs obtained from early stage of root development teeth might contain more committed progenitor cell numbers to osteogenic differentiation or to be odontoblasts. These findings may explain the higher density of odontoblast in cervical root dentin than apical root dentin.

Dental mesenchyme migration is crucial for mesenchyme condensation and these events are pre-requisite for odontoblast differentiation during tooth development (Mammoto *et al.*, 2011). The high percentage of CD24 expressing cells demonstrated the higher cell migration ability in cancer cell line (Mierke *et al.*, 2011) by cooperating with integrin and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) pathway (Baumann *et al.*, 2012; Bretz *et al.*, 2012; Runz *et al.*, 2008). Thus, CD24 may regulate cell migration of SCAPs during root development and should be further investigated, as well.

The results from this study showed that the CD24 expression transiently expressed in SCAPs from early stage of root development and might contain more committed progenitor cells than the late stage of root development. However, this study reported only the roles of indigenous or native CD24 expressing cells on stem cell behaviors. The further investigation need to confirm about the effects of CD24 expressing cell numbers on self-renewal and differentiation capacity of SCAPs by silencing of CD24 in High-CD24 expression and overexpression of CD24 in Low-CD24 expression. These further studies are very useful to recapitulate results and confirm the results from indigenous expression of CD24.

In conclusion, the percentage of CD24 expressing cells was related to root development stage. SCAPs from early stage of root development contained more CD24 expressing cells and demonstrated higher differentiation capacity. However, both High-CD24 and Low-CD24 group showed the mesenchymal stem cell characteristics of SCAPs. The amount of CD24 may refer to the number of committed progenitor cells of the SCAPs in apical papilla tissue.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# **CHAPTER 4**

# THE EFFECTS OF LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE ON STEM CELLS FROM APICAL PAPILLA PROLIFERATION, MIGRATION AND OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION WITH DIFFERENT INDEGENOUS CD24 EXPRESSING CELLS<sup>2</sup>

## 4.1 Abstract

Dentin regenerative process after root canal infection requires SCAPs proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation for regenerative endodontic procedure. However, the effects of root canal infection especially LPS to these capacities have never been studied. LPS with 0.001, 0.01, 0.1, 1 and 5 µg/ml did not affect on SCAPs viability of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. After challenging with various LPS concentrations to High and Low-CD24 SCAPs 168 hours, these SCAPs were investigated for cell proliferation and migration and osteogenic differentiation. LPS did not affect cell proliferation and cell migration numbers of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. High-CD24 SCAPs showed higher mineralization ability than Low-CD24 SCAPs by Alizarin Red staining. Interestingly, 1 and 5 µg/ml of LPS significantly increased Alizarin Red staining and *BSP* gene expression of High-CD24 SCAPs when compared to non-LPS exposure SCAPs (control). In contrast, LPS did not affect to Alizarin Red staining in Low-CD24 SCAPs. However, only 5 µg/ml LPS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This chapter based on manuscript, submitted to Tissue and Cell.

increased *BSP* gene expression when compared to Non-LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs. LPS pre-exposure at any concentration to both groups of SCAPs did not affect the *DSPP*, *OCN*, and *OPN* gene expressions.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### **4.2 Introduction**

Tooth root development could be interrupted by root canal infection following dental caries or traumatic injuries. Regenerative endodontic procedure could regain root development by increasing the root canal wall thickness and the root length (Bose *et al.*, 2009; Jeeruphan *et al.*, 2012; Kontakiotis *et al.*, 2015). The principle of REP was recruitment of stem cells around tooth apex into root canal space (Hargreaves *et al.*, 2013). Stem cells from apical papilla or SCAPs were presumed as the stem cells for this regeneration (Huang *et al.*, 2008; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2008) because these cells responded to physiological root dentin development (Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). SCAPs were demonstrated as the mesenchymal stem cells by using various methods such as, positive to some surface mesenchymal stem cell markers could be induced to multi-lineage of differentiation (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016; Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Ding *et al.*, 2009; Prateeptongkum *et al.*, 2015; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006). SCAPs also showed cell proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation capacity (Huang *et al.*, 2008; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2008).

In REP, the recruited SCAPs were usually exposed to LPS via root canal infection. Other dental stem cells such as dental pulp, periodontal ligament and dental follicle stem cells have been shown that LPS could increase, decrease or not alter these cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation. The results depended on type of stem cells, source of LPS and concentrations (Albiero *et al.*, 2015; Chatzivasileiou *et al.*, 2013; He *et al.*, 2015; Kato *et al.*, 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2014b; Morsczeck *et al.*, 2012; Yamagishi *et al.*, 2011). In addition, LPS could increase dental pulp cells migration to injury site of carious lesion for repairing dentin formation (Chmilewsky *et al.*, 2015; Li

*et al.*, 2014a; Liu *et al.*, 2014b). However, there is no evidence to show the effects of LPS on SCAPs behaviors. Thus, LPS was suggested to influence the SCAPs behaviors, cell proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation, which required for root dentin regeneration (Huang and Garcia-Godoy, 2014; Smith *et al.*, 2016). The effects of LPS on SCAPs were demonstrated only the immunological responses such as cytokines and inflammatory mediator releases (Wang *et al.*, 2013a; Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

In previous study, we presented the various percentages of CD24 expressing SCAPs and showed high percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs were better osteogenic differentiation than low percentage of CD24 expressing. In contrast, the percentage of CD24 expressing cells did not affect to SCAPs proliferation (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016). These SCAPs might expose to LPS before the regenerative procedure initiation. The pre-exposure of LPS might affect the stem cells behaviors of SCAPs with different CD24 expressing cells and might impact to root dentin regeneration.

The objective of this study was to investigate the influence of LPS pre-exposure to different CD24 expressing SCAPs (High-CD24 or Low-CD24 SCAPs) on cell proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation that were crucial for the dentin regeneration.

#### 4.3 Materials and Methods

#### **4.3.1 Sample collection and cell culture**

SCAPs were obtained from human permanent immature third molar teeth from 17–20 year-old patients at Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University with approved protocol by the Ethics Committee (Study code: HREC-DCU-P 2015-001). The amount of CD24 expressing cells in apical papilla tissue was determined by immunohistochemistry analysis as previously described (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016). The mesenchymal stem cell markers and CD24 of these cells were determined before using in further experiments. Three cell lines with High-CD24 and Low-CD24 SCAPs were used in the following experiments. The experiments were performed in triplicate.

#### 4.3.2 Effect of LPS exposure on SCAPs viability

Three cell lines of both high and low percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs at passage 4 (High-CD24 and Low-CD24 SCAPs) were seeded at 5,000 cells/well in 24-well plates. These cells were incubated in growth medium (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016) with 0.001, 0.01, 0.1, 1 and 5 µg/ml of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* LPS (Invivogen, San Diego, CA, USA). Growth medium without LPS was used as a control. The same medium with or without LPS were replaced every 48 hours. At the end of exposure time at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours, all SCAPs aviability in every groups were determined by AlarmarBlue<sup>®</sup> solution (GIBCO/Invitrogen, CA, USA) following the previous methods (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016).

#### 4.3.3 Effect of LPS exposure on percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs

Three cell lines of both high and low percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs at passage 4 (High-CD24 and Low-CD24 SCAPs) were seeded at 120,000 cells/well in 6-well plates. These cells were incubated in growth medium (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016) with 0.001, 0.01, 0.1, 1 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* LPS. Growth medium without LPS was used as a control. The same medium with or without LPS were replaced every 48 hours. All experimental groups were incubated for 168 hours At the end of exposure time, all SCAPs in every groups were detached and 100,000 cells from all conditions of each cell line were determined the percentage of CD24 expressing cells by flow cytometry.

#### 4.3.4 SCAPs proliferation after LPS exposure

All experimental and control group of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs at 168 hours were detached and seeded at 5,000 cells in 24-well plates in growth medium without LPS. All conditions were replaced with growth medium without LPS every 48 hours including control group. Cell proliferation was measured as the percentage of control at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hour by AlarmarBlue<sup>®</sup> solution following the previous methods (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016).

#### 4.3.5 SCAPs migration after LPS exposure

After incubation with and without LPS for 168 hours, both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs were seeded at 20,000 cells on the upper chamber of 8-micron pore sized polycarbonate membrane, Transwell<sup>®</sup>insert system (Corning, MA, USA) for 6 hours to allow cells to attach on the membrane of upper chamber. Then, upper chamber of

Transwell<sup>®</sup>insert system with attached cells was transferred to 24-well plates with 600  $\mu$ l of growth medium. After 24 hours, each membrane was fixed with 10% formalin for 15 minutes. Non-migrated cells on upper surface membrane were swabbed with moist cotton bud. Then, migrated cells were stained with 10% (g/v) crystal violet in methanol. To quantify the migrated cells, five pictures of five random areas of each experimental group were taken (Li *et al.*, 2014a) at 10X magnification (Olympus CK21, Olympus America Inc, PA, USA). Cell counting was performed at this magnification. The migrated cells of five areas were averaged and represented as migrated cell numbers of each condition (Li *et al.*, 2014a). Previous studies demonstrated that the C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) participated in SCAPs migration (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2015a). Thus, the *CXCR4* gene expression of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs in all conditions was examined. Total RNA of all conditions were converted to cDNA and determined *CXCR4* gene expression by PCR. *CXCR4* primer sequences were shown in Table 4.1.

#### 4.3.6 SCAPs osteogenic differentiation after LPS exposure

SCAPs at the same conditions of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs were seeded at 50,000 cells per well in 24-well plates. Osteogenic induction medium without LPS and osteogenic differentiation methods were followed as the previous study (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016). After 14 days of induction, the mineralization was determined by Alizarin Red staining and quantified as previously described (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016). The total RNA after osteogenic induction of each group was harvested. Osteogenic differentiation markers, *DSPP*, *BSP*, *OCN*, *OPN* and *CAP* were determined by PCR with the same methods of 2.4. Primer sequences of *DSPP*, *BSP*, *OCN*, *OPN* and *CAP* were shown in Table 4.1.

#### 4.3.7 Statistical Analyses

The data were shown as mean and standard deviation. The Kruskal-Wallis test was performed to investigate the effects of LPS and followed by Dunn-Sidak's test for both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. Mann-Whitney U test was performed to compare the migrated cell numbers between High and Low-CD24 SCAPs in each LPS concentration and control. Mann-Whitney U test was also performed to compare the difference of *CXCR4* gene expression between control groups of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. The significance level was set at p < .05.

Gene Name	Sequence ID	Primer Sequences (5'-3')	<b>Product Size</b>
CXCR4	NM_001008540.1	TACACCGAGGAAATGGGCTCA AGATGATGGAGTAGATGGTGGG	110
DSPP	NM_014208.3	ATATTGAGGGCTGGAATGGGGA TTTGTGGCTCCAGCATTGTCA	136
BSP	NM_004967.3	ATGGCCTGTGCTTTCTCAATG AGGATAAAAGTAGGCATGCTT	123
OCN	NM_199173.2	CTTTGTGTCCAAGCAGGAGG CTGAAAGCCGATGTGGTCAG	166
OPN	NM_001040060.1	AGGAGGAGGCAGAGCACA CTGGTATGGCACAGGTGATG	150
CAP	NM_014241.3	CTGCGCGCTGCACATGG GCGATGTCGTAGAAGGTGAGCC	256
GAPDH	NM_002046.4	GAAGGCTGGGGGCTCATTT CAGGAGGCATTGCTGATGAT	137

**Table 4.1** Primer sequences for real-time PCR.

#### 4.4.1 SCAPs viability during LPS exposure.

All concentrations of LPS did not affect to SCAPs viability of both High-CD24 SCAPs (Figure 4.1A) and Low-CD24 SCAPs (Figure 4.1B) at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours.



Figure 4.1 Cell viability during LPS exposure of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

(A) Cell viability during LPS exposure at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours of High-CD24 SCAPs. (not significant in each time point, p > 0.05). (B) Cell viability during LPS exposure at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours of Low-CD24 SCAPs (not significant in each time point, p > 0.05).

## 4.4.2 The percentage of CD24 expressing cells after LPS exposure

The immunohistochemistry analysis of CD24 confirmed the numerous CD24 positive cells in apical papilla tissue from  $\leq 1/2$  root formation stage group and lower number of CD24 positive cells in >1/2 - 3/4 root formation stage group (Figure 4.2A). Three cell lines from High-CD24 SCAPs (22.32% ± 2.29) and Low-CD24 SCAPs (1.54% ± 0.69) were selected for the following experiments (Figure 4.2B). After exposure to LPS for 168 hours, the percentage of CD24 expressing cells of all LPS treated groups and control were not significantly different from before exposure in both High-CD24 (Fig. 4.2C) and Low-CD24 SCAPs (Figure . 4.2D).





Figure 4.2 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells after LPS exposure.

(A) CD24 expressing cells from apical papilla tissue. Upper left and right figures were stained with CD24 antibody of <1/2 and  $\ge 1/2 - 3/4$  root formation stage groups (<1/2 and  $\ge 1/2 - 3/4$  groups), respectively. Black arrow head pointed to CD24 expressing cells. Lower left and right figures were stained with isotype antibody. (B) The average percentage of CD24 expressing cells of the High-CD24 and Low-CD24 SCAPs, used in this study, at passage two. (C) Illustrated High-CD24 expressing cells (black line) and background fluorescence of High-CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of High-CD24 SCAPs of three cell lines after LPS exposure. Upper figures represented the CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of High-CD24 SCAPs of three cell lines after LPS exposure. Upper figures represented the CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of High-CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of Low-CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of Low-CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of Low-CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of Low-CD24 SCAPs (grey line). Lower bar graph showed percentages of CD24 of Low-CD24 SCAPs (grey line).

## 4.4.3 The effect of LPS on SCAPs proliferation

SCAPs proliferation after exposure to LPS at any concentrations and control groups were not different in both High-CD24 (Figure 4.3A) and Low-CD24 SCAPs (Figure 4.3B) at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours.



Figure 4.3 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

(A) Cell proliferation after LPS exposure at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours of High-CD24 SCAPs. (not significant in each time point, p > 0.05). (B) Cell proliferation after LPS exposure at 24, 72, 120 and 168 hours of Low-CD24 SCAPs (not significant in each time point, p > 0.05).

## 4.4.4 The effect of LPS on SCAPs migration.

High-CD24 SCAPs showed significant more migrated cell numbers than Low-CD24 SCAPs in control and all LPS pre-exposure groups (Figure 4.4A, 4.4B). However, all concentration of LPS and control in the same percentage of CD24 expressing cells showed no effect of LPS to SCAPs migration. The control group of High-CD24 SCAPs demonstrated more CXCR4 gene expression than Low-CD24 SCAPs (Figure 4.4C-upper). In addition, exposure to LPS at any concentrations did not affect CXCR4 gene expression in both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs from control group (Figure 4.4C-lower).



**Chulalongkorn University** 



Figure 4.4 Cell migration after LPS exposure of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

(A) Showed migrated cells from High-CD24 SCAPs (upper panel) and Low-CD24 SCAPs (lower panel) after exposure to LPS. Bar line in each figure was 25  $\mu$ m. (B) Numbers of migrated cell of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs after LPS exposure. The numbers of migrated cell of High-CD24 SCAPs after LPS exposure and control were significant more cells when compared with Low-CD24 SCAPs in the same condition (\*p < 0.05). (C) Upper figure showed CXCR4 gene expression between High and Low-CD24 SCAPs of control groups (\*p < 0.05). Lower figure showed CXCR4 gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs, compared with control, after LPS exposure (p > 0.05).

#### 4.4.5 The effect LPS on SCAPs osteogenic differentiation.

In High-CD24 SCAPs, exposure with 1 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of LPS significantly increased Alizarin Red staining when compared to control and 0.001  $\mu$ g/ml LPS groups (Fig. 4.5A). In contrast, the Alizarin Red staining of all LPS concentrations and control groups were not different in Low-CD24 SCAPs (Figure 4.5B). *DSPP*, *OCN*, *OPN* and *CAP* gene expression of all LPS concentrations and control groups of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs were not different (Figure 4.6A, 4.6B). However, 5  $\mu$ g/ml LPS exposure of both High-CD24 and Low-CD24 SCAPs demonstrated significantly more *BSP* gene expression than control group (Figure 4.6A, 4.6B) but 1  $\mu$ g/ml LPS increased *BSP* gene expression only in High-CD24 SCAPs when compared to control (Figure 4.6A).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY





Figure 4.5 Effects of LPS pre-exposure to mineralization of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

(A) Upper figures showed Alizarin Red staining after LPS exposure and further osteogenic differentiation induction of High-CD24 SCAPs. Lower graph presented the quantification of the mineral content using dye elution between the groups (p < 0.05). Bar graphs with the same symbols ( $\dagger$ , # and \$) were significantly different by pair-wise comparison test (p < 0.05). (B) Upper figures showed Alizarin Red staining after LPS exposure and further osteogenic differentiation induction of Low-CD24 SCAPs. Lower graph presented the quantification of the mineral content using dye elution between the groups (p > 0.05).



High-CD24								
		LPS (µg/ml)						
	Control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5		
DSPP	1	1.13±0.3	1.31±0.5	$1.32 \pm 0.54$	0.3±0.64	$1.69{\pm}0.58$		
BSP	1 <sup>†,#</sup>	1.5±0.2¶,\$	1.7±0.3	$2.9{\pm}0.8$	3.3±1 <sup>†,¶</sup>	4±1.1 <sup>#,\$</sup>		
OCN	1	$1.08 \pm 0.22$	0.94±0.23	$0.85 \pm 0.21$	$1.09 \pm 0.26$	$1.18 \pm 0.55$		
<b>OPN</b>	1	$1.22{\pm}0.60$	1.23±0.79	1.3±0.6	$1.32 \pm 0.98$	$1.83 \pm 1.38$		
CAP	1	1.01±0.11	$0.86 \pm 0.28$	1±0.26	0.91±0.2	$1.15 \pm 0.18$		

LUW-CD24								
		LPS (µg/ml)						
	Control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5		
DSPP	1	$1.03 \pm 0.18$	1.19±0.28	$1.40{\pm}0.17$	1.5±0.87	3.08±2.34		
BSP	1*	$1.51 \pm 0.27$	$1.42 \pm 0.3$	$1.91 \pm 0.78$	$2.14 \pm 0.71$	5±1.72†		
OCN	1	$1.08 \pm 0.51$	0.95±0.36	0.97±0.21	$0.97 \pm 0.21$	$1.12\pm0.42$		
<b>OPN</b>	1	1.64±0.24	1.24±0.39	$1.46\pm0.12$	$1.78 \pm 0.9$	2.22±1.45		
CAP	1	$0.7{\pm}0.08$	0.87±0.21	$0.97{\pm}0.14$	$0.78 \pm 0.28$	0.75±0.09		

Low CD14

Figure 4.6 Effects of LPS pre-exposure to osteogenic gene markers of High and Low-

CD24 SCAPs.

A

B

(A) Gene expression of High-CD24 SCAPs after LPS exposure and further osteogenic differentiation induction. Only BSP gene expression was different among the groups (p < 0.05). The groups with the same symbols ( $\dagger$ , #, ¶ and \$) were significantly different by pair-wise comparison test in Dunn-Sidek's method (p < 0.05). (B) Gene expression of Low-CD24 SCAPs after LPS exposure and further osteogenic differentiation induction. BSP gene expressions were different among the groups (p < 0.05) and the groups with the same symbols ( $\dagger$ ) were significantly different by pair-wise comparison test in Dunn-Sidek's exposure and further osteogenic differentiation induction. BSP gene expressions were different among the groups (p < 0.05) and the groups with the same symbols ( $\dagger$ ) were significantly different by pair-wise comparison test in Dunn-Sidek's method. (p < 0.05).

#### 4.5 Discussion

Tissue around infected root canal tooth was continuously challenged by the microorganism byproducts such as enzymes and bacterial endotoxin (Aw, 2016; Sundqvist, 1994). LPS, belonged to gram-negative bacteria cell wall was extensively studied and demonstrated that it could induce inflammatory reaction and bone resorption around root apex (da Silva *et al.*, 2008; Hong *et al.*, 2004; Tang *et al.*, 2014). *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, gram-negative bacteria, was frequently detected in the root canal (Gomes *et al.*, 2005; Siqueira *et al.*, 2008), so LPS from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* was used in this study. The amounts of LPS from infected root canals in previous reports were range between 0.001 and 0.1 µg/ml by limulus ameobocyte lysate or LAL assay (Marinho *et al.*, 2012; Martinho *et al.*, 2011). However, the higher concentration of LPS in root canal was found and associated with severe pain and abscess formation around the root apex (Jacinto *et al.*, 2005). In addition, 1 and 5 µg/ml of LPS demonstrated the biological responses of SCAPs such as IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  releasing, activated Wnt- $\beta$  catenin pathway (Wang *et al.*, 2013a; Yamagishi *et al.*, 2011; Zhang *et al.*, 2013). Thus, these concentrations were included in this study.

Due to anatomical landscape of apical tissue, SCAPs located at the most apical part of immature tooth root that constantly challenged to LPS from infected root canal during infected period before regenerative procedure initiation. To simulate this situation, SCAPs were exposed to LPS in those concentrations before investigation of cell proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation. Because of the limitation of cell culture technique, the pre-exposure time of LPS in this study was only 168 hours that SCAPs could maintain the monolayer condition (data not shown). During incubation with LPS, all concentrations of LPS in this study did not affect on cell viability at 24, 72,120 and 168 hours both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. After LPS incubation for 168 hour, SCAPs were incubated in fresh growth medium without LPS and replaced this medium every 48 hours to eradicate the remained effects of LPS and inflammatory mediators from SCAPs releasing. These results coincided with animal studies that SCAPs could survive after experimental pulp necrosis in immature teeth (Tobias Duarte *et al.*, 2014; Yoo *et al.*, 2016). Then, the cell proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation were investigated.

Cell proliferation is an important circumstance to increase the proper cell numbers before odontoblast progenitor differentiation and contribute to the root formation process during tooth development (Sohn *et al.*, 2014). The results of preexposure with LPS did not affect cell proliferation in both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs when compared to control groups. Thus, LPS from root canal infection may not influence to the SCAPs proliferation in REP. The cell numbers of recruited SCAPs in this procedure may be more significant.

Cell migration is also crucial for the regenerative process by stem cells or wound healing. These cells were recruited by various chemokines into the injured site (Rennert *et al.*, 2012). In REP, SCAPs around the root apex were recruited into the root canal space for dentin regenerative process. The source of stem cells that contained high numbers of migrated stem cells could increase the possibility of tissue regeneration (Ikebe and Suzuki, 2014). Many cancer cells such as breast cancer, ovarian cancer or bile duct cancer demonstrated higher numbers of migrated cells and CD24 expressing cells, and expressed *CXCR4* gene expression (Kang *et al.*, 2013; Leelawat *et al.*, 2013; Schabath *et al.*, 2006). The results of our study the were same as the cancer cells reports that High-CD24 SCAPs also showed higher numbers of migrated cell than Low-CD24 SCAPs. In addition, High-CD24 SCAPs showed more *CXCR4* gene expression than Low-CD24 SCAPs. However, LPS did not alter numbers of migrated cell of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs from their control groups. Thus, the modulation of CXCR4 of SCAPs might increase the SCAPs migration without concerning about the effects of LPS.

Stem cells from other sources of oral tissue, such as dental pulp, periodontal ligament and dental follicle, that could differentiate into osteogenic lineage, demonstrated the alteration of osteogenic differentiation during LPS exposures and responded to LPS in different manners. These responses depended on concentration of LPS, source of LPS and stem cells. The osteogenic differentiation of dental pulp cells decreased when they were exposed to LPS at 0.1 µg/ml, but did not affect by 0.01 µg/ml of the E.coli LPS (He et al., 2015). LPS from Porphyromonas gingivalis increased osteogenic differentiation (Kato et al., 2014) but LPS from E.coli decreased osteogenic differentiation in periodontal ligament cells (Albiero et al., 2015). The source of stem cells also showed the different effects of the same LPS. LPS from *E.coli* at 1 µg/ml increased osteogenic differentiation in periodontal ligament cells (Albiero et al., 2015) but decreased osteogenic differentiation in dental follicle cells (Morsczeck et al., 2012). The results of our study showed that only the high concentration of LPS at 1 and 5 µg/ml pre-exposure could increase mineralization capacity in High-CD24 SCAPs while LPS did not affect Low-CD24 SCAPs mineralization capacity by Alizarin Red staining study. This suggested that High-CD24 SCAPs were more sensitive to high concentration of Porphyromonas gingivalis LPS than Low-CD24 SCAPs. Our results

coincided with the previous studies that LPS could increase osteogenic differentiation in periodontal ligament and dental pulp cells by Alizarin Red staining (Albiero *et al.*, 2015; He *et al.*, 2015). However, LPS demonstrated to decrease Alizarin Red staining in some studies (Kato *et al.*, 2014; Morsczeck *et al.*, 2012; Yamagishi *et al.*, 2011). These different results might depend on experiment design, source of LPS and cell type as the earlier discussion.

Unfortunately, in vitro mineralization assay cannot distinguish types of calcified tissues. Calcified tissues in osteogenic lineage of oral tissue stem cells can be bone, dentin or cementum. Each lineage demonstrates the different organic and inorganic parts that some of the matrix proteins can be used for calcified tissue identification (Foster, 2012; Goldberg et al., 2011; Yoo et al., 2016). Thus, BSP, the general bone and cementum marker, that expressed in bone and cementum more than dentin (Foster, 2012) was examined by PCR in this study. The BSP gene expression increased after exposure to the high concentration of LPS, 1 and 5 µg/ml, and 5µg/ml of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs, respectively. BSP gene expression after LPS exposure at 1 and 5 µg/ml significantly increased and corresponded to Alizarin red staining in High-CD24 SCAPs. In contrast, BSP gene expression of Low-CD24 SCAPs significantly increased only the exposure to LPS at 5 µg/ml but Alizarin red staining in the same condition was not different when compare to control. Our previous report suggested that High-CD24 SCAPs contained more committed odontoblast progenitor cells than Low-CD24 SCAPs (Aguilar and Lertchirakarn, 2016). The committed odontoblast progenitor cell numbers of Low-CD24 SCAPs expressed BSP enough to be detected by PCR. However, the mineralization capacity of these progenitor cells might not be sufficient to detect by Alizarin red staining. Unlike High-CD24 SCAPs, the great committed

odontoblast progenitor cell numbers were adequate for detection BSP gene expression of both PCR and mineralization capacity by Alizarin red staining. Osteocalcin (OCN) and osteopontin (OPN), the other bone markers (D'Errico et al., 1997), did not alter after LPS exposures. In addition, dentin specific marker, *DSPP*, was not change by any concentration LPS exposures. All our results were the same as the previous study of dental pulp stem cells that demonstrated LPS increased BSP gene expression and did not alter DSPP and OCN gene expression (Abe et al., 2010). We further investigated the effect of LPS to the specific marker of cementum, cementum attachment protein (CAP), to confirm the cementum phenotype (Arzate et al., 2015). CAP was not altered by LPS, as well. Therefore, SCAPs tend to generate other calcified tissue either bone or cementum rather than dentin if they expose to high concentration of LPS, especially SCAPs with high percentage of CD24 expressing cells. The results from this study could explain and support the phenomenon of clinical case reports (Lei et al., 2015; Shimizu et al., 2013) and animal studies (Thibodeau et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2010) that the regenerative calcified tissue in these reports and studies were bone and cementum rather than dentin.

In conclusions, SCAPs from early stage of root development or High-CD24 SCAPs provided better cell migration numbers and osteogenic differentiation than late stage of root development associated with more CD24 expressing SCAPs. LPS pre-exposure did not affect to cell proliferation and migration of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. In contrast, high concentration of LPS pre-exposure, 1 or/and 5  $\mu$ g/ml, significantly increased *BSP* gene expression and tended to generate bone or cementum rather than dentin.

## **CHAPTER 5**

# **GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

#### 5.1 General discussion

The current REP protocols (Kontakiotis *et al.*, 2015) were used and demonstrated the favorable clinical success. The infected incomplete root formation teeth showed continuing the root development along with resolving the periapical periodontitis (Bose *et al.*, 2009; Jeeruphan *et al.*, 2012; Kahler *et al.*, 2014; Kontakiotis *et al.*, 2015). After proper root canal disinfection, SCAPs were recruited into the root canal via bleeding initiation from periapical tissue (Hargreaves *et al.*, 2013; Kontakiotis *et al.*, 2015). Blood clot was served as a scaffold and also being the source of growth factor such as PDGF and SDF-1 (Yang *et al.*, 2016). Root canal dentin wall also released of growth factors such as TGF- $\beta$ 1, bFGF or VEGF and dentin matrix proteins which could contribute or involve to cell proliferation, migration and osteogenic differentiation (Hargreaves *et al.*, 2013; Huang and Garcia-Godoy, 2014; Smith *et al.*, 2016; Zizka and Sedy, 2017). Hence, inside the root canal space environment has already been appropriate for dentin regeneration by SCAPs. The abilities of SCAPs themselves before recruitment via blood clot initiation were hypothesized and suggested to be the important roles for REP, especially root dentin formation.

The variation of percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs was reported (Bakopoulou *et al.*, 2013; Schneider *et al.*, 2014; Sonoyama *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). However, the factor that related to amount of CD24 expressing cells has never been examined. The results of this thesis in chapter III found that the amount of CD24

expressing cells related to stage of root formation. The stage of root formation affected to amount of CD24 expressing cells. The results showed that early root development stage contained higher number of CD24 positive cells than late stage of root development. These results confirmed by immunohistochemistry. Dentinal tubules at the apical third showed less numbers than coronal third and one dentinal tubule was occupied by only one odontoblast. This finding might relate to decreasing number of odontoblast progenitors according to more advance stage of root formation (Mannocci et al., 2004). Mouse bone marrow cells with CD24 expression were suggested as the osteoprogenitor cells or committed stem cells osteoblastic lineage (Chang et al., 2015). Therefore, CD24 positive SCAPs might be odontoblast progenitor cells, as well. Moreover, previous report demonstrated that osterix expressing cells were also contributed to the odontoblast progenitors (Ono et al., 2016). The High-CD24 SCAPs also expressed osterix and DSPP more than Low-CD24 SCAPs. This result confirmed that early root development provided more CD24 expressing SCAPs. These evidences also suggested the possibility of relation between CD24 and osterix to dontoblast progenitor cells for root dentin formation.

Regard to the results, in chapter III, the REP should give a higher chance for more calcified tissue in the early stage of root development case than later stage. The recent clinical study supported this suggestion (Chan *et al.*, 2017). The early root formation stage demonstrated that the percentage of newly formed calcified tissue was more than late stage of root development.

In spite of SCAPs were presumed as the main population of REP, animal studies and human sample from the fracture teeth (Lei et al., 2015; Shimizu et al., 2013) revealed bone and/ or cementum-liked structure in the root canal space instead of dentin (Thibodeau *et al.*, 2007; Wang *et al.*, 2010). The newly formed hard tissue on root canal wall expressed intensively the bone and cementum markers, BSP (Shimizu et al., 2013). It was that suggested that other stem cells around root apex such as periodontal ligament cells, osteoblast or cementoblast might recruit along with SCAPs by intentional bleeding procedure (Huang and Garcia-Godoy, 2014). The other possibility of this established structure was that SCAPs might change their phenotype into bone or cementum after long-term challenging with infection from root canal. The animal study showed that SCAPs could survive during root canal infection (Tobias Duarte et al., 2014; Yoo et al., 2016). Recent study also demonstrated that apical papilla tissue was still intact while the coronal and root pulpal tissue were necrosis (Chrepa *et al.*, 2017). Interestingly, the animal and human isolated SCAPs from infected root canal increased osteogenic differentiation (Chrepa et al., 2017; Yoo et al., 2016). SCAPs from infected dog teeth increased OCN and DSPP gene expression when compared to control (Yoo et al., 2016). Thus, root canal infection could alter the osteogenic differentiation of SCAPs both mineralization and gene expression. However, the osteogenic differentiation markers, OCN, DSPP and OPN in this thesis did not change after exposing to LPS. This different result might be the different design or model of the studies. This study was performed in cell culture and investigated only the effect of LPS. In contrast, Yoo and co-workers's study was an animal study. The other biological molecules in periapical lesion that released from SCAPs after exposure to LPS might affect to SCAPs themselves. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  were released by SCAPs after exposure

to LPS (Wang *et al.*, 2013a; Zhang *et al.*, 2013). TNF-  $\alpha$  could increase osteogenic markers such as *OCN*, *OPN*, *BSP*, *DSPP* and *OPN* and mineralization capacity (Li *et al.*, 2014b). In contrast, IL-1 $\beta$  could decrease mineralization capacity and osteogenic differentiation markers such as *DSPP* (Liu *et al.*, 2016). In addition, periapical lesion environment contains various cytokines, mediators and growth factors from many types of cell, thus, the absolute effects from these inflammatory factors might increase both mineralization and *OCN* and *DSPP* gene expression (Yoo *et al.*, 2016). The effects of LPS on SCAPs in this study was the same as in the study of dental pulp cells, the other odontoblast progenitor cell source, that *OCN* and *DSPP* gene expression did not change but BSP expression increased (Abe *et al.*, 2010). Only LPS exposure may not alter the gene expression of all osteogenic differentiation markers, excepted *BSP*.

This evidence might be supported by tertiary dentin formation. Tertiary dentin, that was generated by dental pulp cells or obontoblasts, demonstrated bone-liked structure (Xie *et al.*, 2014). The tertiary dentin expressed more BSP protein when compared to the adjacent normal dentin. The transplantation of immature tooth also illustrated bone-liked tissue. The hard tissue that generated after transplantation resembled to bone and expressed BSP (Hosoya *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, root dentin that was formed before transplantation did not express BSP. Thus, it was possible that the consequences of both trauma and infection might alter odontoblast progenitors to generate the other calcified tissue especially bone liked-structure than dentin. Besides LPS that could effect to osteogenic differentiation, the other biological substances, might also affect. The animal study should be performed to confirm what calcified structure is formed after exposure to LPS. Because of most of the REP cases related to infected root canal, the effects of LPS to SCAPs with different CD24 expressing cells were studied. The results were reported in chapter IV. The LPS exposure did not affect to cell proliferation and cell migration of both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. However, LPS at high concentration (1 and 5 µg/ml) increased osteogenic differentiation and activity in High-CD24 SCAPs but did not affect to Low-CD24 SCAPs. In addition, the highest concentration of LPS (5 µg/ml) increased *BSP* gene expression in both High and Low-CD24 SCAPs. High-CD24 SCAPs or early stage of root formation are more sensitive to LPS than Low-CD24 SCAPs or late stage of root formation. Thus, the high concentration of LPS in root canal that relates to tooth with history of severe pain or sinus opening may increases the possibility of bone and/or cementum-liked regenerative calcified tissue especially in short root formation or high CD24 expressing SCAPs. However, the effect of amount of CD24 expressing SCAPs and LPS from this *in vitro* study should be confirmed in animal study.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# **5.2** Conclusion

SCAPs with high percentage of CD24 expressing cells showed better osteogenic differentiation than low percentage of CD24 SCAPs that obtained from early root development and late root development stage, respectively. Pre-exposure with LPS tended to increase *BSP* gene expression especially in High-CD24 SCAPs. Thus, REP in early root development might give more calcified tissue but tend to generate bone and/or cementum-liked tissue rather than dentin. In addition, LPS did not affect to SCAPs proliferation regardless to amount of percentage of CD24 expressing SCAPs.



# **5.3 Further study suggestion**

The initial numbers of progenitor cells are beneficial for better tissue regeneration or wound healing. Thus, blood clot creation is critical a step that can manipulate to increase initial SCAPs cell numbers. CXCR4 and CD24 are suggested as the targets for increasing the recruited cell numbers especially in late stage of root development.

The medicaments or dentin condition reagents that can promote dentin regeneration by reversing the effect of LPS are suggested to establish. Antiinflammatory such as fluocinolone acetonide (FA) demonstrated the reversed effect of LPS to dental pulp cells in osteogenic differentiation (Liu *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, FA could rescue *DSPP* expression when treated together with LPS in the same study. The application of FA in REP may benefit to dentin regeneration of REP.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University
## REFERENCES

- Abe, S., Imaizumi, M., Mikami, Y., Wada, Y., Tsuchiya, S., Irie, S., . . . Honda, M. J. (2010). Oral bacterial extracts facilitate early osteogenic/dentinogenic differentiation in human dental pulp-derived cells. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 109(1), 149-154. doi: 10.1016/j.tripleo.2009.08.028
- Abuarqoub, D., Awidi, A., & Abuharfeil, N. (2015). Comparison of osteo/odontogenic differentiation of human adult dental pulp stem cells and stem cells from apical papilla in the presence of platelet lysate. *Arch Oral Biol, 60*(10), 1545-1553. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2015.07.007
- Aguiar, M. C., & Arana-Chavez, V. E. (2007). Ultrastructural and immunocytochemical analyses of osteopontin in reactionary and reparative dentine formed after extrusion of upper rat incisors. *J Anat, 210*(4), 418-427. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7580.2007.00708.x
- Aguilar, P., & Lertchirakarn, V. (2016). Comparison of stem cell behaviors between indigenous high and low-CD24 percentage expressing cells of stem cells from apical papilla (SCAPs). *Tissue Cell*, 48(5), 397-406. doi: 10.1016/j.tice.2016.08.008
- Aigner, S., Ruppert, M., Hubbe, M., Sammar, M., Sthoeger, Z., Butcher, E. C., . . .Altevogt, P. (1995). Heat stable antigen (mouse CD24) supports myeloid cell binding to endothelial and platelet P-selectin. *Int Immunol*, 7(10), 1557-1565.

- Albiero, M. L., Amorim, B. R., Martins, L., Casati, M. Z., Sallum, E. A., Nociti, F. H., Jr., & Silverio, K. G. (2015). Exposure of periodontal ligament progenitor cells to lipopolysaccharide from Escherichia coli changes osteoblast differentiation pattern. *J Appl Oral Sci*, 23(2), 145-152. doi: 10.1590/1678-775720140334
- Angelotti, M. L., Ronconi, E., Ballerini, L., Peired, A., Mazzinghi, B., Sagrinati, C., . .
  . Romagnani, P. (2012). Characterization of renal progenitors committed toward tubular lineage and their regenerative potential in renal tubular injury. *Stem Cells*, *30*(8), 1714-1725. doi: 10.1002/stem.1130
- Arzate, H., Zeichner-David, M., & Mercado-Celis, G. (2015). Cementum proteins: role in cementogenesis, biomineralization, periodontium formation and regeneration. *Periodontol 2000*, 67(1), 211-233. doi: 10.1111/prd.12062
- Aw, V. (2016). Discuss the role of microorganisms in the aetiology and pathogenesis of periapical disease. *Aust Endod J*, 42(2), 53-59. doi: 10.1111/aej.12159
- Ayre, D. C., Elstner, M., Smith, N. C., Moores, E. S., Hogan, A. M., & Christian, S. L. (2015). Dynamic regulation of CD24 expression and release of CD24containing microvesicles in immature B cells in response to CD24 engagement. *Immunology*, 146(2), 217-233. doi: 10.1111/imm.12493
- Ayre, D. C., Pallegar, N. K., Fairbridge, N. A., Canuti, M., Lang, A. S., & Christian, S.
  L. (2016). Analysis of the structure, evolution, and expression of CD24, an important regulator of cell fate. *Gene*, 590(2), 324-337. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2016.05.038

- Baba, O., Qin, C., Brunn, J. C., Jones, J. E., Wygant, J. N., McIntyre, B. W., & Butler,
  W. T. (2004). Detection of dentin sialoprotein in rat periodontium. *Eur J Oral Sci*, *112*(2), 163-170. doi: 10.1111/j.0909-8836.2004.00110.x
- Bakopoulou, A., Leyhausen, G., Volk, J., Koidis, P., & Geurtsen, W. (2013).
  Comparative characterization of STRO-1(neg)/CD146(pos) and STRO-1(pos)/CD146(pos) apical papilla stem cells enriched with flow cytometry. *Arch Oral Biol*, 58(10), 1556-1568. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2013.06.018
- Bakopoulou, A., Leyhausen, G., Volk, J., Tsiftsoglou, A., Garefis, P., Koidis, P., & Geurtsen, W. (2011). Comparative analysis of in vitro osteo/odontogenic differentiation potential of human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) and stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAP). *Arch Oral Biol, 56*(7), 709-721. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2010.12.008
- Balic, A., & Mina, M. (2011). Identification of secretory odontoblasts using DMP1-GFP transgenic mice. *Bone*, 48(4), 927-937. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2010.12.008
- Banchs, F., & Trope, M. (2004). Revascularization of immature permanent teeth with apical periodontitis: new treatment protocol? *J Endod*, 30(4), 196-200. doi: 10.1097/00004770-200404000-00003
- Bansal, R., Jain, A., Mittal, S., Kumar, T., & Kaur, D. (2014). Regenerative Endodontics: A Road Less Travelled. J Clin Diagn Res, 8(10), ZE20-24. doi: 10.7860/jcdr/2014/8257.5034

- Barry, F., Boynton, R., Murphy, M., Haynesworth, S., & Zaia, J. (2001). The SH-3 and SH-4 antibodies recognize distinct epitopes on CD73 from human mesenchymal stem cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 289(2), 519-524. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.6013
- Barry, F. P., Boynton, R. E., Haynesworth, S., Murphy, J. M., & Zaia, J. (1999). The monoclonal antibody SH-2, raised against human mesenchymal stem cells, recognizes an epitope on endoglin (CD105). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 265(1), 134-139. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1999.1620
- Baumann, P., Cremers, N., Kroese, F., Orend, G., Chiquet-Ehrismann, R., Uede, T., . . . Sleeman, J. P. (2005). CD24 expression causes the acquisition of multiple cellular properties associated with tumor growth and metastasis. *Cancer Res*, 65(23), 10783-10793. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-05-0619
- Baumann, P., Thiele, W., Cremers, N., Muppala, S., Krachulec, J., Diefenbacher, M., .
  . . Sleeman, J. P. (2012). CD24 interacts with and promotes the activity of c-src within lipid rafts in breast cancer cells, thereby increasing integrin-dependent adhesion. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 69(3), 435-448. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0756-9
- Becker, A. J., Mc, C. E., & Till, J. E. (1963). Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. *Nature*, 197, 452-454.

- Bergoglio, V., Larcher, F., Chevallier-Lagente, O., Bernheim, A., Danos, O., Sarasin, A., . . . Magnaldo, T. (2007). Safe selection of genetically manipulated human primary keratinocytes with very high growth potential using CD24. *Mol Ther*, *15*(12), 2186-2193. doi: 10.1038/sj.mt.6300292
- Berry, R., & Rodeheffer, M. S. (2013). Characterization of the adipocyte cellular lineage in vivo. *Nat Cell Biol*, 15(3), 302-308. doi: 10.1038/ncb2696
- Bhandari, D. R., Seo, K. W., Roh, K. H., Jung, J. W., Kang, S. K., & Kang, K. S. (2010). REX-1 expression and p38 MAPK activation status can determine proliferation/differentiation fates in human mesenchymal stem cells. *PLoS One*, 5(5), e10493. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010493
- Boland, G. M., Perkins, G., Hall, D. J., & Tuan, R. S. (2004). Wnt 3a promotes proliferation and suppresses osteogenic differentiation of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *J Cell Biochem*, 93(6), 1210-1230. doi: 10.1002/jcb.20284
- Bose, R., Nummikoski, P., & Hargreaves, K. (2009). A retrospective evaluation of radiographic outcomes in immature teeth with necrotic root canal systems treated with regenerative endodontic procedures. *J Endod*, 35(10), 1343-1349. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2009.06.021
- Boskey, A., Spevak, L., Tan, M., Doty, S. B., & Butler, W. T. (2000). Dentin sialoprotein (DSP) has limited effects on in vitro apatite formation and growth. *Calcif Tissue Int*, 67(6), 472-478.

- Bosshardt, D. D. (2005). Are cementoblasts a subpopulation of osteoblasts or a unique phenotype? *J Dent Res*, 84(5), 390-406.
- Bosshardt, D. D., Stadlinger, B., & Terheyden, H. (2015). Cell-to-cell communication--periodontal regeneration. *Clin Oral Implants Res*, 26(3), 229-239. doi: 10.1111/clr.12543
- Bosshardt, D. D., Zalzal, S., McKee, M. D., & Nanci, A. (1998). Developmental appearance and distribution of bone sialoprotein and osteopontin in human and rat cementum. *Anat Rec*, 250(1), 13-33.
- Boxall, S. A., & Jones, E. (2012). Markers for characterization of bone marrow multipotential stromal cells. *Stem Cells Int*, 2012, 975871. doi: 10.1155/2012/975871
- Bretz, N. P., Salnikov, A. V., Perne, C., Keller, S., Wang, X., Mierke, C. T., . . . Altevogt, P. (2012). CD24 controls Src/STAT3 activity in human tumors. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 69(22), 3863-3879. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1055-9
- Bruno, S., Bussolati, B., Grange, C., Collino, F., Graziano, M. E., Ferrando, U., & Camussi, G. (2006). CD133+ renal progenitor cells contribute to tumor angiogenesis. Am J Pathol, 169(6), 2223-2235. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.060498
- Butler, W. T., Brunn, J. C., & Qin, C. (2003). Dentin extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins: comparison to bone ECM and contribution to dynamics of dentinogenesis. *Connect Tissue Res*, 44 Suppl 1, 171-178.

- Butler, W. T., Brunn, J. C., Qin, C., & McKee, M. D. (2002). Extracellular matrix proteins and the dynamics of dentin formation. *Connect Tissue Res*, 43(2-3), 301-307.
- Cai, X., Lin, Y., Friedrich, C. C., Neville, C., Pomerantseva, I., Sundback, C. A., . . .
  Grottkau, B. E. (2009). Bone marrow derived pluripotent cells are pericytes which contribute to vascularization. *Stem Cell Rev, 5*(4), 437-445. doi: 10.1007/s12015-009-9097-6
- Caliskan, M. K., & Sen, B. H. (1996). Endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis using calcium hydroxide: a long-term study. *Endod Dent Traumatol*, *12*(5), 215-221.
- Chan, E. K., Desmeules, M., Cielecki, M., Dabbagh, B., & Ferraz Dos Santos, B. (2017). Longitudinal Cohort Study of Regenerative Endodontic Treatment for Immature Necrotic Permanent Teeth. J Endod, 43(3), 395-400. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2016.10.035
- Chang, C. F., Hsu, K. H., Shen, C. N., Li, C. L., & Lu, J. (2015). Enrichment and Characterization of Two Subgroups of Committed Osteogenic Cells in the Mouse Endosteal Bone Marrow with Expression Levels of CD24. J Bone Marrow Res, 2(144).
- Chatzivasileiou, K., Lux, C. A., Steinhoff, G., & Lang, H. (2013). Dental follicle progenitor cells responses to Porphyromonas gingivalis LPS. J Cell Mol Med, 17(6), 766-773. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12058

- Chen, S., Gluhak-Heinrich, J., Wang, Y. H., Wu, Y. M., Chuang, H. H., Chen, L., . . . MacDougall, M. (2009). Runx2, osx, and dspp in tooth development. J Dent Res, 88(10), 904-909. doi: 10.1177/0022034509342873
- Chen, X., Liu, J. Y., Yue, L., Huang, G. T., & Zou, X. Y. (2016). Phosphatidylinositol
  3-Kinase and Protein Kinase C Signaling Pathways Are Involved in Stromal
  Cell-derived Factor-1alpha-mediated Transmigration of Stem Cells from Apical
  Papilla. J Endod, 42(7), 1076-1081. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2016.04.014
- Ching, H. S., Luddin, N., Rahman, I. A., & Ponnuraj, K. T. (2017). Expression of Odontogenic and Osteogenic Markers in DPSCs and SHED: A Review. *Curr Stem Cell Res Ther*, 12(1), 71-79.
- Chmilewsky, F., Jeanneau, C., Laurent, P., & About, I. (2015). LPS induces pulp progenitor cell recruitment via complement activation. *J Dent Res*, *94*(1), 166-174. doi: 10.1177/0022034514555524
- Cho, H. H., Kim, Y. J., Kim, S. J., Kim, J. H., Bae, Y. C., Ba, B., & Jung, J. S. (2006). Endogenous Wnt signaling promotes proliferation and suppresses osteogenic differentiation in human adipose derived stromal cells. *Tissue Eng*, 12(1), 111-121. doi: 10.1089/ten.2006.12.111
- Cho, H. H., Shin, K. K., Kim, Y. J., Song, J. S., Kim, J. M., Bae, Y. C., . . . Jung, J. S. (2010). NF-kappaB activation stimulates osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human adipose tissue by increasing TAZ expression. *J Cell Physiol*, 223(1), 168-177. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22024

- Chrepa, V., Pitcher, B., Henry, M. A., & Diogenes, A. (2017). Survival of the Apical Papilla and Its Resident Stem Cells in a Case of Advanced Pulpal Necrosis and Apical Periodontitis. *J Endod*, 43(4), 561-567. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2016.09.024
- Crispe, I. N., & Bevan, M. J. (1987). Expression and functional significance of the J11d marker on mouse thymocytes. *J Immunol*, *138*(7), 2013-2018.
- Croes, M., Oner, F. C., Kruyt, M. C., Blokhuis, T. J., Bastian, O., Dhert, W. J., & Alblas,
  J. (2015). Proinflammatory Mediators Enhance the Osteogenesis of Human
  Mesenchymal Stem Cells after Lineage Commitment. *PLoS One, 10*(7),
  e0132781. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132781
- Cvek, M. (1972). Treatment of non-vital permanent incisors with calcium hydroxide. I.Follow-up of periapical repair and apical closure of immature roots. *Odontol Revy*, 23(1), 27-44.
- Cvek, M. (1992). Prognosis of luxated non-vital maxillary incisors treated with calcium hydroxide and filled with gutta-percha. A retrospective clinical study. *Endod Dent Traumatol*, 8(2), 45-55.
- D'Errico, J. A., MacNeil, R. L., Takata, T., Berry, J., Strayhorn, C., & Somerman, M. J. (1997). Expression of bone associated markers by tooth root lining cells, in situ and in vitro. *Bone*, 20(2), 117-126.

- da Silva, L. A., da Silva, R. A., Branco, L. G., Navarro, V. P., & Nelson-Filho, P. (2008). Quantitative radiographic evaluation of periapical bone resorption in dog's teeth contaminated with bacterial endotoxin (LPS) associated or not with calcium hydroxide. *Braz Dent J*, 19(4), 296-300.
- Dahlen, G., & Hofstad, T. (1977). Endotoxic activities of lipopolysaccharides of microorganisms isolated from an infected root canal in Macaca cynomolgus. *Scand J Dent Res*, 85(4), 272-278.
- De Berdt, P., Vanacker, J., Ucakar, B., Elens, L., Diogenes, A., Leprince, J. G., . . . des Rieux, A. (2015). Dental Apical Papilla as Therapy for Spinal Cord Injury. J Dent Res, 94(11), 1575-1581. doi: 10.1177/0022034515604612
- Delorme, B., Ringe, J., Gallay, N., Le Vern, Y., Kerboeuf, D., Jorgensen, C., . . . Charbord, P. (2008). Specific plasma membrane protein phenotype of cultureamplified and native human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Blood*, *111*(5), 2631-2635. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-099622
- Demirjian, A., Goldstein, H., & Tanner, J. M. (1973). A new system of dental age assessment. *Hum Biol*, 45(2), 211-227.
- Digirolamo, C. M., Stokes, D., Colter, D., Phinney, D. G., Class, R., & Prockop, D. J. (1999). Propagation and senescence of human marrow stromal cells in culture: a simple colony-forming assay identifies samples with the greatest potential to propagate and differentiate. *Br J Haematol*, *107*(2), 275-281.

- Ding, R. Y., Cheung, G. S., Chen, J., Yin, X. Z., Wang, Q. Q., & Zhang, C. F. (2009).
  Pulp revascularization of immature teeth with apical periodontitis: a clinical study. *J Endod*, 35(5), 745-749. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2009.02.009
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D.,
   ... Horwitz, E. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*, 8(4), 315-317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Dong, R., Yao, R., Du, J., Wang, S., & Fan, Z. (2013). Depletion of histone demethylase
  KDM2A enhanced the adipogenic and chondrogenic differentiation potentials
  of stem cells from apical papilla. *Exp Cell Res*, 319(18), 2874-2882. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.07.008
- Esteves, C. L., Sharma, R., Dawson, L., Taylor, S. E., Pearson, G., Keen, J. A., ... Donadeu, F. X. (2014). Expression of putative markers of pluripotency in equine embryonic and adult tissues. *Vet J*, 202(3), 533-535. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2014.08.026
- Fang, X., Zheng, P., Tang, J., & Liu, Y. (2010). CD24: from A to Z. *Cell Mol Immunol*, 7(2), 100-103. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2009.119
- Fiedler, T., Salamon, A., Adam, S., Herzmann, N., Taubenheim, J., & Peters, K. (2013). Impact of bacteria and bacterial components on osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Exp Cell Res,* 319(18), 2883-2892. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.08.020

- Finucane, D., & Kinirons, M. J. (1999). Non-vital immature permanent incisors: factors that may influence treatment outcome. *Endod Dent Traumatol*, 15(6), 273-277.
- Fischer, G. F., Majdic, O., Gadd, S., & Knapp, W. (1990). Signal transduction in lymphocytic and myeloid cells via CD24, a new member of phosphoinositolanchored membrane molecules. *J Immunol*, 144(2), 638-641.
- Fomin, M. E., Tai, L. K., Barcena, A., & Muench, M. O. (2011). Coexpression of CD14 and CD326 discriminate hepatic precursors in the human fetal liver. *Stem Cells Dev*, 20(7), 1247-1257. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010.0218
- Foster, B. L. (2012). Methods for studying tooth root cementum by light microscopy. *Int J Oral Sci*, 4(3), 119-128. doi: 10.1038/ijos.2012.57
- Frank, A. L. (1966). Therapy for the divergent pulpless tooth by continued apical formation. *J Am Dent Assoc*, 72(1), 87-93.
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhjan, R. K., & Lalykina, K. S. (1970). The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. *Cell Tissue Kinet*, 3(4), 393-403.
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhyan, R. K., & Gerasimov, U. V. (1987). Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and transplantation in diffusion chambers. *Cell Tissue Kinet*, 20(3), 263-272.
- Fukuda, S., & Pelus, L. M. (2006). Survivin, a cancer target with an emerging role in normal adult tissues. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 5(5), 1087-1098. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.mct-05-0375

- Gao, S., Zhao, Y. M., & Ge, L. H. (2014). Nuclear factor I-C expression pattern in developing teeth and its important role in odontogenic differentiation of human molar stem cells from the apical papilla. *Eur J Oral Sci, 122*(6), 382-390. doi: 10.1111/eos.12151
- Gervois, P., Struys, T., Hilkens, P., Bronckaers, A., Ratajczak, J., Politis, C., . . .
  Martens, W. (2015). Neurogenic maturation of human dental pulp stem cells following neurosphere generation induces morphological and electrophysiological characteristics of functional neurons. *Stem Cells Dev*, 24(3), 296-311. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0117
- Giuliani, M., Bennaceur-Griscelli, A., Nanbakhsh, A., Oudrhiri, N., Chouaib, S., Azzarone, B., . . . Lataillade, J. J. (2014). TLR ligands stimulation protects MSC from NK killing. *Stem Cells*, 32(1), 290-300. doi: 10.1002/stem.1563
- Goldberg, M., Kulkarni, A. B., Young, M., & Boskey, A. (2011). Dentin: structure, composition and mineralization. *Front Biosci (Elite Ed)*, *3*, 711-735.
- Gomes, B. P., Jacinto, R. C., Pinheiro, E. T., Sousa, E. L., Zaia, A. A., Ferraz, C. C., & Souza-Filho, F. J. (2005). Porphyromonas gingivalis, Porphyromonas endodontalis, Prevotella intermedia and Prevotella nigrescens in endodontic lesions detected by culture and by PCR. *Oral Microbiol Immunol, 20*(4), 211-215. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-302X.2005.00214.x
- Gorter de Vries, I., Quartier, E., Boute, P., Wisse, E., & Coomans, D. (1987). Immunocytochemical localization of osteocalcin in developing rat teeth. *J Dent Res*, 66(3), 784-790. doi: 10.1177/00220345870660031601

- Gosau, M., Gotz, W., Felthaus, O., Ettl, T., Jager, A., & Morsczeck, C. (2013).
  Comparison of the differentiation potential of neural crest derived progenitor cells from apical papilla (dNC-PCs) and stem cells from exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) into mineralising cells. *Arch Oral Biol, 58*(6), 699-706. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2012.11.004
- Gronthos, S., Brahim, J., Li, W., Fisher, L. W., Cherman, N., Boyde, A., . . . Shi, S. (2002). Stem cell properties of human dental pulp stem cells. *J Dent Res*, 81(8), 531-535.
- Gronthos, S., Franklin, D. M., Leddy, H. A., Robey, P. G., Storms, R. W., & Gimble, J. M. (2001). Surface protein characterization of human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells. *J Cell Physiol*, 189(1), 54-63. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1138
- Hao, J., Zou, B., Narayanan, K., & George, A. (2004). Differential expression patterns of the dentin matrix proteins during mineralized tissue formation. *Bone*, 34(6), 921-932. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2004.01.020
- Hardy, R. R., Carmack, C. E., Shinton, S. A., Kemp, J. D., & Hayakawa, K. (1991). Resolution and characterization of pro-B and pre-pro-B cell stages in normal mouse bone marrow. *J Exp Med*, 173(5), 1213-1225.
- Hargreaves, K. M., Diogenes, A., & Teixeira, F. B. (2013). Treatment options: biological basis of regenerative endodontic procedures. *J Endod*, 39(3 Suppl), S30-43. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2012.11.025

- Harran Ponce, E., Canalda Sahli, C., & Vilar Fernandez, J. A. (2001). Study of dentinal tubule architecture of permanent upper premolars: evaluation by SEM. *Aust Endod J*, 27(2), 66-72.
- Harris, N. L., Rattray, K. R., Tye, C. E., Underhill, T. M., Somerman, M. J., D'Errico,
  J. A., . . . Goldberg, H. A. (2000). Functional analysis of bone sialoprotein:
  identification of the hydroxyapatite-nucleating and cell-binding domains by
  recombinant peptide expression and site-directed mutagenesis. *Bone*, 27(6),
  795-802.
- He, S., Nakada, D., & Morrison, S. J. (2009). Mechanisms of stem cell self-renewal.
   Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 25, 377-406. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113248
- He, W., Wang, Z., Luo, Z., Yu, Q., Jiang, Y., Zhang, Y., ... Cooper, P. R. (2015). LPS promote the odontoblastic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells via MAPK signaling pathway. J Cell Physiol, 230(3), 554-561. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24732
- Hecova, H., Tzigkounakis, V., Merglova, V., & Netolicky, J. (2010). A retrospective study of 889 injured permanent teeth. *Dent Traumatol*, 26(6), 466-475. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-9657.2010.00924.x
- Hong, C. Y., Lin, S. K., Kok, S. H., Cheng, S. J., Lee, M. S., Wang, T. M., . . . Wang, J. S. (2004). The role of lipopolysaccharide in infectious bone resorption of periapical lesion. *J Oral Pathol Med*, *33*(3), 162-169.

- Hosoya, A., Yoshiba, K., Yoshiba, N., Hoshi, K., Iwaku, M., & Ozawa, H. (2003). An immunohistochemical study on hard tissue formation in a subcutaneously transplanted rat molar. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 119(1), 27-35. doi: 10.1007/s00418-002-0478-z
- Huang, G. T., & Garcia-Godoy, F. (2014). Missing Concepts in De Novo Pulp Regeneration. *J Dent Res*, 93(8), 717-724. doi: 10.1177/0022034514537829
- Huang, G. T., Gronthos, S., & Shi, S. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental tissues vs. those from other sources: their biology and role in regenerative medicine. *J Dent Res*, 88(9), 792-806. doi: 10.1177/0022034509340867
- Huang, G. T., Sonoyama, W., Liu, Y., Liu, H., Wang, S., & Shi, S. (2008). The hidden treasure in apical papilla: the potential role in pulp/dentin regeneration and bioroot engineering. *J Endod*, 34(6), 645-651. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2008.03.001
- Huang, W., Carlsen, B., Rudkin, G., Berry, M., Ishida, K., Yamaguchi, D. T., & Miller,
  T. A. (2004). Osteopontin is a negative regulator of proliferation and
  differentiation in MC3T3-E1 pre-osteoblastic cells. *Bone*, *34*(5), 799-808. doi:
  10.1016/j.bone.2003.11.027
- Huang, X., Xu, X., Bringas, P., Jr., Hung, Y. P., & Chai, Y. (2010). Smad4-Shh-Nfic signaling cascade-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal interaction is crucial in regulating tooth root development. *J Bone Miner Res*, 25(5), 1167-1178. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.091103

- Huang, X. F., & Chai, Y. (2012). Molecular regulatory mechanism of tooth root development. *Int J Oral Sci*, 4(4), 177-181. doi: 10.1038/ijos.2012.61
- Hubbe, M., & Altevogt, P. (1994). Heat-stable antigen/CD24 on mouse T lymphocytes: evidence for a costimulatory function. *Eur J Immunol, 24*(3), 731-737. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830240336
- Ikebe, C., & Suzuki, K. (2014). Mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative therapy: optimization of cell preparation protocols. *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, 951512. doi: 10.1155/2014/951512
- Ishii, M., Koike, C., Igarashi, A., Yamanaka, K., Pan, H., Higashi, Y., . . . Kato, Y. (2005). Molecular markers distinguish bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells from fibroblasts. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 332(1), 297-303. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.04.118
- Jacinto, R. C., Gomes, B. P., Shah, H. N., Ferraz, C. C., Zaia, A. A., & Souza-Filho, F. J. (2005). Quantification of endotoxins in necrotic root canals from symptomatic and asymptomatic teeth. *J Med Microbiol*, 54(Pt 8), 777-783. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.45976-0
- Jaggupilli, A., & Elkord, E. (2012). Significance of CD44 and CD24 as cancer stem cell markers: an enduring ambiguity. *Clin Dev Immunol*, 2012, 708036. doi: 10.1155/2012/708036

- Javelet, J., Torabinejad, M., & Bakland, L. K. (1985). Comparison of two pH levels for the induction of apical barriers in immature teeth of monkeys. *J Endod*, 11(9), 375-378. doi: 10.1016/s0099-2399(85)80023-6
- Jeeruphan, T., Jantarat, J., Yanpiset, K., Suwannapan, L., Khewsawai, P., & Hargreaves, K. M. (2012). Mahidol study 1: comparison of radiographic and survival outcomes of immature teeth treated with either regenerative endodontic or apexification methods: a retrospective study. *J Endod*, *38*(10), 1330-1336. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2012.06.028
- Jones, E. A., Kinsey, S. E., English, A., Jones, R. A., Straszynski, L., Meredith, D. M., . . . McGonagle, D. (2002). Isolation and characterization of bone marrow multipotential mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46(12), 3349-3360. doi: 10.1002/art.10696
- Kahler, B., Mistry, S., Moule, A., Ringsmuth, A. K., Case, P., Thomson, A., & Holcombe, T. (2014). Revascularization outcomes: a prospective analysis of 16 consecutive cases. *J Endod*, 40(3), 333-338. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.10.032
- Kakehashi, S., Stanley, H. R., & Fitzgerald, R. J. (1965). THE EFFECTS OF SURGICAL EXPOSURES OF DENTAL PULPS IN GERM-FREE AND CONVENTIONAL LABORATORY RATS. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 20, 340-349.

- Kang, K. S., Choi, Y. P., Gao, M. Q., Kang, S., Kim, B. G., Lee, J. H., . . . Cho, N. H. (2013). CD24(+) ovary cancer cells exhibit an invasive mesenchymal phenotype. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 432*(2), 333-338. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.01.102
- Kashyap, V., Rezende, N. C., Scotland, K. B., Shaffer, S. M., Persson, J. L., Gudas, L. J., & Mongan, N. P. (2009). Regulation of stem cell pluripotency and differentiation involves a mutual regulatory circuit of the NANOG, OCT4, and SOX2 pluripotency transcription factors with polycomb repressive complexes and stem cell microRNAs. *Stem Cells Dev, 18*(7), 1093-1108. doi: 10.1089/scd.2009.0113
- Kato, H., Taguchi, Y., Tominaga, K., Umeda, M., & Tanaka, A. (2014).
  Porphyromonas gingivalis LPS inhibits osteoblastic differentiation and promotes pro-inflammatory cytokine production in human periodontal ligament stem cells. *Arch Oral Biol*, 59(2), 167-175. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2013.11.008
- Kaukua, N., Shahidi, M. K., Konstantinidou, C., Dyachuk, V., Kaucka, M., Furlan, A.,
  . . . Adameyko, I. (2014). Glial origin of mesenchymal stem cells in a tooth model system. *Nature*, *513*(7519), 551-554. doi: 10.1038/nature13536
- Kawashima, N., & Okiji, T. (2016). Odontoblasts: Specialized hard-tissue-forming cells in the dentin-pulp complex. *Congenit Anom (Kyoto)*, 56(4), 144-153. doi: 10.1111/cga.12169

- Kay, R., Rosten, P. M., & Humphries, R. K. (1991). CD24, a signal transducer modulating B cell activation responses, is a very short peptide with a glycosyl phosphatidylinositol membrane anchor. *J Immunol*, *147*(4), 1412-1416.
- Kerekes, K., Heide, S., & Jacobsen, I. (1980). Follow-up examination of endodontic treatment in traumatized juvenile incisors. J Endod, 6(9), 744-748. doi: 10.1016/s0099-2399(80)80186-5
- Kim, J. B., Ko, E., Han, W., Lee, J. E., Lee, K. M., Shin, I., . . . Noh, D. Y. (2008).
  CD24 cross-linking induces apoptosis in, and inhibits migration of, MCF-7 breast cancer cells. *BMC Cancer*, *8*, 118. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-8-118
- Kim, K. H., Choi, J. S., Kim, J. M., Choi, Y. L., Shin, Y. K., Lee, H. C., ... Kim, S. H. (2009). Enhanced CD24 expression in endometrial carcinoma and its expression pattern in normal and hyperplastic endometrium. *Histol Histopathol, 24*(3), 309-316. doi: 10.14670/hh-24.309
- Kim, T. H., Bae, C. H., Lee, J. C., Kim, J. E., Yang, X., de Crombrugghe, B., & Cho,
  E. S. (2015). Osterix regulates tooth root formation in a site-specific manner. J Dent Res, 94(3), 430-438. doi: 10.1177/0022034514565647
- Kong, X., Liu, Y., Ye, R., Zhu, B., Zhu, Y., Liu, X., . . . Jin, Y. (2013). GSK3beta is a checkpoint for TNF-alpha-mediated impaired osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in inflammatory microenvironments. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1830(11), 5119-5129. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.07.027

- Kontakiotis, E. G., Filippatos, C. G., & Agrafioti, A. (2014). Levels of evidence for the outcome of regenerative endodontic therapy. *J Endod*, 40(8), 1045-1053. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2014.03.013
- Kontakiotis, E. G., Filippatos, C. G., Tzanetakis, G. N., & Agrafioti, A. (2015).
  Regenerative endodontic therapy: a data analysis of clinical protocols. *J Endod*, *41*(2), 146-154. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2014.08.003
- Kordes, C., Sawitza, I., Muller-Marbach, A., Ale-Agha, N., Keitel, V., Klonowski-Stumpe, H., & Haussinger, D. (2007). CD133+ hepatic stellate cells are progenitor cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 352(2), 410-417. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.11.029
- Kristiansen, G., Sammar, M., & Altevogt, P. (2004). Tumour biological aspects of CD24, a mucin-like adhesion molecule. *J Mol Histol*, *35*(3), 255-262.
- Lacey, D. C., Simmons, P. J., Graves, S. E., & Hamilton, J. A. (2009). Proinflammatory cytokines inhibit osteogenic differentiation from stem cells: implications for bone repair during inflammation. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, 17(6), 735-742. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2008.11.011
- Lee, T. K., Castilho, A., Cheung, V. C., Tang, K. H., Ma, S., & Ng, I. O. (2011). CD24(+) liver tumor-initiating cells drive self-renewal and tumor initiation through STAT3-mediated NANOG regulation. *Cell Stem Cell*, 9(1), 50-63. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2011.06.005

- Leelawat, K., Keeratichamroen, S., Leelawat, S., & Tohtong, R. (2013). CD24 induces the invasion of cholangiocarcinoma cells by upregulating CXCR4 and increasing the phosphorylation of ERK1/2. *Oncol Lett*, 6(5), 1439-1446. doi: 10.3892/ol.2013.1587
- Lei, L., Chen, Y., Zhou, R., Huang, X., & Cai, Z. (2015). Histologic and Immunohistochemical Findings of a Human Immature Permanent Tooth with Apical Periodontitis after Regenerative Endodontic Treatment. *J Endod*, 41(7), 1172-1179. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2015.03.012
- Lesot, H. (2000). Odontoblast differentiation and tooth morphogenesis. J Dent Res, 79(9), 1640-1644. doi: 10.1177/00220345000790090101
- Li, D., Fu, L., Zhang, Y., Yu, Q., Ma, F., Wang, Z., . . . He, W. (2014). The effects of LPS on adhesion and migration of human dental pulp stem cells in vitro. *J Dent*, 42(10), 1327-1334. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2014.07.007
- Li, J., Yan, M., Wang, Z., Jing, S., Li, Y., Liu, G., . . . Fan, Z. (2014). Effects of canonical NF-kappaB signaling pathway on the proliferation and odonto/osteogenic differentiation of human stem cells from apical papilla. *Biomed Res Int, 2014*, 319651. doi: 10.1155/2014/319651
- Lian, J. B., & Stein, G. S. (1995). Development of the osteoblast phenotype: molecular mechanisms mediating osteoblast growth and differentiation. *Iowa Orthop J*, 15, 118-140.

- Lim, S. C. (2005). CD24 and human carcinoma: tumor biological aspects. *Biomed Pharmacother, 59 Suppl 2*, S351-354.
- Liotta, F., Angeli, R., Cosmi, L., Fili, L., Manuelli, C., Frosali, F., . . . Annunziato, F. (2008). Toll-like receptors 3 and 4 are expressed by human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and can inhibit their T-cell modulatory activity by impairing Notch signaling. *Stem Cells*, 26(1), 279-289. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0454
- Liu, A. Y., Cai, Y., Mao, Y., Lin, Y., Zheng, H., Wu, T., ... Ouyang, G. (2014). Twist2 promotes self-renewal of liver cancer stem-like cells by regulating CD24. *Carcinogenesis*, 35(3), 537-545. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt364
- Liu, C., Xiong, H., Chen, K., Huang, Y., & Yin, X. (2016). Long-term exposure to proinflammatory cytokines inhibits the osteogenic/dentinogenic differentiation of stem cells from the apical papilla. *Int Endod J*, 49(10), 950-959. doi: 10.1111/iej.12551
- Liu, J. Y., Chen, X., Yue, L., Huang, G. T., & Zou, X. Y. (2015). CXC Chemokine Receptor 4 Is Expressed Paravascularly in Apical Papilla and Coordinates with Stromal Cell-derived Factor-1alpha during Transmigration of Stem Cells from Apical Papilla. *J Endod*, 41(9), 1430-1436. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2015.04.006
- Liu, Y., Feng, J., Li, J., Zhao, H., Ho, T. V., & Chai, Y. (2015). An Nfic-hedgehog signaling cascade regulates tooth root development. *Development*, 142(19), 3374-3382. doi: 10.1242/dev.127068

- Liu, Y., Gao, Y., Zhan, X., Cui, L., Xu, S., Ma, D., . . . Gao, J. (2014). TLR4 activation by lipopolysaccharide and Streptococcus mutans induces differential regulation of proliferation and migration in human dental pulp stem cells. *J Endod*, 40(9), 1375-1381. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2014.03.015
- Liu, Z., Jiang, T., Wang, X., & Wang, Y. (2013). Fluocinolone acetonide partially restores the mineralization of LPS-stimulated dental pulp cells through inhibition of NF-kappaB pathway and activation of AP-1 pathway. Br J Pharmacol, 170(6), 1262-1271. doi: 10.1111/bph.12404
- Lopez-Marcos, J. F. (2004). Aetiology, classification and pathogenesis of pulp and periapical disease. *Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal*, 9 Suppl, 58-62; 52-57.
- Lovelace, T. W., Henry, M. A., Hargreaves, K. M., & Diogenes, A. (2011). Evaluation of the delivery of mesenchymal stem cells into the root canal space of necrotic immature teeth after clinical regenerative endodontic procedure. *J Endod*, *37*(2), 133-138. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2010.10.009
- Luder, H. U. (2015). Malformations of the tooth root in humans. *Front Physiol*, *6*, 307. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00307
- Mackie, I. C., Bentley, E. M., & Worthington, H. V. (1988). The closure of open apices in non-vital immature incisor teeth. *Br Dent J*, *165*(5), 169-173.
- Mahanonda, R., Jitprasertwong, P., Sa-Ard-Iam, N., Rerkyen, P., Charatkulangkun, O., Jansisyanont, P., . . . Pichyangkul, S. (2008). Effects of IL-17 on human gingival fibroblasts. *J Dent Res*, 87(3), 267-272.

- Mammoto, T., Mammoto, A., Torisawa, Y. S., Tat, T., Gibbs, A., Derda, R., ... Ingber,
  D. E. (2011). Mechanochemical control of mesenchymal condensation and
  embryonic tooth organ formation. *Dev Cell*, 21(4), 758-769. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2011.07.006
- Mannocci, F., Pilecki, P., Bertelli, E., & Watson, T. F. (2004). Density of dentinal tubules affects the tensile strength of root dentin. *Dent Mater*, 20(3), 293-296. doi: 10.1016/s0109-5641(03)00106-4
- Marinho, A. C., Martinho, F. C., Zaia, A. A., Ferraz, C. C., & Gomes, B. P. (2012).
  Influence of the apical enlargement size on the endotoxin level reduction of dental root canals. *J Appl Oral Sci, 20*(6), 661-666.
- Marinho, A. C., Polay, A. R., & Gomes, B. P. (2015). Accuracy of Turbidimetric Limulus Amebocyte Lysate Assay for the Recovery of Endotoxin Interacted with Commonly Used Antimicrobial Agents of Endodontic Therapy. J Endod, 41(10), 1653-1659. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2015.05.020
- Martinho, F. C., Chiesa, W. M., Zaia, A. A., Ferraz, C. C., Almeida, J. F., Souza-Filho,
  F. J., & Gomes, B. P. (2011). Comparison of endotoxin levels in previous studies on primary endodontic infections. *J Endod*, *37*(2), 163-167. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2010.11.020
- Masui, S., Ohtsuka, S., Yagi, R., Takahashi, K., Ko, M. S., & Niwa, H. (2008).
  Rex1/Zfp42 is dispensable for pluripotency in mouse ES cells. *BMC Dev Biol*, 8, 45. doi: 10.1186/1471-213x-8-45

- Mente, J., Hage, N., Pfefferle, T., Koch, M. J., Dreyhaupt, J., Staehle, H. J., & Friedman, S. (2009). Mineral trioxide aggregate apical plugs in teeth with open apical foramina: a retrospective analysis of treatment outcome. *J Endod*, 35(10), 1354-1358. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2009.05.025
- Mierke, C. T., Bretz, N., & Altevogt, P. (2011). Contractile forces contribute to increased glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored receptor CD24-facilitated cancer cell invasion. J Biol Chem, 286(40), 34858-34871. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.245183
- Mjor, I. A., Sveen, O. B., & Heyeraas, K. J. (2001). Pulp-dentin biology in restorative dentistry. Part 1: normal structure and physiology. *Quintessence Int*, 32(6), 427-446.
- Mo, I. F., Yip, K. H., Chan, W. K., Law, H. K., Lau, Y. L., & Chan, G. C. (2008).
   Prolonged exposure to bacterial toxins downregulated expression of toll-like receptors in mesenchymal stromal cell-derived osteoprogenitors. *BMC Cell Biol*, 9, 52. doi: 10.1186/1471-2121-9-52
- Moller, A. J., Fabricius, L., Dahlen, G., Ohman, A. E., & Heyden, G. (1981). Influence on periapical tissues of indigenous oral bacteria and necrotic pulp tissue in monkeys. *Scand J Dent Res*, 89(6), 475-484.
- Morsczeck, C. O., Drees, J., & Gosau, M. (2012). Lipopolysaccharide from Escherichia coli but not from Porphyromonas gingivalis induce pro-inflammatory cytokines and alkaline phosphatase in dental follicle cells. *Arch Oral Biol*, 57(12), 1595-1601. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2012.07.016

- Murray, P. E., Garcia-Godoy, F., & Hargreaves, K. M. (2007). Regenerative endodontics: a review of current status and a call for action. *J Endod*, 33(4), 377-390. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2006.09.013
- Murry, C. E., & Keller, G. (2008). Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to clinically relevant populations: lessons from embryonic development. *Cell*, 132(4), 661-680. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.008
- Nagata, J. Y., Gomes, B. P., Rocha Lima, T. F., Murakami, L. S., de Faria, D. E., Campos, G. R., . . . Soares Ade, J. (2014). Traumatized immature teeth treated with 2 protocols of pulp revascularization. *J Endod*, 40(5), 606-612. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2014.01.032
- Nagy, M. M., Tawfik, H. E., Hashem, A. A., & Abu-Seida, A. M. (2014). Regenerative potential of immature permanent teeth with necrotic pulps after different regenerative protocols. *J Endod*, 40(2), 192-198. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.10.027
- Narayanan, L. L., & Vaishnavi, C. (2010). Endodontic microbiology. J Conserv Dent, 13(4), 233-239. doi: 10.4103/0972-0707.73386
- Nelson-Filho, P., Leonardo, M. R., Silva, L. A., & Assed, S. (2002). Radiographic evaluation of the effect of endotoxin (LPS) plus calcium hydroxide on apical and periapical tissues of dogs. *J Endod*, 28(10), 694-696.
- Niwa, H. (2007). How is pluripotency determined and maintained? *Development*, 134(4), 635-646. doi: 10.1242/dev.02787

- Nowwarote, N., Pavasant, P., & Osathanon, T. (2015). Role of endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor in stem cells isolated from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. *Arch Oral Biol, 60*(3), 408-415. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2014.11.017
- Ogawa, M. (1993). Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood*, *81*(11), 2844-2853.
- Ogawa, T., & Yagi, T. (2010). Bioactive mechanism of Porphyromonas gingivalis lipid A. *Periodontol 2000, 54*(1), 71-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0757.2009.00343.x
- Ono, W., Sakagami, N., Nishimori, S., Ono, N., & Kronenberg, H. M. (2016). Parathyroid hormone receptor signalling in osterix-expressing mesenchymal progenitors is essential for tooth root formation. *Nat Commun*, 7, 11277. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11277
- Osathanon, T., Sawangmake, C., Nowwarote, N., & Pavasant, P. (2014). Neurogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells using different induction protocols. *Oral Dis*, 20(4), 352-358. doi: 10.1111/odi.12119
- Ostby, B. N. (1961). The role of the blood clot in endodontic therapy. An experimental histologic study. *Acta Odontol Scand*, *19*, 324-353.
- Petkova, N., Hennenlotter, J., Sobiesiak, M., Todenhofer, T., Scharpf, M., Stenzl, A., .
  . . Schwentner, C. (2013). Surface CD24 distinguishes between low differentiated and transit-amplifying cells in the basal layer of human prostate. *Prostate*, *73*(14), 1576-1590. doi: 10.1002/pros.22708

- Pierantozzi, E., Gava, B., Manini, I., Roviello, F., Marotta, G., Chiavarelli, M., & Sorrentino, V. (2011). Pluripotency regulators in human mesenchymal stem cells: expression of NANOG but not of OCT-4 and SOX-2. *Stem Cells Dev*, 20(5), 915-923. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010.0353
- Pierres, M., Naquet, P., Barbet, J., Marchetto, S., Marics, I., Devaux, C., . . . Rougon,
  G. (1987). Evidence that murine hematopoietic cell subset marker J11d is attached to a glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol membrane anchor. *Eur J Immunol*, *17*(12), 1781-1785. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830171216
- Pittenger, M. F., Mackay, A. M., Beck, S. C., Jaiswal, R. K., Douglas, R., Mosca, J. D., ... Marshak, D. R. (1999). Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science*, 284(5411), 143-147.
- Prasad, M., Butler, W. T., & Qin, C. (2010). Dentin sialophosphoprotein in biomineralization. *Connect Tissue Res, 51*(5), 404-417. doi: 10.3109/03008200903329789
- Prateeptongkum, E., Klingelhoffer, C., & Morsczeck, C. (2015). The influence of the donor on dental apical papilla stem cell properties. *Tissue Cell*, 47(4), 382-388. doi: 10.1016/j.tice.2015.05.002
- Pruszak, J., Ludwig, W., Blak, A., Alavian, K., & Isacson, O. (2009). CD15, CD24, and CD29 define a surface biomarker code for neural lineage differentiation of stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 27(12), 2928-2940. doi: 10.1002/stem.211

- Qin, C., Baba, O., & Butler, W. T. (2004). Post-translational modifications of sibling proteins and their roles in osteogenesis and dentinogenesis. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med*, 15(3), 126-136.
- Qin, C., Brunn, J. C., Baba, O., Wygant, J. N., McIntyre, B. W., & Butler, W. T. (2003). Dentin sialoprotein isoforms: detection and characterization of a high molecular weight dentin sialoprotein. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 111(3), 235-242.
- Qin, C., Brunn, J. C., Cadena, E., Ridall, A., Tsujigiwa, H., Nagatsuka, H., . . . Butler,
  W. T. (2002). The expression of dentin sialophosphoprotein gene in bone. J Dent Res, 81(6), 392-394.
- Qiu, Q., Hernandez, J. C., Dean, A. M., Rao, P. H., & Darlington, G. J. (2011). CD24positive cells from normal adult mouse liver are hepatocyte progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev*, 20(12), 2177-2188. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010.0352
- Raicevic, G., Najar, M., Pieters, K., De Bruyn, C., Meuleman, N., Bron, D., . . .
  Lagneaux, L. (2012). Inflammation and Toll-like receptor ligation differentially affect the osteogenic potential of human mesenchymal stromal cells depending on their tissue origin. *Tissue Eng Part A, 18*(13-14), 1410-1418. doi: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2011.0434
- Rasini, V., Dominici, M., Kluba, T., Siegel, G., Lusenti, G., Northoff, H., . . . Schafer,
  R. (2013). Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells markers in the human bone marrow. *Cytotherapy*, 15(3), 292-306. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2012.11.009

- Rennert, R. C., Sorkin, M., Garg, R. K., & Gurtner, G. C. (2012). Stem cell recruitment after injury: lessons for regenerative medicine. *Regen Med*, 7(6), 833-850. doi: 10.2217/rme.12.82
- Ricucci, D., Pascon, E. A., Ford, T. R., & Langeland, K. (2006). Epithelium and bacteria in periapical lesions. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 101(2), 239-249. doi: 10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.03.038
- Ricucci, D., Russo, J., Rutberg, M., Burleson, J. A., & Spangberg, L. S. (2011). A prospective cohort study of endodontic treatments of 1,369 root canals: results after 5 years. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, *112*(6), 825-842. doi: 10.1016/j.tripleo.2011.08.003
- Ricucci, D., Siqueira, J. F., Jr., Loghin, S., & Lin, L. M. (2017). Pulp and apical tissue response to deep caries in immature teeth: A histologic and histobacteriologic study. *J Dent*, 56, 19-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2016.10.005
- Rietschel, E. T., & Cavaillon, J. M. (2003). Richard Pfeiffer and Alexandre Besredka: creators of the concept of endotoxin and anti-endotoxin. *Microbes Infect*, 5(15), 1407-1414.
- Rittling, S. R., Matsumoto, H. N., McKee, M. D., Nanci, A., An, X. R., Novick, K. E., ... Denhardt, D. T. (1998). Mice lacking osteopontin show normal development and bone structure but display altered osteoclast formation in vitro. *J Bone Miner Res*, 13(7), 1101-1111. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.1998.13.7.1101

- Rodda, D. J., Chew, J. L., Lim, L. H., Loh, Y. H., Wang, B., Ng, H. H., & Robson, P. (2005). Transcriptional regulation of nanog by OCT4 and SOX2. *J Biol Chem*, 280(26), 24731-24737. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502573200
- Rodeheffer, M. S., Birsoy, K., & Friedman, J. M. (2008). Identification of white adipocyte progenitor cells in vivo. *Cell*, 135(2), 240-249. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.036
- Romagnani, P., & Remuzzi, G. (2014). CD133+ renal stem cells always co-express CD24 in adult human kidney tissue. *Stem Cell Res, 12*(3), 828-829. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2013.12.011
- Ruch, J. V., Lesot, H., & Begue-Kirn, C. (1995). Odontoblast differentiation. *Int J Dev Biol*, *39*(1), 51-68.
- Runz, S., Mierke, C. T., Joumaa, S., Behrens, J., Fabry, B., & Altevogt, P. (2008). CD24 induces localization of beta1 integrin to lipid raft domains. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 365(1), 35-41. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.10.139
- Sakano, M., Otsu, K., Fujiwara, N., Fukumoto, S., Yamada, A., & Harada, H. (2013). Cell dynamics in cervical loop epithelium during transition from crown to root: implications for Hertwig's epithelial root sheath formation. *J Periodontal Res*, 48(2), 262-267. doi: 10.1111/jre.12003
- Schabath, H., Runz, S., Joumaa, S., & Altevogt, P. (2006). CD24 affects CXCR4 function in pre-B lymphocytes and breast carcinoma cells. *J Cell Sci*, 119(Pt 2), 314-325. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02741

- Schneider, R., Holland, G. R., Chiego, D., Jr., Hu, J. C., Nor, J. E., & Botero, T. M. (2014). White mineral trioxide aggregate induces migration and proliferation of stem cells from the apical papilla. *J Endod*, 40(7), 931-936. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.11.021
- Schonfeld, S. E., Greening, A. B., Glick, D. H., Frank, A. L., Simon, J. H., & Herles,
  S. M. (1982). Endotoxic activity in periapical lesions. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, 53(1), 82-87.
- Seo, B. M., Miura, M., Gronthos, S., Bartold, P. M., Batouli, S., Brahim, J., ... Shi, S. (2004). Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. *Lancet*, 364(9429), 149-155. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(04)16627-0
- Shapiro, F. (2008). Bone development and its relation to fracture repair. The role of mesenchymal osteoblasts and surface osteoblasts. *Eur Cell Mater*, *15*, 53-76.
- Sharifi, A. M., Hoda, F. E., & Noor, A. M. (2010). Studying the effect of LPS on cytotoxicity and apoptosis in PC12 neuronal cells: role of Bax, Bcl-2, and Caspase-3 protein expression. *Toxicol Mech Methods*, 20(6), 316-320. doi: 10.3109/15376516.2010.486420
- Shimizu, E., Ricucci, D., Albert, J., Alobaid, A. S., Gibbs, J. L., Huang, G. T., & Lin, L. M. (2013). Clinical, radiographic, and histological observation of a human immature permanent tooth with chronic apical abscess after revitalization treatment. *J Endod*, 39(8), 1078-1083. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.04.032

- Shirasawa, T., Akashi, T., Sakamoto, K., Takahashi, H., Maruyama, N., & Hirokawa, K. (1993). Gene expression of CD24 core peptide molecule in developing brain and developing non-neural tissues. *Dev Dyn, 198*(1), 1-13. doi: 10.1002/aja.1001980102
- Simmons, P. J., & Torok-Storb, B. (1991a). CD34 expression by stromal precursors in normal human adult bone marrow. *Blood*, 78(11), 2848-2853.
- Simmons, P. J., & Torok-Storb, B. (1991b). Identification of stromal cell precursors in human bone marrow by a novel monoclonal antibody, STRO-1. *Blood*, 78(1), 55-62.
- Simon, S., Rilliard, F., Berdal, A., & Machtou, P. (2007). The use of mineral trioxide aggregate in one-visit apexification treatment: a prospective study. *Int Endod J*, 40(3), 186-197. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2591.2007.01214.x
- Sinha, K. M., & Zhou, X. (2013). Genetic and molecular control of osterix in skeletal formation. J Cell Biochem, 114(5), 975-984. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24439
- Siqueira, J. F., Jr., & Rocas, I. N. (2007). Bacterial pathogenesis and mediators in apical periodontitis. *Braz Dent J*, *18*(4), 267-280.
- Siqueira, J. F., Jr., & Rocas, I. N. (2009). Diversity of endodontic microbiota revisited. *J Dent Res*, 88(11), 969-981. doi: 10.1177/0022034509346549
- Siqueira, J. F., Jr., Rocas, I. N., & Silva, M. G. (2008). Prevalence and clonal analysis of Porphyromonas gingivalis in primary endodontic infections. *J Endod*, 34(11), 1332-1336. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2008.08.021

- Siqueira, J. F., Rocas, I. N., De Uzeda, M., Colombo, A. P., & Santos, K. R. (2002). Comparison of 16S rDNA-based PCR and checkerboard DNA-DNA hybridisation for detection of selected endodontic pathogens. *J Med Microbiol*, *51*(12), 1090-1096. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-51-12-1090
- Smith, A. J., Duncan, H. F., Diogenes, A., Simon, S., & Cooper, P. R. (2016).
  Exploiting the Bioactive Properties of the Dentin-Pulp Complex in Regenerative Endodontics. *J Endod*, 42(1), 47-56. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2015.10.019
- Smith, N. C., Fairbridge, N. A., Pallegar, N. K., & Christian, S. L. (2015). Dynamic upregulation of CD24 in pre-adipocytes promotes adipogenesis. *Adipocyte*, 4(2), 89-100. doi: 10.4161/21623945.2014.985015
- Sohn, W. J., Choi, M. A., Yamamoto, H., Lee, S., Lee, Y., Jung, J. K., ... Kim, J. Y. (2014). Contribution of mesenchymal proliferation in tooth root morphogenesis. *J Dent Res*, 93(1), 78-83. doi: 10.1177/0022034513511247
- Son, M. Y., Choi, H., Han, Y. M., & Cho, Y. S. (2013). Unveiling the critical role of REX1 in the regulation of human stem cell pluripotency. *Stem Cells*, *31*(11), 2374-2387. doi: 10.1002/stem.1509
- Sonoyama, W., Liu, Y., Fang, D., Yamaza, T., Seo, B. M., Zhang, C., . . . Shi, S. (2006).
  Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in swine. *PLoS* One, 1, e79. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000079

- Sonoyama, W., Liu, Y., Yamaza, T., Tuan, R. S., Wang, S., Shi, S., & Huang, G. T. (2008). Characterization of the apical papilla and its residing stem cells from human immature permanent teeth: a pilot study. *J Endod*, *34*(2), 166-171. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2007.11.021
- Sousa, E. L., Martinho, F. C., Nascimento, G. G., Leite, F. R., & Gomes, B. P. (2014). Quantification of endotoxins in infected root canals and acute apical abscess exudates: monitoring the effectiveness of root canal procedures in the reduction of endotoxins. *J Endod*, 40(2), 177-181. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.10.008
- Springer, T., Galfre, G., Secher, D. S., & Milstein, C. (1978). Monoclonal xenogeneic antibodies to murine cell surface antigens: identification of novel leukocyte differentiation antigens. *Eur J Immunol*, 8(8), 539-551. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830080802
- Steele-Perkins, G., Butz, K. G., Lyons, G. E., Zeichner-David, M., Kim, H. J., Cho, M. I., & Gronostajski, R. M. (2003). Essential role for NFI-C/CTF transcription-replication factor in tooth root development. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23(3), 1075-1084.
- Steiner, J. C., & Van Hassel, H. J. (1971). Experimental root apexification in primates. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, *31*(3), 409-415.
- Sukarawan, W., Nowwarote, N., Kerdpon, P., Pavasant, P., & Osathanon, T. (2014). Effect of basic fibroblast growth factor on pluripotent marker expression and colony forming unit capacity of stem cells isolated from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. *Odontology*, *102*(2), 160-166. doi: 10.1007/s10266-013-0124-3
- Sundqvist, G. (1994). Taxonomy, ecology, and pathogenicity of the root canal flora. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, 78(4), 522-530.
- Suzuki, S., Sreenath, T., Haruyama, N., Honeycutt, C., Terse, A., Cho, A., ... Kulkarni,
  A. B. (2009). Dentin sialoprotein and dentin phosphoprotein have distinct roles
  in dentin mineralization. *Matrix Biol*, 28(4), 221-229. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2009.03.006
- Tang, J., Wu, T., Xiong, J., Su, Y., Zhang, C., Wang, S., . . . Liu, Y. (2015).
  Porphyromonas gingivalis lipopolysaccharides regulate functions of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Prolif*, 48(2), 239-248. doi: 10.1111/cpr.12173
- Tang, Y., Zhou, X., Gao, B., Xu, X., Sun, J., Cheng, L., & Zheng, L. (2014). Modulation of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling attenuates periapical bone lesions. *J Dent Res*, 93(2), 175-182. doi: 10.1177/0022034513512507
- Thesleff, I. (2003). Epithelial-mesenchymal signalling regulating tooth morphogenesis. *J Cell Sci*, *116*(Pt 9), 1647-1648.
- Thibodeau, B., Teixeira, F., Yamauchi, M., Caplan, D. J., & Trope, M. (2007). Pulp revascularization of immature dog teeth with apical periodontitis. *J Endod*, 33(6), 680-689. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2007.03.001

Thomas, H. F. (1995). Root formation. Int J Dev Biol, 39(1), 231-237.

- Tobias Duarte, P. C., Gomes-Filho, J. E., Ervolino, E., Marcal Mazza Sundefeld, M.
  L., Tadahirowayama, M., Lodi, C. S., . . . Angelo Cintra, L. T. (2014).
  Histopathological condition of the remaining tissues after endodontic infection of rat immature teeth. *J Endod*, 40(4), 538-542. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.09.015
- Torneck, C. D., & Smith, J. (1970). Biologic effects of endodontic procedures on developing incisor teeth. I. Effect of partial and total pulp removal. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, 30(2), 258-266.
- Torneck, C. D., Smith, J. S., & Grindall, P. (1973a). Biologic effects of endodontic procedures on developing incisor teeth. 3. Effect of debridement and disinfection procedures in the treatment of experimentally induced pulp and periapical disease. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, 35(4), 532-540.
- Torneck, C. D., Smith, J. S., & Grindall, P. (1973b). Biologic effects of endodontic procedures on developing incisor teeth. II. Effect of pulp injury and oral contamination. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, 35(3), 378-388.
- Torneck, C. D., Smith, J. S., & Grindall, P. (1973c). Biologic effects of endodontic procedures on developing incisor teeth. IV. Effect of debridement procedures and calcium hydroxide-camphorated parachlorophenol paste in the treatment of experimentally induced pulp and periapical disease. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, 35(4), 541-554.
- Torres, J., & Watt, F. M. (2008). Nanog maintains pluripotency of mouse embryonic stem cells by inhibiting NFkappaB and cooperating with Stat3. *Nat Cell Biol*, 10(2), 194-201. doi: 10.1038/ncb1680

- Trevino, E. G., Patwardhan, A. N., Henry, M. A., Perry, G., Dybdal-Hargreaves, N., Hargreaves, K. M., & Diogenes, A. (2011). Effect of irrigants on the survival of human stem cells of the apical papilla in a platelet-rich plasma scaffold in human root tips. *J Endod*, 37(8), 1109-1115. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2011.05.013
- Tsai, C. C., & Hung, S. C. (2012). Functional roles of pluripotency transcription factors in mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Cycle*, 11(20), 3711-3712. doi: 10.4161/cc.22048
- Tsai, C. C., Su, P. F., Huang, Y. F., Yew, T. L., & Hung, S. C. (2012). Oct4 and Nanog directly regulate Dnmt1 to maintain self-renewal and undifferentiated state in mesenchymal stem cells. *Mol Cell*, 47(2), 169-182. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.06.020
- Tummers, M., & Thesleff, I. (2009). The importance of signal pathway modulation in all aspects of tooth development. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol, 312B(4), 309-319. doi: 10.1002/jez.b.21280
- Vanacker, J., Viswanath, A., De Berdt, P., Everard, A., Cani, P. D., Bouzin, C., . . . des Rieux, A. (2014). Hypoxia modulates the differentiation potential of stem cells of the apical papilla. *J Endod*, 40(9), 1410-1418. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2014.04.008
- Wagner, W., Horn, P., Castoldi, M., Diehlmann, A., Bork, S., Saffrich, R., . . . Ho, A.
  D. (2008). Replicative senescence of mesenchymal stem cells: a continuous and organized process. *PLoS One*, *3*(5), e2213. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002213

- Walia, T., Chawla, H. S., & Gauba, K. (2000). Management of wide open apices in non-vital permanent teeth with Ca(OH)2 paste. *J Clin Pediatr Dent*, 25(1), 51-56.
- Wang, J., Dai, J., Liu, B., Gu, S., Cheng, L., & Liang, J. (2013). Porphyromonas gingivalis lipopolysaccharide activates canonical Wnt/beta-catenin and p38 MAPK signalling in stem cells from the apical papilla. *Inflammation*, 36(6), 1393-1402. doi: 10.1007/s10753-013-9679-y
- Wang, X., Thibodeau, B., Trope, M., Lin, L. M., & Huang, G. T. (2010). Histologic characterization of regenerated tissues in canal space after the revitalization/revascularization procedure of immature dog teeth with apical periodontitis. *J Endod*, 36(1), 56-63. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2009.09.039
- Wang, Y., Cox, M. K., Coricor, G., MacDougall, M., & Serra, R. (2013). Inactivation of Tgfbr2 in Osterix-Cre expressing dental mesenchyme disrupts molar root formation. *Dev Biol*, 382(1), 27-37. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2013.08.003
- Waterman, R. S., Tomchuck, S. L., Henkle, S. L., & Betancourt, A. M. (2010). A new mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) paradigm: polarization into a pro-inflammatory MSC1 or an Immunosuppressive MSC2 phenotype. *PLoS One*, *5*(4), e10088. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010088
- Wenger, R. H., Kopf, M., Nitschke, L., Lamers, M. C., Kohler, G., & Nielsen, P. J. (1995). B-cell maturation in chimaeric mice deficient for the heat stable antigen (HSA/mouse CD24). *Transgenic Res*, 4(3), 173-183.

- Wright, T. (2007). The molecular control of and clinical variations in root formation. *Cells Tissues Organs, 186*(1), 86-93. doi: 10.1159/000102684
- Wu, J., Huang, G. T., He, W., Wang, P., Tong, Z., Jia, Q., . . . Ni, L. (2012). Basic fibroblast growth factor enhances stemness of human stem cells from the apical papilla. *J Endod*, 38(5), 614-622. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2012.01.014
- Xie, X., Ma, S., Li, C., Liu, P., Wang, H., Chen, L., & Qin, C. (2014). Expression of Small Integrin-Binding LIgand N-linked Glycoproteins (SIBLINGs) in the reparative dentin of rat molars. *Dent Traumatol*, 30(4), 285-295. doi: 10.1111/edt.12093
- Yamagishi, V. T., Torneck, C. D., Friedman, S., Huang, G. T., & Glogauer, M. (2011).
  Blockade of TLR2 inhibits Porphyromonas gingivalis suppression of mineralized matrix formation by human dental pulp stem cells. *J Endod*, *37*(6), 812-818. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2011.03.013
- Yamasaki, M., Nakane, A., Kumazawa, M., Hashioka, K., Horiba, N., & Nakamura, H.
  (1992). Endotoxin and gram-negative bacteria in the rat periapical lesions. J
  Endod, 18(10), 501-504. doi: 10.1016/s0099-2399(06)81351-8
- Yamauchi, N., Nagaoka, H., Yamauchi, S., Teixeira, F. B., Miguez, P., & Yamauchi, M. (2011). Immunohistological characterization of newly formed tissues after regenerative procedure in immature dog teeth. *J Endod*, 37(12), 1636-1641. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2011.08.025

- Yang, C. H., Wang, H. L., Lin, Y. S., Kumar, K. P., Lin, H. C., Chang, C. J., . . . Lai,
  H. C. (2014). Identification of CD24 as a cancer stem cell marker in human nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *PLoS One*, 9(6), e99412. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099412
- Yang, H., Ma, L., Han, X., Yang, L., Tian, C., & Wang, Y. (2012). The effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha on mineralization of human dental apical papilla cells. J Endod, 38(7), 960-964. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2012.04.005
- Yang, J., Yuan, G., & Chen, Z. (2016). Pulp Regeneration: Current Approaches and Future Challenges. *Front Physiol*, 7, 58. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00058
- Yeung, T. M., Gandhi, S. C., Wilding, J. L., Muschel, R., & Bodmer, W. F. (2010).
  Cancer stem cells from colorectal cancer-derived cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 107(8), 3722-3727. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0915135107
- Yoo, Y. J., Oh, J. H., Lee, W., & Woo, K. M. (2016). Regenerative Characteristics of Apical Papilla-derived Cells from Immature Teeth with Pulpal and Periapical Pathosis. *J Endod.* doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2016.08.004
- Yuan, G., Yang, G., Song, G., Chen, Z., & Chen, S. (2012). Immunohistochemical localization of the NH(2)-terminal and COOH-terminal fragments of dentin sialoprotein in mouse teeth. *Cell Tissue Res*, 349(2), 605-614. doi: 10.1007/s00441-012-1418-4

- Yuan, S. H., Martin, J., Elia, J., Flippin, J., Paramban, R. I., Hefferan, M. P., ... Carson,
  C. T. (2011). Cell-surface marker signatures for the isolation of neural stem cells, glia and neurons derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *PLoS One*, 6(3), e17540. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017540
- Zhang, H., Jiang, Y., Qin, C., Liu, Y., Ho, S. P., & Feng, J. Q. (2015). Essential role of osterix for tooth root but not crown dentin formation. *J Bone Miner Res*, 30(4), 742-746. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2391
- Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Lv, H., Yu, Q., Zhou, Z., Zhu, Q., . . . He, W. (2013). Human stem cells from the apical papilla response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide exposure and anti-inflammatory effects of nuclear factor I C. *J Endod*, 39(11), 1416-1422. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2013.07.018
- Zhang, W., Zhang, X., Ling, J., Liu, W., Zhang, X., Ma, J., & Zheng, J. (2014).
  Proliferation and odontogenic differentiation of BMP2 genetransfected stem cells from human tooth apical papilla: an in vitro study. *Int J Mol Med*, *34*(4), 1004-1012. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2014.1862
- Zizka, R., & Sedy, J. (2017). Paradigm Shift from Stem Cells to Cell-Free Regenerative Endodontic Procedures: A Critical Review. *Stem Cells Dev*, 26(3), 147-153. doi: 10.1089/scd.2016.0264





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

## **RAW DATA OF THE STUDY**

_			
	line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
	1	1.86	1.56
	2	1.05	0.61
_	3	0.08	0.53
	Mean	1	0.91
	SD	0.89	0.57

**Table 1** Survivin gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

line	CD24	STRO-1	CD44	CD90	CD45	CD105
1	21.4	6.61	96.51	98.4	2.6	68.44
2	39.83	8.35	99.4	99.72	0.1	64.54
3	47.95	10.08	98	97.7	0.5	61
Mean	36.39	8.35	97.97	98.61	1.07	64.66
SD	13.60	1.74	1.45	1.03	1.34	3.72

 Table 2 Mesenchymal surface stem cell marker of High-CD24 SCAPs.

Table 3 Mesenchymal surface stem cell marker of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

line	CD24	STRO-1	CD44	CD90	CD45	CD105
1	3.68	1.02	99.26	99.09	0.1	68.57
2	3.93	0.3	88.91	99.64	0.16	62.81
3	3.06	0.55	96.62	99.79	0.5	62.31
Mean	3.55	0.62	94.93	99.51	0.25	64.56
SD	0.44	0.36	5.37	0.36	0.21	3.47

Table 4 Comparison of percentage of CD24 and STRO-1 between passage 2 and passage 4.

	CE	024	STRO	)-1
line	P2	P4	P2	P4
1	21.4	32.11	6.61	0
2	39.83	26.65	8.35	0
3	47.94	22.6	10.8	0
Mean	36.39	27.12	8.59	0
SD	13.6002978	4.77238934	2.10500198	0

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	18	46
2	23	30
3	16	33
Mean	19	36.33
SD	3.60	8.50

Table 5 Colony forming units of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

Table 6 Rex1 gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	0.054	14.36
2	0.17	14.70
3	2.77	14.48
Mean	1	14.51
SD	1.53	0.17

 Table 7 Nanog gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	0.41	22.3
2	2.23	10.5
3	0.35	25.39
Mean	าลงกใก้เมห	19.41
SD	1.06	7.86
	ALUNGKUKN	UNIVERSITY

Table 8 Sox2 gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	0.53	16.44
2	1.37	12.5
3	1.08	15.84
Mean	1	14.92
SD	0.42	2.12

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	8.6411E-05	6.44
2	0.000204	0.27
3	2.99	2.04
Mean	1	2.92
SD	1.73	3.17

 Table 9 Oct4 gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	24 H	lour	72 H	Hour	120	Hour	168	Hour
line	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low
1	4590	5210	7928	11843	34206	31758	61110	48814
2	4750	5101	9228	15854	37777	38508	53410	55129
3	4320	5299	6678	7943	31800	25110	68887	42584
Mean	4553	5203	7945	11880	34594	31792	61136	48842
SD	217.33	99.17	1275.08	3955.63	3007.36	6699.06	7738.53	6272.55

 Table 10 Cell proliferation of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	4.71	1.48
2	4.75	1.43
3	7.30	1.18
Mean	5.59	1.36
SD	1.48	0.16

**Table 11** Fold change of OD of Alizarin Red staining to control of High and Low-CD24SCAPs.

 Table 12 Runx2 gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	1.22	3.70
2	1.50	2.52
3	0.29	3.80
Mean	1	3.34
SD	0.63	0.71

Table 13 Osterix gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

High-CD24	Low-CD24
0.96	0.14
0.96	0.13
1.07	0.15
ONCKO <sup>L</sup> N HNI	0.14
0.06	0.01
	High-CD24 0.96 0.96 1.07 1 0.06

Table 14 DSPP gene expression of High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	1.21	0.29
2	0.58	0.47
3	1.21	0.43
Mean	1	0.40
SD	0.36	0.09

Line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	8.52	1.29
2	8.81	1.20
3	5.80	1.02
Mean	7.71	1.17
SD	1.66	0.14

**Table 15** Fold change of OD of Oil Red O staining to control of High and Low-CD24SCAPs.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	4.1	1.3
2	5.2	1
3	2.6	1.6
Mean	3.86	1.32
SD	1.31	0.31



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

line			LPS (µg/ml)			
	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	103	118	98	100	107
2	100	103	119	100	110	108
3	100	110	109	103	100	115
Mean	100	105.33	115.33	100.33	103.33	110.00
SD	0	4.04	5.51	2.52	5.77	4.36

Table 17 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 24 hour of High-CD24 SCAPs

Table 18 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 72 hour of High-CD24 SCAPs

line		8	and dia a	LPS (µg/ml)		
	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	96	96	100	97	98
2	100	68	73	88	88	120
3	100	104	110	107	107	104
Mean	100	89.33	93.00	98.33	97.33	107.33
SD	0	18.90	18.68	9.61	9.50	11.37

Table 19 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 120 hour of High-CD24 SCAPs

line		Contraction of the second seco	LPS (µg/ml)			
	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	102	102	110	96	99
2	100	100	KOP 99	ersit 94	103	95
3	100	97	99	96	99	92
Mean	100	99.67	100.00	100.00	99.33	95.33
SD	0	2.52	1.73	8.72	3.51	3.51

Table 20 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 168 hour of High-CD24 SCAPs

line			LPS (µg/ml)			
	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	103	98	98	97	92
2	100	94	90	89	88	97
3	100	102	99	99	97	101
Mean	100	99.67	95.67	95.33	94.00	96.67
SD	0	4.93	4.93	5.51	5.20	4.51

line			LPS (µg/ml)				
	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	100	80	101	81	94	105	
2	100	115	112	113	114	117	
3	100	102	103	112	99	99	
Mean	100	99.00	105.33	102.00	102.33	107.00	
SD	0	17.69	5.86	18.19	10.41	9.17	

Table 21 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 24 hour of Low-CD24 SCAPs

Table 22 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 72 hour of Low-CD24 SCAPs

Line		LPS (µg/ml)				
	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	86	91	86	100	130
2	100	102	110	105	100	110
3	100	108	102	108	108	117
Mean	100	98.67	101.00	99.67	102.67	119.00
SD	0	11.37	9.54	11.93	4.62	10.15
		100	V Discord Damas			

Table 23 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 120 hour of Low-CD24 SCAPs

line		LPS (µg/ml)					
	control	0.001	0.01	<b>0.1</b>	1	5	
1	100	99	104	107	106	111	
2	100	102	96	100	124	130	
3	100	112	117	109	125	129	
Mean	100	104.53	105.48	105.33	118.38	123.52	
SD	0	6.82	10.82	4.54	10.65	10.71	

Table 24 Cell viability during LPS exposure at 168 hour of Low-CD24 SCAPs

line	_		LPS (µg/ml)			
	Control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	92	94	86	84	70
2	100	103	99	99	101	102
3	100	106	104	108	104	89
Mean	100	100.33	99.00	97.67	96.33	87.00
SD	0	7.37	5.00	11.06	10.79	16.09

				LPS (µg/ml)		
Line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	20.33	23.36	25.4	24.37	20.55	20.42
2	14.87	18.67	14.26	15.86	15.8	16.84
3	15	12.16	16.68	11.8	12.56	11.25
Mean	16.73	18.06	18.78	17.34	16.30	16.17
SD	3.11	5.62	5.85	6.41	4.01	4.62

Table 25 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

 Table 26 Percentage of CD24 expressing cells after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

			19.1	LPS (µg/ml)	)	
Line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	2.39	2.72	2.75	2.32	2.22	2.32
2	0.93	1.1	1.3	0.83	0.94	1.4
3	1.5	1.6	1.43	0.98	1.86	1.2
Mean	1.61	1.81	1.83	1.38	1.67	1.64
SD	0.73	0.82	0.80	0.82	0.66	0.60



Chulalongkorn University

		LPS (µg/ml)					
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	100	96	100	103	101	98	
2	100	97	110	110	96	105	
3	100	111	111	109	111	100	
Mean	100	101.44	105.45	104.95	102.63	97.25	
SD	0	8.33	4.40	3.52	7.83	2.41	

Table 27 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure in High-CD24 SCAPs at 24 Hour.

Table 28 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure in High-CD24 SCAPs at 72 Hour.

				LPS (µg/ml)		
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	99	104	99	106	78
2	100	101	101	96	107	83
3	100	136	118	118	111	101
Mean	100	111.86	107.45	104.28	108.16	86.81
SD	0	21.00	9.13	11.82	2.70	5.21

 Table 29 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure in High-CD24 SCAPs at 120 Hour.

		LPS (µg/ml)					
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	100	91	103	ล ย 97	91	79	
2	100	110	KORN 113	ST 119	121	100	
3	100	112	109	102	83	91	
Mean	100	104.50	108.43	106.05	98.37	89.73	
SD	0	11.59	5.15	11.46	19.98	10.75	

Table 30 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure in High-CD24 SCAPs at 168 Hour.

		LPS (µg/ml)						
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5		
1	100	101	96	94	101	93		
2	100	102	106	103	104	82		
3	100	96	92	96	96	80		
Mean	100	99.69	98.07	97.64	100.20	85.00		
SD	0	3.54	7.13	5.04	4.33	6.78		

		LPS (µg/ml)				
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	90	95	99	85	98
2	100	107	103	103	102	103
3	100	104	108	114	110	104
Mean	100	100.46	102.00	105.31	99.20	101.61
SD	0	9.17	6.40	7.79	12.50	3.35

Table 31 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs at 24 hour.

Table 32 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs at 48 hour.

			S 11/20 -	LPS (µg/ml)		
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	90	104	109	89	93
2	100	107	110	101	112	98
3	100	93	94	96	96	101
Mean	100	96.77	102.77	101.82	98.72	97.58
SD	0	8.78	8.18	6.54	11.73	3.92

Table 33 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs at 120 hour.

Line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	100	100	88	84	108	94
2	100	99	87	84	94	92
3	100	101	102	95	103	100
Mean	100	99.97	92.45	87.59	101.39	89.54
SD	0	0.67	8.05	6.27	7.18	3.93

Table 34 Cell proliferation after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs at 168 hour.

		LPS (µg/ml)					
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	100	110	114	114	119	119	
2	100	104	122	102	94	116	
3	100	99	99	105	108	114	
Mean	100	104.48	111.93	107.04	106.94	116.02	
SD	0	5.25	11.70	5.84	12.40	2.57	

				LPS (µg/ml)	)	
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	101	80	97	92	99	108
2	115	90	104	90	105	115
3	102	114	90	105	83	94
Mean	106	94.66	97.23	95.66	95.66	105.66
SD	7.81	17.47	7.12	8.14	11.37	10.69

 Table 35 Migrated cell numbers after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

Table 36 Migrated cell numbers after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)					
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	58	50	53	46	46	58	
2	49	53	65	66	59	73	
3	45	41	33	30	33	45	
Mean	50.66667	48	50.33333	47.33333	46	58.66667	
SD	6.658328	6.244998	16.16581	18.037	13	14.0119	

line	High-CD24	Low-CD24
1	0.81	0.20
2	1.07	0.25
3	1.11	0.25
Mean	1	0.23
SD	0.16	0.02

 Table 37 CXCR4 gene expression between High and Low-CD24 SCAPs.

 Table 38 CXCR4 gene expression after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

line         control         0.001         0.01           1         1         1.53         1.40	0.1	1	5
1 1 1.53 1.40	1 39		
	1.57	1.28	1.35
2 1 0.98 1	1	0.98	0.91
3 1 1 0.93	1	1.06	1.18
Mean 1 1.17 1.11	1.13	1.11	1.15
SD 0 0.31 0.25	0.22	0.15	0.22

Table 39 CXCR4 gene expression after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

		18 A 19 B				
		8 - un	NA ARCA - /	LPS (µg/ml)	)	
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	1	1.66	1.35	1.05	1.5	1.33
2	1	0.90	0.69	1.08	0.63	1.06
3	1 CH	1.23	1.25	1.04	1	1.45
Mean	1	1.26	1.09	1.05	1.04	1.28
SD	0	0.38	0.35	0.02	0.43	0.19

 Table 40 OD of Alizarin Red staining after LPS exposure in High-CD24 SCAPs.

				LPS (µg/m	1)	
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	0.4	0.335	0.409	0.454	0.5	0.581
2	0.42	0.461	0.473	0.368	0.56	0.558
3	0.43	0.406	0.435	0.443	0.52	0.55
Mean	0.41	0.41	0.44	0.42	0.526	0.563
SD	0.015	0.06	0.03	0.046	0.03	0.016

line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	0.23	0.243	0.252	0.217	0.239	0.234
2	0.214	0.225	0.202	0.219	0.222	0.226
3	0.225	0.233	0.234	0.225	0.228	0.23
Mean	0.223	0.233	0.22	0.22	0.229	0.23
SD	0.008	0.007	0.021	0.003	0.007	0.003

 Table 41 OD of Alizarin Red staining after LPS exposure in Low-CD24 SCAPs.

 Table 42 DSPP gene expression after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)				
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	1	2.47	2.29	5.63	6.90	8.09
2	1	0.84	0.73	0.56	0.70	2.37
3	1	2.98	1.31	1.75	1.18	1.5
Mean	1	2.10	1.45	2.65	2.93	3.99
SD	0	1.11	0.78	2.65	3.45	3.58

Table 43 BSP gene expression after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)				
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	1 🧃	หาลโกรถ	1.75	1.40	1.91	1.99
2	1	1.06	1.15	1.36	1.52	1.46
3	1	1.45	1.55	1.70	1.93	1.94
Mean	1	1.18	1.49	1.49	1.80	1.80
SD	0	0.24	0.30	0.18	0.23	0.29

Table 44 OCN gene expression after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)							
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5			
1	1	0.67	0.89	1.12	0.89	1.06			
2	1	1.36	1.26	0.65	1.03	1.16			
3	1	1.11	1.06	0.82	1.18	1.51			
Mean	1	1.05	1.07	0.87	1.04	1.25			
SD	0	0.35	0.18	0.23	0.14	0.23			

				LPS (µg/ml	)	
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	1	0.72	1.63	1.77	1.02	2.13
2	1	0.96	1.57	1.88	1.50	1.35
3	1	1.02	1.26	0.93	0.97	1.66
Mean	1	0.91	1.49	1.53	1.17	1.72
SD	0	0.15	0.19	0.52	0.29	0.39

 Table 45 OPN gene expression after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

 Table 46 CAP gene expression after LPS exposure of High-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)					
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	1	1.13	1.19	1.29	0.91	0.95	
2	1	1	0.7	0.9	1.1	1.2	
3	1	0.9	0.7	0.8	0.7	1.3	
Mean	1	1.01	0.86	1.00	0.91	1.15	
SD	0	0.11	0.28	0.26	0.20	0.17	



				LPS (µg/ml	)	
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	1	1.18	1.4	1.5	2.5	3.77
2	1	1.06	0.87	1.2	1	5
3	1	0.82	1.3	1.5	1	0.48
Mean	1	1.02	1.19	1.4	1.5	3.08
SD	0.34	0.18	0.28	0.17	0.86	2.33

Table 47 DSPP gene expression after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

Table 48 BSP gene expression after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

				LPS (µg/ml	)	
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5
1	1	1.7	1.6	2.2	1.9	3.8
2	1	2.2	1.9	3.4	3.3	4.4
3	1	-2.14	1.88	1.92	2.36	7.04
Mean	1	2.01	1.79	2.50	2.52	5.08
SD	0	0.27	0.16	0.78	0.71	1.72

Table 49 OCN gene expression after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)						
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5		
1	1	0.67	0.89	1.12	0.89	1.06		
2	1	1.36	1.26	0.65	1.03	1.16		
3	1 CHI	1.11	1.06	0.82	1.18	1.51		
Mean	1	1.05	1.07	0.87	1.04	1.25		
SD	0	0.35	0.18	0.23	0.14	0.23		

Table 50 OPN gene expression after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.

		LPS (µg/ml)					
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5	
1	1	1.17	0.65	1.05	0.73	0.57	
2	1	0.71	1.11	1.04	0.87	1.43	
3	1	0.67	0.64	0.72	1.08	1.00	
Mean	1	0.85	0.80	0.94	0.89	1.00	
SD	0	0.27	0.26	0.19	0.17	0.42	

		LPS (µg/ml)						
line	control	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	5		
1	1	0.75	0.87	1.12	0.75	0.85		
2	1	0.85	1.08	0.86	0.79	0.68		
3	1	0.70	0.66	0.93	0.79	0.70		
Mean	1	0.76	0.87	0.97	0.78	0.75		
SD	0	0.07	0.20	0.13	0.02	0.09		

 Table 51 CAP gene expression after LPS exposure of Low-CD24 SCAPs.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

## VITA

Mr. Panuroot Aguilar was born on 11th March 1982 in Bangkok, Thaland. He graduated with DDS (Doctor of Dental Sugery) from Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in 2006 and became and a staff member of Faculty of Dentistry at Thammasat University, Pathumthani. He also graduated with MSc (Master of Science) in Endodontology from Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in 2012. He also started Doctor of Philosophy degree in Oral biology program since 2012 at Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University.

